Court File No.:

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEEN:

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

Applicant

- and -

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS

Respondent

IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 243(1) OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED, SECTION 67(1)(e) OF THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT, R.S.O. 1990 c. P-10, AS AMENDED AND SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

APPLICATION RECORD

September 12, 2019

BENNETT JONES LLP

One First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4

Gavin Finlayson (LSO #44126D) Tel.: (416) 777-5762 Fax: (416) 863-1716

Mike Shakra (LSO #64604K) Tel.: (416) 777-6236

Fax: (416) 863-1716

Lawyers for the Applicant

TO: SISKINDS LLP

680 Waterloo Street P.O. Box 2520, London, ON N6A 3V8

Wade Sarasin

 Tel:
 519.660.7888

 Fax:
 519.660.7889

 Email:
 sarasin.team@siskinds.com

James Judson

Tel: 519.660.7807 Email: james.judson@siskinds.com

Counsel to 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis

AND TO: GROPPER LAW PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

2345 Yonge Street, Suite 302 Toronto, ON M4P 2E5

Yaakov EizicovicsTel:416.962.3002Email:yaakov@gropperlaw.com

Counsel to 689643 Ontario Inc. and Marcos Soberano

AND TO: DAVID SHPILT

3513 Homewood Lane London, ON N6P 1K3 Email: <u>david@curativecannabis.ca</u>

AND TO: SCOTT FITZGERALD

829 Cresthaven Crescent London, ON N6K 4W4 Email: <u>scott@curativecannabis.ca</u>

AND TO: A. FARBER & PARTNERS INC. 150 York Street, Suite 1600 Toronto, ON M5H 3S5

Allan Nackan

Tel: 416.496.3732 Email: <u>anackan@farbergroup.com</u>

AND TO: Proposed Receiver AND TO: ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Department of Justice Canada Ontario Regional Office – Tax Law Section The Exchange Tower 130 King Street West, Suite 3400, Box 36 Toronto, ON M5X 1K6

Diane Winters

Tel: 416.973.3172 Fax: 416.973.0809 Email: <u>diane.winters@justice.gc.ca</u>

Lawyers for the Minister of National Revenue

Court File No.:

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEEN:

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

Applicant

- and -

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS

Respondent

IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 243(1) OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED, SECTION 67(1)(e) OF THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT, R.S.O. 1990 c. P-10, AS AMENDED AND SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

INDEX

ТАВ	DESCRIPTION
1.	Notice of Application
2.	Affidavit of Ronald Fichter sworn on September 12, 2019
А.	Exhibit "A" - Corporate Profile Report of 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis
B.	Exhibit "B" – Original Promissory Note dated October 1, 2018
C.	Exhibit "C" – Amended and Restated Promissory note dated April 23, 2019
D.	Exhibit "D" – General Security Agreement dated April 23, 2019
E.	Exhibit "E" – Demand Debenture dated April 23, 2019
F.	Exhibit "F" – Chatham Facility Mortgage

ТАВ	DESCRIPTION
G.	Exhibit "G" – Limited Recourse Guarantee dated April 23, 2019
H.	Exhibit "H" – Pledge Agreement dated April 23, 2019
I.	Exhibit "I" – PPSA Enquiry Response Certificate from the Ministry of Consumer and Business Services dated August 28, 2019
J.	Exhibit "J" – Demands and Enforcement Notices dated August 15, 2019
K.	Exhibit "K" – Notices of Foreclosure dated August 29, 2019
L.	Exhibit "L" – First Objection Letter dated September 9, 2019
М.	Exhibit "M" – Proof of Interest Letter dated September 10, 2019
N.	Exhibit "N" – Second Objection Letter dated September 11, 2019
О.	Exhibit "O" – Faber & Partners Inc. Consent to Act dated September 11, 2019
3.	Draft Receivership Order
4.	Blackline Model of Draft Receivership Order

TAB 1

Court File No.:

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEEN:

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

Applicant

- and -

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS

Respondent

IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 243(1) OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED, SECTION 67(1)(e) OF THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT, R.S.O. 1990 c. P-10, AS AMENDED AND SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

NOTICE OF APPLICATION

TO THE RESPONDENT

A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED by the applicant. The claim made by the applicant appears on the following page.

THIS APPLICATION will come on for a hearing on September 19, 2019 at 9:30 a.m., or as soon as after that time as the application may be heard, at 330 University Avenue, 8th Floor, Toronto, Ontario.

IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION, to receive notice of any step in the application or to be served with any documents in the application you or an Ontario lawyer acting for you must forthwith prepare a notice of appearance in Form 38A prescribed by the *Rules of Civil Procedure*, serve it on the applicant's lawyer or, where the applicant does not have a lawyer, serve it on the applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in this court office, and you or your lawyer must appear at the hearing.

IF YOU WISH TO PRESENT AFFIDAVIT OR OTHER DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE TO THE COURT OR TO EXAMINE OR CROSS-EXAMINE WITNESSES ON THE APPLICATION, you or your lawyer must, in addition to serving your notice of appearance, serve a copy of the evidence on the applicant's lawyer or, where the applicant does not have a lawyer, serve it on the applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in the court office where the application is to be heard as soon as possible, but at least four days before the hearing.

IF YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, JUDGMENT MAY BE GIVEN IN YOUR ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU.

IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION BUT ARE UNABLE TO PAY LEGAL FEES, LEGAL AID MAY BE AVAILABLE TO YOU BY CONTACTING A LOCAL LEGAL AID OFFICE.

Date]	Issued by	
-			Local Registrar
		Address of court office:	Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) 393 University Avenue, 10 th Floor Toronto ON M5G 1E6
TO:	SISKINDS LLP 680 Waterloo Street P.O. Box 2520, London, ON N6A 3V8		
	Wade Sarasin Tel: 519.660.7888 Fax: 519.660.7889 Email: <u>sarasin.team@sis</u>	skinds.com	
	James Judson Tel: 519.660.7807 Email: <u>james.judson@si</u>	iskinds.com	
	Counsel to 2368523 Ont	tario Limited	l d/b/a Curative Cannabis

AND TO: GROPPER LAW PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

2345 Yonge Street, Suite 302 Toronto, ON M4P 2E5

Yaakov Eizicovics

Tel: 416.962.3002 Email: <u>yaakov@gropperlaw.com</u>

Counsel to 689643 Ontario Inc. and Marcos Soberano

WSLEGAL\078222\00065\23138796v1

- AND TO: DAVID SHPILT 3513 Homewood Lane London, ON N6P 1K3 Email: <u>david@curativecannabis.ca</u>
- AND TO: SCOTT FITZGERALD 829 Cresthaven Crescent London, ON N6K 4W4 Email: <u>scott@curativecannabis.ca</u>
- AND TO: A. FARBER & PARTNERS INC. 150 York Street, Suite 1600 Toronto, ON M5H 3S5

Allan Nackan

Tel: 416.496.3732 Email: <u>anackan@farbergroup.com</u>

Proposed Receiver

AND TO: ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Department of Justice Canada Ontario Regional Office – Tax Law Section The Exchange Tower 130 King Street West, Suite 3400, Box 36 Toronto, ON M5X 1K6

Diane Winters

Tel: 416.973.3172 Fax: 416.973.0809 Email: <u>diane.winters@justice.gc.ca</u>

Lawyers for the Minister of National Revenue

APPLICATION

THE APPLICANT, Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (the "**Applicant**"), makes an application for an Order:

1. abridging the time for service of this Notice of Application and the materials filed in support of the application and dispensing with further service thereof;

2. appointing A. Farber & Partners Inc. ("**Farber**") as the receiver (the "**Receiver**") of the property, assets and undertaking of 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis (the "**Debtor**") Pursuant to section 243(1) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the "**BIA**"), section 67(1)(e) of the *Personal Property Security Act*, R.S.O. 1990 c. P-10 (the "**PPSA**") and section 101 of the *Courts of Justice Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, as amended (the "**CJA**"); and

3. granting such other relief as counsel may request and this Honourable Court may deem just.

THE GROUNDS FOR THIS APPLICATION ARE:

4. the Debtor is an early stage cannabis cultivation company that is in the pre-licensing and construction phase of its operations. The Debtor does not have active operations and is in the process of building a facility in Chatham, Ontario for the purpose of cultivating cannabis (the "Chatham Facility");

5. the Applicant is an integrated cannabis company which focuses on production, product development, branding, cultivation and financing in the legal cannabis market. The Applicant operates from a head office located in Toronto, Ontario;

6. the Applicant and the Debtor have entered into financing arrangements in connection with the construction of the Chatham Facility, most recently pursuant to an Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note dated April 23, 2019 (the "**Amended and Restated Promissory Note**"). It is a term of the Amended and Restated Promissory Note the Applicant may appoint a receiver upon default by the Debtor of any of its obligations to the Applicant;

7. pursuant to the Amended and Restated Promissory Note, and as security for its obligations to the Applicant, the Debtor granted the Applicant security over all of its personal property pursuant to, among other things, a General Security Agreement dated April 23, 2019;

8. the Debtor also issued a Demand Debenture to the Applicant dated April 23, 2019, in the principal amount of \$18 million and a fixed specific mortgage and charge for \$18 million in favour of the Applicant against real property identified as PIN 00736-0250 (LT) and PIN 00736-0221(LT), which comprises the lands on which the Chatham Facility is being constructed;

9. in addition to the security provided by the Debtor, the principals of the Debtor, David Shpilt ("**Mr. Shpilt**") and Scott Fitzgerald ("**Mr. Fitzgerald**") entered into: (i) a Limited Recourse Guarantee dated April 23, 2019 (the "**Guarantee**"); and (ii) a Pledge Agreement dated April 23, 2019 (the "**Share Pledge**") with the Applicant. Pursuant to the Guarantee and the Share Pledge, Mr. Shpilt and Mr. Fitzgerald pledged all of their shareholdings in the Debtor (the "**Shares**") to the Applicant as security for all amounts owing by the Debtor to the Applicant;

10. the Applicant registered security interests against the Debtor, Mr. Shpilt and Mr. Fitzgerald pursuant to the PPSA;

-2-

11. all amounts owing under the Amended and Restated Promissory Note by the Debtor to the Applicant matured on August 5, 2019;

12. by letters dated August 15, 2019, the Applicant demanded repayment from each of the Debtor, Mr. Shpilt and Mr. Fitzgerald (collectively, the "**Demands**") and together therewith delivered Notices of Intention to Enforce Security (collectively, the "**BIA Notices**") pursuant to Section 244 of the BIA.

13. by letters dated on August 29, 2019, the Applicant also issued Notices for Foreclosure in respect of the Shares to Shpilt, Fitzgerald and certain other parties entitled to notice pursuant to the PPSA (collectively, the "**Notices of Foreclosure**");

14. objections to the Notices of Foreclosure were issued by the Debtor, Shpilt, Fitzgerald and certain creditors with PPSA registrations against Shpilt and Fitzgerald;

15. as of September 12, 2019, the Debtor was indebted to the Applicant in the amount of \$16,146,162.66. This is inclusive of interest, but not of all additional costs and fees owing to the Applicant. The amount owing by the Debtor continues to grow on a daily basis as a result of interests, costs and obligations the Applicant has incurred in respect of the Debtor to complete construction of the Chatham Facility.

16. Notwithstanding the Debtor's default, the Applicant has determined that it must continue to pay obligations owing to third-parties in connection with the construction of the Chatham Facility in order to preserve the value of its collateral;

17. as of September 12, 2019, the Debtor has not obtained additional financing and has not paid any of the amounts outstanding to the Applicant. The Debtor has had ample time to refinance

the obligations owing to the Applicant or propose another commercially solution that is acceptable to the Applicant;

18. the Applicant's need for the appointment of a Receiver is apparent based on the current circumstances, including the following facts:

- (a) the Demands, the BIA Notices and the Notices for Foreclosure have not been withdrawn by the Applicant and the Debtor, Shpilt and Fitzgerald have had had ample opportunity to satisfy the Demands;
- (b) construction of the Chatham Facility is 90% complete. Completion of the Chatham Facility is expected to cost an additional \$4 million in connection with amounts to be paid in respect of outstanding purchase orders and construction hold-back payments. The Applicant has direct contractual obligations to certain contractors to pay such amounts in order to complete construction of the Chatham Facility.
- (c) the Applicant has lost confidence in the Debtor's ability to manage completion of the construction of the Chatham Facility;
- (d) the Applicant intends to foreclose on the Shares and take control of the Debtor. If the objections to the foreclosure process are determined to be invalid, are withdrawn or dispensed with by the Court or otherwise, a receiver should be appointed to oversee and monitor the operations of the Debtor and ensure that the value of the Debtor's business and the Applicant's collateral does not erode while management of the Debtor's business is transitioned to the Applicant. It is also just and convenient for the Court to appoint a receiver to monitor's the Debtor's business and to ensure that the value of the Applicant's collateral is protected; and
- (e) if the objections to the foreclosure process are determined to be valid or the Applicant withdraws the Notices for Foreclosure, the Shares or the Debtor's assets must be marketed for sale pursuant to the sale and foreclosure provisions of the

PPSA. A Receiver will be well positioned and sufficiently familiar with the Debtor's business to undertake such a sales process (and provide any valuation evidence necessary in connection therewith) and return to Court to seek approval to sell Shares or the Debtor's assets.

19. Farber has consented to act as the Receiver;

20. Rules 2.03, 3.02, 14.05(2), 41 of the *Rules of Civil Procedure*, R.R.O. 1990, Reg 194, section 243(1) of the BIA, Section 101 of the CJA and section 67(1)(e) of the PPSA; and

21. Such other grounds as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court may deem just.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the application

22. the Affidavit of Ronald Fichter, sworn September 12, 2019;

23. the Consent of Farber; and

24. such further and other evidence as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court may permit.

BENNETT JONES LLP

One First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4

Gavin Finlayson (LSO #44126D)

Tel.: (416) 777-5762 Fax: (416) 863-1716

Mike Shakra (LSO #64604K)

Tel.: (416) 777-6236 Fax: (416) 863-1716

Court File No.:

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT TORONTO

NOTICE OF APPLICATION

BENNETT JONES LLP

-and-

One First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4

Gavin Finlayson (LSO #44126D) Tel.: (416) 777-5762 Fax: (416) 863-1716

Mike Shakra (LSO #64604K) Tel.: (416) 777-6236 Fax: (416) 863-1716

Lawyers for the Applicant, Auxly Cannabis Group Inc.

TAB 2

Court File No.: [•]

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEEN:

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

Applicant

- and -

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS

Respondent

APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 243(1) OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED, SECTION 67(1)(e) OF THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT, R.S.O. 1990 c. P-10, AS AMENDED AND SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

AFFIDAVIT OF RONALD FICHTER (sworn September 12, 2019)

I, RONALD FICHTER, of the City of Toronto, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH AND SAY AS FOLLOWS:

1. I am the General Counsel of Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), the secured creditor of 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis (the "Debtor"). As such, I have personal knowledge of the matters to which I hereinafter depose. Where I do not have personal knowledge of the matters set out herein, I have stated the source of my information and, in all such cases, believe it to be true.

2. Unless otherwise stated herein, all monetary amounts referenced are in Canadian Dollars.

NATURE OF APPLICATION AND RELIEF SOUGHT

3. I swear this affidavit in support of the application by Auxly for an order, among other things, appointing A. Farber & Partners Inc. ("Farber") as receiver (in such capacity, the "Receiver"), without security, of all of the present and after-acquired assets, undertakings, and properties of the Debtors (collectively, the "Property") pursuant to section 243(1) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the "BIA"), section 67(1)(e) of the *Personal Property Security Act*, R.S.O. 1990 c. P-10 (the "PPSA") and section 101 of the *Courts of Justice Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, as amended (the "CJA").

BACKGROUND

4. According to the records maintained by the Ontario Ministry of Government Services (the "Corporation Profile Report"), the Debtor was incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Province of Ontario on April 4, 2013. The registered head office of the Debtor is listed as 3513 Homewood Lane, London, Ontario N6P 1K3. Among others, the Corporation Profile Report for the Debtor lists David Shpilt ("Mr. Shpilt") and Scott Fitzgerald ("Mr. Fitzgerald") as directors of the Debtor. I also understand that: (i) Mr. Shpilt is the Chief Executive Officer of the Debtor; and (ii) Mr. Fitzgerald is the Chief Operating Officer of the Debtor. Attached as Exhibit "A" is a true copy of the Corporation Profile Report with respect to the Debtor.

5. Auxly is an integrated cannabis company which focuses on production, product development, branding, cultivation and financing in the legal cannabis market. Auxly operates from a head office located in Toronto, Ontario.

6. The Debtor is an early stage cannabis cultivation company that is in the pre-licensing and construction phase of its operations. The Debtor does not have active operations and is in the process of building a facility in Chatham, Ontario for the purpose of cultivating cannabis (the **"Chatham Facility"**). As of the date of this Affidavit, I understand that the Chatham Facility is approximately 90% complete. The Debtor has submitted a cultivation license application to Health Canada under the license application number 10-MM0317 / #APP-3RCUB20T2P-2019. As of the date of this Affidavit, I understand that all fees in respect of such application have been paid and

that the next step in the application process is for the Debtor to submit a video evidence package upon completion of the Chatham Facility.

7. On October 1, 2018 Auxly and the Debtor entered into a Promissory Note in the principal amount of \$4 million (the "**Original Promissory Note**"). A copy of Original Promissory Note is attached hereto as **Exhibit "B"**.

8. On April 23, 2019, Auxly and the Debtor entered into an Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note with a principal amount up to \$18 million (the "Amended and Restated Promissory Note"). A copy of the Amended and Restated Promissory Note is attached hereto as Exhibit "C". Key terms of the Amended and Restated Promissory Note include:

(i) Maturity Date: 104 days from April 23, 2019 (or August 5, 2019);

(ii) Interest Rate: 10% per annum; and

(iii) **Purpose:** Funds lent under the Amended and Restated Promissory Note were to be used solely for the acquisition of the lands forming and construction of the Chatham Facility.

SECUTRITY HELD BY AUXLY

9. Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Promissory Note, and as security for its obligations to Auxly, the Debtor granted to Auxly security over all of its personal property pursuant to, among other things, a General Security Agreement dated April 23, 2019 (the "GSA"). It is a term of subsection 6.2(i) of the GSA that Auxly may appoint a receiver upon default by the Debtor of any of its obligations to Auxly. Attached hereto as **Exhibit "D"** is a copy of the GSA.

10. In addition to the GSA, the Debtor issued a Demand Debenture to Auxly dated April 23, 2019, in the principal amount of \$18 million (the "**Demand Debenture**") and a fixed specific mortgage and charge for \$18 million in favour of Auxly against real property identified as PIN 00736-0250 (LT) and PIN 00736-0221(LT), which comprises the lands on which the Chatham Facility is being constructed (the "**Mortgage**"). Copies of the Demand Debenture and the Mortgage are attached hereto as **Exhibits "E"** and "**F**", respectively.

11. In addition to the security noted above, Mr. Shpilt, Mr. Fitzgerald and Auxly entered into: (i) a Limited Recourse Guarantee dated April 23, 2019 (the "Guarantee"); and (ii) a Pledge Agreement dated April 23, 2019 (the "Share Pledge"). Pursuant to the Guarantee and the Share Pledge, Mr. Shpilt and Mr. Fitzgerald pledged all of their shareholdings in the Debtor (the "Outstanding Curative Shares") to Auxly as security for all amounts owing by the Debtor to Auxly. Copies of the Guarantee and Share Pledge at attached hereto as Exhibits "G" and "H", respectively.

12. On April 17, 2019, Auxly filed a registration against the Debtor in respect of all classes of collateral except "consumer goods" pursuant to the PPSA. Attached hereto as **Exhibit "I"** is a true copy of a certified PPSA Enquiry Response Certificate from the Ministry of Consumer and Business Services dated August 28, 2019, in respect of the Debtor.

13. There are no other registrations against the Debtor.

14. In addition to the loan and security arrangements, Auxly, the Debtor and Kolab Project Inc. ("Kolab") are also parties to a Cannabis Supply Agreement dated May 15, 2019 (the "Cannabis Supply Agreement"), pursuant to which the Debtor agreed to provide Kolab with certain cannabis products on a cost-plus basis once the Chatham Facility was completed, licensed and operational. Kolab is an affiliate of Auxly. The Cannabis Supply Agreement is a key piece of the overall relationship between Auxly and the Debtor.

DEFAULT BY THE DEBTOR AND ENFORCEMENT STEPS AFTER DEFAULT

15. The obligations owing by the Debtor to Auxly under the Amended and Restated Promissory Note and the Share Pledge Matured on August 5, 2019 (the "Maturity Date"). As at the Maturity Date, Auxly was owed \$13,263,157.97, an amount that continues to grow due to interest and ongoing construction costs associated with the Chatham Facility which Auxly has committed to fund during the enforcement of its security in order to maintain the value of its collateral. No amounts owing to Auxly by the Debtor have been repaid. As a result, events of default arose under the Amended and Restated Promissory Note, the Demand Debenture, the Guarantee and the Share Pledge. As of the date of the swearing of this affidavit, the Debtor is

indebted to Auxly in the amount of \$16,146,162.66. This is inclusive of interest, but not of all additional costs and fees owing.

16. During the month of August 2019, the Debtors and Auxly engaged in discussions regarding the Maturity Date and the need to obtain additional financing to repay all obligations owing to Auxly. These discussions did not result in an outcome satisfactory to Auxly.

17. On August 15, 2019, counsel to Auxly, Bennett Jones LLP ("Bennett Jones"), issued demands and enforcement notices pursuant to section 244 of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* to the Debtor, Mr. Shpilt and Mr. Fitzgerald (collectively, the "Demands"). As at the date of the Demands, the Debtors were indebted to Auxly in the amount of \$14,710,696.14, inclusive of principal and interest to that date, but exclusive of professional and other costs to which Auxly is entitled under the Amended and Restated Promissory Notes and other loan and security documents. Copies of the Demands are attached hereto as **Exhibit "J"**.

18. Upon issuance of the Demands, representatives of the Debtor and Mr. Shpilt discussed the possibility of Auxly forbearing on the exercise of its rights and potential new financing sources for the Debtor. Again, these discussion did not result in a proposal or outcome that was satisfactory to Auxly. In particular, none of the proposals put forward by the debtor provided confidence to Auxly that the value of its collateral would not erode and that amounts owing to it by the Debtor would be repaid in a timely manner. Given the Debtor's failure to raise additional financing to date, the missed Maturity Date, sporadic communication and the fact that construction of the Chatham Facility is still ongoing, Auxly has lost faith in the Debtor's management team.

19. Pursuant to Auxly's rights under the Guarantee and Share Pledge, on August 29, 2019, Bennett Jones issued Notices for Foreclosure in respect of the Outstanding Curative Shares to Shpilt, Fitzgerald and certain other parties entitled to notice pursuant to the PPSA (collectively, the "**Notices for Foreclosure**"). As of the date of the Notices for Foreclosure, the Debtor was indebted to Auxly in the amount of \$14,805,075, inclusive of principal, interest and professional costs incurred to that date. Copies of the Notices for Foreclosure issued to Shpilt, Fitzgerald and the other parties entitled to notice are attached hereto as **Exhibit "K"**.

20. On September 9, 2019, Bennett Jones received an objection to the foreclosure process (the **"First Objection Letter"**) in respect of the Outstanding Curative Shares from counsel to 689643 Ontario Inc. and Marcos Soberano (collectively, the **"Objectors"**). I understand that the Objectors have filed PPSA registrations against Shpilt and/or Fitzgerald and purport to have an interest in the Outstanding Curative Shares. The Objectors have requested information in respect of the value of the Outstanding Curative Shares from Auxly. A copy of the First Objection Letter is attached hereto as **Exhibit "L"**.

21. On September 10, 2019, Bennett Jones wrote to counsel for the Objectors and requested that the Objectors provide proof of their interest in the Outstanding Curative Shares pursuant to section 65(4) of the PPSA (the **"Proof of Interest Letter"**). A copy of the Proof of Interest Letter is attached hereto as **Exhibit "M"**.

22. On September 11, 2019, Bennett Jones received a second objection to the foreclosure process from counsel to the Debtor, Shpilt and Fitzgerald (the "Second Objection Letter"). A copy of the Second Objection Letter is attached hereto as Exhibit "N".

NEED FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECEIVER

23. The appointment of a Receiver is necessary and appropriate as a result of the following:

- (a) The Demands have not been withdrawn by Auxly and the Debtor, Mr. Shpilt and Mr. Fitzgerald have had ample opportunity to satisfy the Demands;
- (b) Although given ample opportunity, the Debtor has not made progress in its efforts to refinance the obligations owing to Auxly or sell substantially all of its assets in an effort to satisfy the obligations owing to Auxly;
- (c) Construction of the Chatham Facility is 90% complete. Completion of the Chatham Facility is expected to cost an additional \$4 million in connection with amounts to be paid in respect of outstanding purchase orders and construction hold-back payments. Auxly has direct contractual obligations to certain contractors to pay such amounts in order to complete construction of the Chatham Facility. Auxly has

lost confidence in the Debtor's ability to manage completion of the construction of the Chatham Facility;

- (d) Auxly intends to foreclose on the Outstanding Curative Shares and take control of the Debtor. If the objections to the foreclosure process are determined to be invalid, are withdrawn or dispensed with by the Court or otherwise, the Receiver should be appointed to oversee and monitor the operations of the Debtor and ensure that the value of the Debtor's business and Auxly's collateral does not erode while management of the Debtor's business is transitioned to Auxly; and
- (e) If the objections to the foreclosure process are determined to be valid or Auxly withdraws the Notices for Foreclosure, the Outstanding Curative Shares or the Debtor's assets must be marketed for sale pursuant to the sale and foreclosure provisions of the PPSA. The Receiver will be well positioned and sufficiently familiar with the Debtor's business to undertake such a sales process (and provide any valuation evidence necessary in connection therewith) and return to Court to seek approval to sell the Outstanding Curative Shares or the Debtor's assets.

24. The proposed Order appointing the Receiver provides the Receiver with powers that are circumscribed and more limited than those provided for in the model receivership order published by the Commercial List Court. For example, under the proposed Order, the Receiver does not have the power to manage the Debtor's business or assets. Rather, the Receiver's powers are limited to that of a court-officer with a limited reporting and oversight role as construction of the Chatham Facility is completed and the foreclosure process in respect of the Outstanding Curative Shares unfolds. I understand that the Receiver's power to sell and market the Debtor's business or assets will only be exercised should the exercise of such power become necessary.

25. I understand that the Receiver is supportive of maintaining a more limited set of powers in this case given the unique circumstances at hand and concerns it may have in respect taking full control over a business that operates in the cannabis space (even if not currently operational). In particular, I understand that court-officers and other professionals have expressed concerns regarding the ability to travel to certain foreign jurisdictions if they are seen to be taking control or operating a cannabis business, which may still be illegal in certain foreign jurisdictions.

26. In addition to oversight and monitoring powers, should it be necessary, the Receiver is empowered to (in the Debtor's name) facilitate the transfer, assignment or conveyance of any license, permit or approval required in respect of the Debtor's business, including those under certain federal and provincial legislation which governs the cultivation, processing and sale of Cannabis.

27. The proposed Order appointing the Receiver also permits the Receiver to borrow funds from Auxly for the purpose of completing construction of the Chatham Facility and make payment of necessary expenses of the Receivership, including payment of the fees and disbursements of the Receiver and its legal counsel. If necessary, these borrowings will be secured by Receiver's certificates to be issued by the Receiver of by the security held by Auxly upon the Debtor's assets.

28. It is proposed that Farber be appointed as Receiver. Farber has agreed to accept the appointment, and a copy of its consent is attached hereto as **Exhibit "O"**.

29. Farber is a trustee within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the BIA and, as such, is permitted to be appointed Receiver over the Property. I understand that Farber has extensive experience in the context of Court-supervised insolvency proceedings.

30. The Order sought by Auxly also provides for the retention of independent counsel by the Receiver to address any issue or matter where there may be an actual or perceived conflict with Auxly. In all other situations, and in view of the fact that Auxly is funding the costs of these receivership proceedings, the draft Order provides authorization for the Receiver to use Auxly's counsel as a matter of efficiency.

31. This Affidavit is made in support of the within application for the appointment of Farber as Receiver and for no other or improper purpose whatsoever.

)

)

))

)

SWORN BEFORE ME at the City of Toronto, in the Province of Ontario, This 12th day of September, 2019.

A Commissioner, Etc.

Ronald Fichter

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020.

EXHIBIT "A"

This is **Exhibit "A"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

 \mathcal{N} aher

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020. Province of Ontario Ministry of Government Services

CORPORATION DOCUMENT LIST

Ontario Corporation Number 2368523

Corporation Name

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED

ACT/CODE	DESCRIPTION	FORM	DATE (YY/MM/DD)	
CIA	ANNUAL RETURN 2018 PAF: HILL, TRISTIN THOMAS	1C	2019/08/04	(ELECTRONIC FILING)
CIA	CHANGE NOTICE PAF: SHPILT, DAVID	1	2018/10/16	(ELECTRONIC FILING)
CIA	ANNUAL RETURN 2018 PAF: SHPILT, DAVID	1S	2018/06/18	(ELECTRONIC FILING)
CIA	ANNUAL RETURN 2017 PAF: SHPILT, DAVID	1S	2018/06/18	(ELECTRONIC FILING)
CIA	ANNUAL RETURN 2016 PAF: SHPILT, DAVID	1S .	2018/06/18	(ELECTRONIC FILING)
CIA	ANNUAL RETURN 2015 PAF: SHPILT, DAVID	1S	2018/06/18	(ELECTRONIC FILING)
CIA	ANNUAL RETURN 2014 PAF: SHPILT, DAVID	15	2018/06/18	(ELECTRONIC FILING)
CIA	CHANGE NOTICE PAF: SUMMERS, OLGA	1	2018/06/18	(ELECTRONIC FILING)
CIA	CHANGE NOTICE PAF: SHPILT, DAVID	1	2018/06/11	(ELECTRONIC FILING)
BCA	ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT	3	2018/06/04	
CIA	CHANGE NOTICE PAF: MILLAR, PHILLIP	1	2013/05/24	
CIA	INITIAL RETURN PAF: MILLAR, P.	1	2013/05/23	
BCA	ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION	1	2013/04/09	(ELECTRONIC FILING)

Request ID: 023543335 Transaction ID: 72940591 Category ID: UN/E Province of Ontario Ministry of Government Services Date Report Produced:2019/09/05Time Report Produced:10:07:38Page:2

CORPORATION DOCUMENT LIST

Ontario Corporation Number 2368523

Corporation Name 2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED

ACT/CODE DESCRIPTION FOR THE ABOVE CORPORATION WHICH HAVE BEEN FILED ON OR AFTER

THIS REPORT SETS OUT ALL DOCUMENTS FOR THE ABOVE CORPORATION WHICH HAVE BEEN FILED ON OR AFTER JUNE 27, 1992, AND RECORDED IN THE ONTARIO BUSINESS INFORMATION SYSTEM AS AT THE DATE AND TIME OF PRINTING. ADDITIONAL HISTORICAL INFORMATION MAY EXIST ON MICROFICHE.

ALL "PAF" (PERSON AUTHORIZING FILING) INFORMATION IS DISPLAYED EXACTLY AS RECORDED IN ONBIS. WHERE PAF IS NOT SHOWN AGAINST A DOCUMENT. THE INFORMATION HAS NOT BEEN RECORDED IN THE ONBIS DATABASE.

The issuance of this report in electronic form is authorized by the Ministry of Government Services.

Province of Ontario Ministry of Government Services Date Report Produced:2019/09/05Time Report Produced:10:07:30Page:1

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number	Corporation Name				Incorporation Date
2368523	2368523 ONTARIO	LIMITED			2013/04/09
					Jurisdiction
					ONTARIO
Corporation Type	Corporation Status				Former Jurisdiction
ONTARIO BUSINESS CORP.	ACTIVE				NOT APPLICABLE
Registered Office Address				Date Amalgamated	Amalgamation Ind.
TRISTIN HILL CPA CA 3513 HOMEWOOD LANE				NOT APPLICABLE	NOT APPLICABLE
3313 HOMEWOOD LANE				New Amal. Number	Notice Date
LONDON ONTARIO				NOT APPLICABLE	NOT APPLICABLE
CANADA N6P 1K3					Letter Date
Mailing Address					NOT APPLICABLE
1 FIRST CANADIAN PLACE				Revival Date	Continuation Date
Suite # 3400				NOT APPLICABLE	NOT APPLICABLE
TORONTO ONTARIO				Transferred Out Date	Cancel/Inactive Date
CANADA M5X 1A4				NOT APPLICABLE	NOT APPLICABLE
				EP Licence Eff.Date	EP Licence Term.Date
				NOT APPLICABLE	NOT APPLICABLE
		Number of Minimum	Directors Maximum	Date Commenced in Ontario	Date Ceased in Ontario
Activity Classification		00001	00010	NOT APPLICABLE	NOT APPLICABLE

NOT AVAILABLE

Request ID:023543334Transaction ID:72940589Category ID:UN/E

Province of Ontario Ministry of Government Services Date Report Produced:2019/09/05Time Report Produced:10:07:30Page:2

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number	Corporation Name
2368523	2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED
Corporate Name History	Effective Date
2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED	2013/04/09
Current Business Name(s) Exist:	YES
Expired Business Name(s) Exist:	YES - SEARCH REQUIRED FOR DETAILS
Administrator: Name (Individual / Corporation)	Address
SCOTT	
FITZGERALD	829 CRESTHAVEN CRES
	LONDON ONTARIO CANADA N6K 4W4

Date Began 2013/04/09 Designation DIRECTOR First Director NOT APPLICABLE Officer Type

Resident Canadian

Y

Province of Ontario Ministry of Government Services

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number		Corporation Name
2368523		2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED
Administrator:		
Name (Individual / Corporation)		Address
SCOTT		829 CRESTHAVEN CRES.
FITZGERALD		
		LONDON ONTARIO CANADA N6K 4W4
Date Began	First Director	
2013/04/09	NOT APPLICABLE	
Designation	Officer Type	Resident Canadian
OFFICER	VICE-PRESIDENT	
Administrator:		
Name (Individual / Corporation)		Address
DAVID		3513 HOMEWOOD LANE
SHPILT		3313 HOMEWOOD LANE
		LONDON ONTARIO CANADA N6P 1K3
Date Began	First Director	
2013/04/09	NOT APPLICABLE	
Designation	Officer Type	Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

Y

Request ID: 023543334 Transaction ID: 72940589 Category ID: UN/E

Designation

OFFICER

Province of Ontario Ministry of Government Services Date Report Produced:2019/09/05Time Report Produced:10:07:30Page:4

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number		Corporation Name
2368523		2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED
Administrator: Name (Individual / Corporation)		Address
DAVID		3513 HOMEWOOD LANE
SHPILT		3513 HOMEWOOD LANE
		LONDON ONTARIO CANADA N6P 1K3
Date Began	First Director	
2013/04/09	NOT APPLICABLE	
Designation	Officer Type	Resident Canadian
OFFICER	PRESIDENT	Y
Administrator: Name (Individual / Corporation)		Address
DAVID		3513 HOMEWOOD LANE
SHPILT		
		LONDON ONTARIO CANADA N6P 1K3
Date Began	First Director	
2018/10/16	NOT APPLICABLE	

Officer Type

SECRETARY

Resident Canadian

Province of Ontario Ministry of Government Services Date Report Produced: 2019/09/05 Time Report Produced: 10:07:30 Page: 5

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name 2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED 2368523 Administrator: Address

Name (Individual / Corporation)

DAVID

SHPILT

3513 HOMEWOOD LANE

LONDON ONTARIO CANADA N6P 1K3

Date Began	First Director
2018/10/16	NOT APPLICABLE
Designation	Officer Type
OFFICER	TREASURER

Resident Canadian

Request ID: 023543334 Transaction ID: 72940589 Category ID: UN/E Province of Ontario Ministry of Government Services Date Report Produced:2019/09/05Time Report Produced:10:07:30Page:6

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

 Ontario Corp Number
 .
 Corporation Name

 2368523
 2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED

 Last Document Recorded
 Porm
 Date

 Act/Code Description
 Form
 Date

 CIA
 ANNUAL RETURN 2018
 1C
 2019/08/04 (ELECTRONIC FILING)

THIS REPORT SETS OUT THE MOST RECENT INFORMATION FILED BY THE CORPORATION ON OR AFTER JUNE 27, 1992, AND RECORDED IN THE ONTARIO BUSINESS INFORMATION SYSTEM AS AT THE DATE AND TIME OF PRINTING. ALL PERSONS WHO ARE RECORDED AS CURRENT DIRECTORS OR OFFICERS ARE INCLUDED IN THE LIST OF ADMINISTRATORS. ADDITIONAL HISTORICAL INFORMATION MAY EXIST ON MICROFICHE.

The issuance of this report in electronic form is authorized by the Ministry of Government Services.

EXHIBIT "B"
This is **Exhibit "B"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

Marken

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. opires March 22, 2020.

PROMISSORY NOTE

Effective: October 1, 2018 Principal Amount: Up to C\$4,000,000.00

- Promise to Pay. FOR VALUE RECEIVED, 2368523 Ontario Limited (d/b/a) Curative Cannabis (the "Debtor") acknowledges itself indebted and hereby promises to pay to Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (the "Creditor") at 777 Richmond Street West, Suite #002, Toronto, Ontario M6J 3N5, or as the Creditor may direct, the total principal amount from time to time advanced hereunder and set forth on the attached grid (the "Principal Amount"), plus any accrued interest owing thereon.
- 2. <u>Interest</u>. The interest rate for the Principal Amount shall be computed based on the Principal Amount outstanding, to be calculated from the date hereof until the earlier of: (i) the Maturity Date; and (ii) the date this Promissory Note is repaid in accordance with Section 5 below; at per annum rate of 1%.
- 3. <u>Repayment</u>. The Principal Amount plus any interest owing thereon is repayable on October 1, 2020 (the "**Maturity Date**").
- 4. <u>Optional Prepayment</u>. The Debtor may, at its option and at any time, prepay the Principal Amount plus any accrued interest owing thereon, without penalty or premium.
- 5. <u>Records of Account</u>. A record of the Principal Amount, interest rate and accrued interest payable hereunder and payments of principal and interest may, at the Creditor's sole option, be entered:
 - (i) in any electronic data processing device, and any printed report produced from such electronic records (absent manifest error) shall be good and sufficient evidence of the unpaid principal and interest balance in the same manner and to the same extent as if originally and concurrently recorded on or with this Promissory Note; or
 - (ii) by the Creditor on the grid annexed hereto; or
 - (iii) in any combination of the methods outlined in subparagraphs (i) and (ii) above.

Failure to record the date and amount of any loan advance made under this Promissory Note, the interest rate or any accrued interest or payments made hereunder, shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligations of the Debtor to pay this Promissory Note.

The Creditor is hereby irrevocably appointed and authorized by the Debtor as the Debtor's lawful attorney and agent (with full power of substitution and delegation) to endorse on the grid attached to this Promissory Note the amount of principal, the interest rate, interest accrued on and other amounts payable under this Promissory Note and the amount of each payment of principal and interest received by the Creditor on account of this Promissory Note as well as the dates thereof. The failure of the Creditor to make any such endorsement shall not release or otherwise alter the Debtor's obligations hereunder to repay the principal of this Promissory Note and accrued interest thereon payable hereunder. The unpaid principal and accrued interest thereon payable hereunder. The unpaid principal and report from any electronic data processing device of the Creditor shall be conclusive and binding

on the Debtor, absent manifest error, and may be introduced as evidence of the amount owing by the Debtor hereunder.

- 6. <u>Set-off.</u> All payments to be made by the Debtor hereunder shall be made without set-off, compensation, deduction or counterclaim and without deduction for any taxes, levies, duties, fees, deductions, withholdings, restrictions or conditions of any nature whatsoever, except as agreed in writing by the Creditor. The Creditor shall have the right, but not the obligation, to set-off against the Principal Amount (plus any accrued interest owing thereon) any monies owed by the Creditor to the Debtor without consent of the Debtor.
- 7. <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. The Debtor represents and warrants, jointly and severally, to the Creditor as follows and acknowledges that the Creditor is relying on the following representations and warranties:
 - (i) it has full power, authority and capacity to enter this Promissory Note;
 - (ii) the execution, delivery and performance of obligations under the Promissory Note do not violate or conflict with any applicable laws, any order or judgment of any court or other governmental authority applicable to it or any of its personal property or assets or any contractual restriction binding on or affecting it or any of its personal property or assets; and
 - (iii) this Promissory Note has been duly executed and delivered by such Debtor and constitutes an enforceable obligation against the Debtor in accordance with its terms.
- 8. <u>Events of Default</u>. The entire unpaid portion of the Principal Amount and all accrued and unpaid interest thereon shall, at the option of the Creditor, automatically become immediately due and payable if any one or more of the following events of default (each, an "**Event of Default**") has occurred and is continuing:
 - (i) the Debtor fails to make payment by the Maturity Date of the Principal Amount and all accrued interest owing thereon;
 - (ii) one or more judgments or decrees shall be entered against the Debtor and such judgments or decrees shall not have been vacated, discharged, stayed, satisfied or bonded pending appeal within 30 days from the entry thereof;
 - (iii) the Debtor shall: (a) become insolvent or generally fail to pay, or admit in writing its inability or unwillingness generally to pay, debts as they become due; (b) apply for, consent to, or acquiesce in, the appointment of a trustee, receiver, sequestrator or other custodian for the Debtor, or any substantial part of its property, or make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (c) in the absence of such application, consent or acquiescence, permit or suffer to exist the appointment of a trustee, receiver, sequestrator or other custodian for the Debtor, or for a substantial part of its property, and such trustee, receiver, sequestrator or other custodian shall not be discharged within 60 days, provided that the Debtor hereby expressly authorizes the Creditor to appear in any court conducting any relevant proceeding during such 60 day period to preserve, protect and defend its rights hereunder; (d) permit or suffer to exist the commencement of any bankruptcy, reorganization, debt arrangement or other case or proceeding under

any bankruptcy or insolvency law, or any dissolution, winding up or liquidation proceeding, in respect of the Debtor, and, if any such case or proceeding is not commenced by the Debtor, such case or proceeding shall be consented to or acquiesced in by the Debtor or shall result in the entry of an order for relief or shall remain for 60 days undismissed, provided that the Debtor hereby expressly authorizes the Creditor to appear in any court conducting any such case or proceeding during such 60 day period to preserve, protect and defend its rights hereunder; or (e) take any action authorizing, or in furtherance of, any of the foregoing;

- (iv) the Debtor grants any security over any of the Debtor's property and assets, real and personal, tangible and intangible, of every nature and kind, to any other person or entity without the prior written consent of the Creditor;
- (v) any holder of any security interest, mortgage, lien, charge, claim or encumbrance enforces against, delivers any notice relating to its rights or its intention to enforce against, or becomes entitled to enforce against or otherwise takes possession, management or control of any material portion of the Debtor's assets;
- (vi) if any representation or warranty made hereunder by the Debtor shall be false, misleading or inaccurate when made hereunder; or
- (vii) if the Debtor fails to observe or perform any covenant or provision contained this Promissory Note.
- 9. <u>Remedies Upon Event of Default</u>. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Debtor, to the extent capable of being cured, shall have 10 days from the due date of such Event of Default (the "Cure Period") to cure the Event of Default to the satisfaction of the Creditor. If the Debtor does not cure such default within the Cure Period, the Creditor may declare the Principal Amount and all accrued interest owing thereon immediately due and payable. The Debtor agrees that all of the rights and remedies granted to the Creditor in this Promissory Note, and any other documents or instruments in existence between the parties or contemplated hereby, and any other rights and remedies available to the Creditor at law or in equity, shall be cumulative. The exercise or failure to exercise any of the said remedies shall not constitute a waiver or release thereof or of any other right or remedy, and shall be non-exclusive.
- 10. <u>Waiver by the Debtor</u>. The Debtor waives demand, presentment for payment, notice of nonpayment, notice of dishonour, notice of acceleration, and notice of protest of this Promissory Note. The Debtor also waives the benefit of any days of grace, the benefits of division and discussion and the right to assert in any action or proceeding with regard to this Promissory Note any set-offs or counterclaims which the Debtor may have against the Creditor.
- 11. <u>No Waiver by Creditor</u>. Neither the extension of time for making any payment which is due and payable under this Promissory Note at any time or times, nor the failure, delay, or omission of the Creditor to exercise or enforce any of its rights or remedies under this Promissory Note, shall constitute a waiver by the Creditor of its right to enforce any such rights and remedies subsequently. The single or partial exercise of any such right or remedy shall not preclude the Creditor's further exercise of such right or remedy or any other right or remedy.

- 12. <u>Indemnity</u>. The Debtor shall indemnify and hold the Creditor harmless from and against all losses (including judgments, penalties and fines) suffered, and pay or reimburse the Creditor for all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable fees and disbursements of legal counsel to the Creditor) incurred by the Creditor in connection with, arising out of, or in any way related to: (i) this Promissory Note (whether asserted by the Creditor or the Debtor or any other person), including the prosecution or defense thereof and any litigation or proceeding with respect thereto (whether or not, in the case of any such litigation or proceeding, the Creditor is a party thereto), or (ii) any investigation, governmental or otherwise, arising out of, related to, or in any way connected with, this Promissory Note.
- 13. <u>Amendment</u>. This Promissory Note may not be amended except as agreed in writing by the Debtor and the Creditor.
- 14. <u>Jurisdiction</u>. This Promissory Note is made under and shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicable in the Province of Ontario, and shall enure to the benefit of the Creditor and its successors and assigns, and shall be binding on the Debtor and their successors and permitted assigns.
- 15. <u>Business Days</u>. Should any payment of the Principal Amount or accrued interest owing thereon become due and payable on any day other than a Business Day ("**Business Day**" being any day not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday in Toronto, Ontario), the payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day and interest shall continue to accrue at the applicable rate until such payment is made, if applicable.
- 16. <u>Assignment and Enurement</u>. The rights and benefits of the Debtor hereunder shall not be assignable without the prior written consent of the Creditor. The Creditor may assign any of its rights and benefits hereunder without consent of the Debtor, provided that the Creditor provides written notice of such arrangement to the Debtor. This Promissory Note shall be binding upon and enure to be benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal representatives, heirs, successors and permitted assigns.
- 17. <u>Invalidity of Any Provisions</u>. Any provision of this Promissory Note prohibited by the laws of any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition without invalidating the remaining terms hereof or thereof and no such invalidity shall affect the obligation of the Debtor to repay to the Creditor the Principal Amount plus any accrued interest owing thereon.
- 18. <u>Notices</u>. Any demand, notice or communication to be made or given hereunder shall be in writing and will be given by personal delivery, by registered mail or by electronic means of communication addressed to the recipient as follows:

To the Debtor:

2368523 Ontario Ltd. d/b/a Curative Cannabis 3513 Homewood Lane London, Ontario N6P 1K3 Attention: David Shpilt Email: david@curativecannabis.ca

To the Creditor:

5

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. 777 Richmond St. W, Suite 002 Toronto ON M6J 3N5

Attention:General CounselEmail:legal@auxly.com

- 19. <u>Further Assurances</u>. The Debtor shall do all such further acts, matters and things and execute and deliver all such further documents as shall be reasonably required by the Creditor in order to ensure that the terms and provisions of this Promissory Note are fully performed and carried out and to ensure that each provision of this Promissory Note is and continues to be a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Debtor enforceable against the Debtor in accordance with its terms.
- 20. <u>Headings</u>. All headings used herein are used for convenience only and shall not be used to construe or interpret this Promissory Note.
- 21. <u>Electronic Delivery</u>. Delivery of this Promissory Note by facsimile or by electronic transmission in portable document format (PDF) of an executed copy of this Promissory Note is as effective as delivery of an originally executed copy thereof.
- 22. <u>Independent Legal Advice</u>. Each party hereto acknowledges and agrees that it: (i) has been advised to seek independent legal advice; (ii) has sought such independent legal advice or deliberately decided not to do so; (iii) understands its rights and obligations under this Promissory Note; and (iv) are executing this Promissory Note voluntarily.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank]

DATED effective this 1^{st} day of October 2018

2368523 ONTARIO LTD. D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS

Per: Name: David Shpilt Title: Director

ACKNOWLEDGED, AGREED AND ACCEPTED ON THE DATE FIRST WRITTEN ABOVE

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

Per:

Name: Title: DATED effective this 1st day of October, 2018

2368523 ONTARIO LTD. D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS

Per:

Name: Title:

ACKNOWLEDGED, AGREED AND ACCEPTED ON THE DATE FIRST WRITTEN ABOVE

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

Per:

Namé:Jeff Tung Title:CFO/COO

GRID

Date	Principal Advanced	Repayments of Principal	Outstanding Principal Balance	Interest Paid	Initials
October 11, 2018	393,295.29		3,606,704.71		
November 10, 2018	867,208.41		2,739,496.30		
December 12, 2018	498,577.99		2,240,918.31	·	
December 13, 2018	91,412.66		2,149,505.65		
December 14, 2018	291,400.34		1,858,105.31		
January 18, 2019	380,606.96		1,477,498.35		
		-			
January 31, 2019	1,070,401.40		407,096.95		
February 13, 2019	180,000.00		227,096.95		
	-				
	-				
	-				
	-				
	-		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-				
	-				
	_				
	-				
	-				
	-				
	-				
	-	·			
	-				
	-				
	-				
	-				
	-				
	-				
	-				
	-				
	_		 	1	
			 		
	_				
l		<u></u>			L <u></u>

EXHIBIT "C"

This is **Exhibit "C"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

Serter

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020.

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED (D/B/A) CURATIVE CANNABIS AMENDED AND RESTATED SECURED PROMISSORY NOTE

Effective: April 23, 2019 **Principal Amount**: Up to C\$18,000,000.00

WHEREAS 2368523 Ontario Limited (d/b/a) Curative Cannabis) (the "Debtor") and Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (the "Creditor") are parties to a promissory note dated as of October 1, 2018, in the principal amount of up to \$4,000,000.00 (the "Original Promissory Note");

AND WHEREAS the Debtor has entered into (i) a general security agreement, and (ii) a charge in favour of the Creditor, both of which are dated as of April 23, 2019 (collectively, referred to as the "Debtor Security Agreements"

AND WHEREAS certain shareholders of the Debtor, namely Scott Fitzgerald and David Shpilt and the Creditor entered into (i) a share pledge agreement, and (ii) a guarantee in favour of the Creditor, both of which are dated as of April 23, 2019, (collectively, with the Debtor Security Agreements, referred to as the "Security Agreements");

AND WHEREAS on or around the date hereof the Debtor, the Creditor and Kolab Project Inc. will enter into a cannabis supply agreement (the "**Supply Agreement**"); and

AND WHEREAS the parties wish to amend and restate the Original Promissory Note upon the terms and conditions herein.

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that in consideration of the covenants and agreements herein contained the parties hereto agree as follows:

- 1. <u>Promise to Pay</u>. FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the Debtor acknowledges itself indebted and hereby promises to pay to the Creditor at 777 Richmond Street West, Suite #002, Toronto, Ontario M6J 3N5, or as the Creditor may direct, the total principal amount from time to time advanced hereunder and set forth on the attached grid (the "**Principal Amount**"), plus any accrued interest owing thereon.
- 2. <u>Interest</u>. The interest rate for the Principal Amount shall be computed based on the Principal Amount outstanding, to be calculated from the date hereof until the earlier of: (i) the Maturity Date; and (ii) the date this Promissory Note is repaid in accordance with Section 4 below; at per annum rate of 10%.
- 3. <u>Repayment</u>. The Principal Amount plus any interest owing thereon is repayable on 104 days from April 23, 2019 (the "**Maturity Date**").
- 4. <u>Amended and Restatement.</u> This Promissory Note shall amend and restate the Original Promissory Note in its entirety and the Original Promissory Note as so amended and restated is hereby ratified and confirmed by the parties hereto and the Original Promissory Note shall be

- 4. <u>Amended and Restatement.</u> This Promissory Note shall amend and restate the Original Promissory Note in its entirety and the Original Promissory Note as so amended and restated is hereby ratified and confirmed by the parties hereto and the Original Promissory Note shall be permanently cancelled. This Promissory Note is not intended by the parties to, and shall not constitute, a payment, discharge, satisfaction or novation of any obligation of the Debtor to the Creditor, including the whole or any item or part of the outstanding Principal Amount (as defined in the Original Promissory Note) remaining outstanding and owing to the Creditor until paid in full in accordance with the provisions of this Promissory Note. The Debtor confirms to and agrees with the Creditor that its obligations (including any and all prior advances shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with the Original Promissory Note as may be amended herein.
- 5. <u>Records of Account</u>. A record of the Principal Amount, interest rate and accrued interest payable hereunder and payments of principal and interest may, at the Creditor's sole option, be entered:
 - (i) in any electronic data processing device, and any printed report produced from such electronic records (absent manifest error) shall be good and sufficient evidence of the unpaid principal and interest balance in the same manner and to the same extent as if originally and concurrently recorded on or with this Promissory Note; or
 - (ii) by the Creditor on the grid annexed hereto; or
 - (iii) in any combination of the methods outlined in subparagraphs (i) and (ii) above.

Failure to record the date and amount of any loan advance made under this Promissory Note, the interest rate or any accrued interest or payments made hereunder, shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligations of the Debtor to pay this Promissory Note.

The Creditor is hereby irrevocably appointed and authorized by the Debtor as the Debtor's lawful attorney and agent (with full power of substitution and delegation) to endorse on the grid attached to this Promissory Note the amount of principal, the interest rate, interest accrued on and other amounts payable under this Promissory Note and the amount of each payment of principal and interest received by the Creditor on account of this Promissory Note as well as the dates thereof. The failure of the Creditor to make any such endorsement shall not release or otherwise alter the Debtor's obligations hereunder to repay the principal of this Promissory Note and accrued interest thereon payable hereunder. The unpaid principal and accrued interest payable under this Promissory Note recorded in the grid and/or the printed report from any electronic data processing device of the Creditor shall be conclusive and binding on the Debtor, absent manifest error, and may be introduced as evidence of the amount owing by the Debtor hereunder.

- 6. <u>Set-off.</u> All payments to be made by the Debtor hereunder shall be made without set-off, compensation, deduction or counterclaim and without deduction for any taxes, levies, duties, fees, deductions, withholdings, restrictions or conditions of any nature whatsoever, except as agreed in writing by the Creditor. The Creditor shall have the right, but not the obligation, to set-off against the Principal Amount (plus any accrued interest owing thereon) any monies owed by the Creditor to the Debtor without consent of the Debtor.
- 7. <u>Security Interest</u>.
 - (i) The Debtor agrees that it shall grant security interests to the Creditor in all of its assets, real and personal property, tangible and intangible, of every nature and kind, both present and future (the "Collateral") to secure its obligations under this Promissory Note, and shall deliver with the Security Agreements, mortgages and other related agreements as may be required by the Creditor.
 - (ii) The Debtors hereby acknowledge and agree that the Creditor or its counsel shall be permitted to forthwith file a registration under the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario) (the "**PPSA**") evidencing its security interests in the Collateral. The Debtors hereby acknowledge receipt of a copy of this Promissory Note and waive their rights to receive a copy of any financing statement, financing change statement or verification statement relating to this Promissory Note or the security interest granted hereunder.
 - (iii) The security interest constituted by this Promissory Note and any supplemental security given to the Creditor, is not and will not be subordinate to, nor is there any intention of the Debtors to subordinate such security interests to, any other security interests.
- 8. <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. The Debtor represents and warrants, jointly and severally, to the Creditor as follows and acknowledges that the Creditor is relying on the following representations and warranties:
 - (i) it has full power, authority and capacity to enter this Promissory Note;
 - (ii) the execution, delivery and performance of obligations under the Promissory Note do not violate or conflict with any applicable laws, any order or judgment of any court or other governmental authority applicable to it or any of its personal property or assets or any contractual restriction binding on or affecting it or any of its personal property or assets; and
 - (iii) this Promissory Note has been duly executed and delivered by such Debtor and constitutes an enforceable obligation against the Debtor in accordance with its terms.
- 9. <u>Events of Default</u>. The entire unpaid portion of the Principal Amount and all accrued and unpaid interest thereon shall, at the option of the Creditor,

automatically become immediately due and payable if any one or more of the following events of default (each, an "**Event of Default**") has occurred and is continuing:

- (i) the Debtor fails to make payment by the Maturity Date of the Principal Amount and all accrued interest owing thereon;
- (ii) one or more judgments or decrees shall be entered against the Debtor and such judgments or decrees shall not have been vacated, discharged, stayed, satisfied or bonded pending appeal within 30 days from the entry thereof;
- (iii) the Debtor shall: (a) become insolvent or generally fail to pay, or admit in writing its inability or unwillingness generally to pay, debts as they become due; (b) apply for, consent to, or acquiesce in, the appointment of a trustee, receiver, sequestrator or other custodian for the Debtor, or any substantial part of its property, or make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (c) in the absence of such application, consent or acquiescence, permit or suffer to exist the appointment of a trustee, receiver, sequestrator or other custodian for the Debtor, or for a substantial part of its property, and such trustee, receiver, sequestrator or other custodian shall not be discharged within 60 days, provided that the Debtor hereby expressly authorizes the Creditor to appear in any court conducting any relevant proceeding during such 60 day period to preserve, protect and defend its rights hereunder; (d) permit or suffer to exist the commencement of any bankruptcy, reorganization, debt arrangement or other case or proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency law, or any dissolution, winding up or liquidation proceeding, in respect of the Debtor, and, if any such case or proceeding is not commenced by the Debtor, such case or proceeding shall be consented to or acquiesced in by the Debtor or shall result in the entry of an order for relief or shall remain for 60 days undismissed, provided that the Debtor hereby expressly authorizes the Creditor to appear in any court conducting any such case or proceeding during such 60 day period to preserve, protect and defend its rights hereunder; or (e) take any action authorizing, or in furtherance of, any of the foregoing;
- (iv) the Debtor grants any security over any of the Debtor's property and assets, real and personal, tangible and intangible, of every nature and kind, to any other person or entity without the prior written consent of the Creditor;
- any holder of any security interest, mortgage, lien, charge, claim or encumbrance enforces against, delivers any notice relating to its rights or its intention to enforce against, or becomes entitled to enforce against or otherwise takes possession, management or control of any material portion of the Debtor's assets;

- (vi) if any representation or warranty made hereunder or pursuant to the Security Agreements, as and if applicable, by the Debtor shall be false, misleading or inaccurate when made hereunder;
- (vii) if the Debtor fails to observe or perform any covenant or provision contained in this Promissory Note, the Security Agreements or the Supply Agreement, or any other agreement to which the Debtor is a party, whether written or oral;
- (viii) enters into an agreement of any kind, whether binding or non-binding, to enter into a merger, acquisition, amalgamation or joint venture unless all amounts owing to the Creditor are paid in full;
- (ix) enters into an agreement of any kind, whether binding or non-binding to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any material property or assets unless all amounts owing to the Creditor are paid in full; and
- (x) the Creditor in good faith believes that the prospect of payout or repayment of all or any indebtedness, liabilities and other obligations of the Creditor is or is about to be materially impaired, the Creditor's security indebted in the Collateral is or is about to be placed in jeopardy.
- 10. <u>Remedies Upon Event of Default</u>. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Debtor, to the extent capable of being cured, shall have 5 days from the due date of such Event of Default (the "**Cure Period**") to cure the Event of Default to the satisfaction of the Creditor. If the Debtor does not cure such default within the Cure Period, the Creditor may declare the Principal Amount and all accrued interest owing thereon immediately due and payable. The Debtor agrees that all of the rights and remedies granted to the Creditor in this Promissory Note and any other documents or instruments in existence between the parties or contemplated hereby, and any other rights and remedies available to the Creditor at law or in equity, shall be cumulative. The exercise or failure to exercise any of the said remedies shall not constitute a waiver or release thereof or of any other right or remedy, and shall be non-exclusive.
- 11. <u>Waiver by the Debtor</u>. The Debtor waives demand, presentment for payment, notice of non-payment, notice of dishonour, notice of acceleration, and notice of protest of this Promissory Note. The Debtor also waives the benefit of any days of grace, the benefits of division and discussion and the right to assert in any action or proceeding with regard to this Promissory Note any set-offs or counterclaims which the Debtor may have against the Creditor.
- 12. <u>No Waiver by Creditor</u>. Neither the extension of time for making any payment which is due and payable under this Promissory Note at any time or times, nor the failure, delay, or omission of the Creditor to exercise or enforce any of its rights or remedies under this Promissory Note, shall constitute a waiver by the Creditor of its right to enforce any such rights and remedies subsequently. The single or partial exercise of any such right or remedy shall not preclude

the Creditor's further exercise of such right or remedy or any other right or remedy.

- 13. <u>Indemnity</u>. The Debtor shall indemnify and hold the Creditor harmless from and against all losses (including judgments, penalties and fines) suffered, and pay or reimburse the Creditor for all reasonable and documented out-ofpocket costs and expenses (including reasonable fees and disbursements of legal counsel to the Creditor) incurred by the Creditor in connection with, arising out of, or in any way related to: (i) this Promissory Note (whether asserted by the Creditor or the Debtor or any other person), including the prosecution or defense thereof and any litigation or proceeding with respect thereto (whether or not, in the case of any such litigation, governmental or otherwise, arising out of, related to, or in any way connected with, this Promissory Note.
- 14. <u>Expenses.</u> The Debtor will pay for all the legal expenses incurred by the Creditor in connection with this Promissory Note, all Security Agreements and the Supply Agreement, and all other ancillary documents related thereto, subject to a maximum of \$200,000.00.
- 15. <u>Amendment</u>. This Promissory Note may not be amended except as agreed in writing by the Debtor and the Creditor.
- 16. <u>Jurisdiction</u>. This Promissory Note is made under and shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicable in the Province of Ontario, and shall enure to the benefit of the Creditor and its successors and assigns, and shall be binding on the Debtor and their successors and permitted assigns.
- 17. <u>Business Days</u>. Should any payment of the Principal Amount or accrued interest owing thereon become due and payable on any day other than a Business Day ("**Business Day**" being any day not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday in Toronto, Ontario), the payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day and interest shall continue to accrue at the applicable rate until such payment is made, if applicable.
- 18. <u>Assignment and Enurement</u>. The rights and benefits of the Debtor hereunder shall not be assignable without the prior written consent of the Creditor. The Creditor may assign any of its rights and benefits hereunder without consent of the Debtor, provided that the Creditor provides written notice of such arrangement to the Debtor. This Promissory Note shall be binding upon and enure to be benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal representatives, heirs, successors and permitted assigns.
- 19. <u>Invalidity of Any Provisions</u>. Any provision of this Promissory Note prohibited by the laws of any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition without invalidating the remaining terms hereof or thereof and no such invalidity shall affect the obligation of the Debtor to repay to the Creditor the Principal Amount plus any accrued interest owing thereon.

20. <u>Notices</u>. Any demand, notice or other communication to be given in connection with this Promissory Note must be given in writing and may be given by personal delivery, by registered mail or by electronic means of communication, addressed to the recipient as follows:

To the Debtor:

2368523 Ontario Ltd. d/b/a Curative Cannabis 3513 Homewood Lane London, Ontario N6P 1K3

E-Mail: <u>david@curativecannabis.ca</u> <u>Attention</u>: David Shpilt

To the Creditor:

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. 777 Richmond St. W, Suite 002 Toronto ON M6J 3N5

Attention:General CounselEmail:legal@auxly.com

or such other street address, individual or electronic communication number or address as may be designated by notice given by either party to the other. Any demand, notice or other communication given by personal delivery will be conclusively deemed to have been given on the day of actual delivery thereof and, if given by electronic communication, on the day of transmittal thereof if given during the normal business hours of the recipient and on the next business day during which such normal business hours next occur if not given during such hours on any day.

- 21. <u>Further Assurances</u>. The Debtor shall do all such further acts, matters and things and execute and deliver all such further documents as shall be reasonably required by the Creditor in order to ensure that the terms and provisions of this Promissory Note are fully performed and carried out and to ensure that each provision of this Promissory Note is and continues to be a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Debtor enforceable against the Debtor in accordance with its terms.
- 22. <u>Headings</u>. All headings used herein are used for convenience only and shall not be used to construe or interpret this Promissory Note.
- 23. <u>Electronic Delivery</u>. Delivery of this Promissory Note by facsimile or by electronic transmission in portable document format (PDF) of an executed copy of this Promissory Note is as effective as delivery of an originally executed copy thereof.
- 24. <u>Independent Legal Advice</u>. Each party hereto acknowledges and agrees that it: (i) has been advised to seek independent legal advice; (ii) has sought such

independent legal advice or deliberately decided not to do so; (iii) understands its rights and obligations under this Promissory Note; and (iv) are executing this Promissory Note voluntarily.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank]

DATED effective this 23rd day of April, 2019

2368523 ONTARIO LTD. D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS

Per: Name: David Shpilt Title: Director

ACKNOWLEDGED, AGREED AND ACCEPTED ON THE DATE FIRST WRITTEN ABOVE

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

Per:

Name: Jeff Tung Title: COO

GRID	
------	--

Date	Principal Advanced	Repayments of Principal	Notes	Interest Paid	Initials
	Auvunecu	- of i fineipar			Interais
May 14, 2018	\$794,305.94	-	Land Option Exercise		
			Construction	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
October 11, 2018	\$393,295.29	-	Invoice		
			Construction		
November 12, 2018	\$867,208.41	-	Invoice		
			Construction		
December 13, 2018	\$63.46	-	Invoice		
	1		Construction		
December 13, 2018	\$68,511.90	-	Invoice		
			Construction		
December 13, 2018	\$22,837.30	-	Invoice		
D	¢ 400 577 00		Construction		
December 20, 2018	\$498,577.99	-	Invoice		
17 2010			Construction		
January 17, 2019	\$291,400.34	-	Invoice		
February 4, 2019	\$380,606.96	-	Construction		
			Invoice		
March 20, 2019	\$1,070,401.40	-	Construction		
			Invoice		
April 10, 2019	\$1,707,287.57		Construction		
April 10, 2019	Ş1,/07,207.37		Invoice		
May 2, 2019	\$1,475,952.02	-	Construction		
	Ş1,473,332.02		Invoice		
May 3, 2019	\$133,024.44	_	Construction		
			Invoice		
May 21, 2019	\$2,030,918.59		Distribution Line		
	÷2,030,510.35		Expansion		
May 21, 2019	\$486,355.71		Line Expansion		
			Deposit		
May 24, 2019	\$250,000.00	-	Flower Lighting		
			System		
May 29, 2019	\$837,031.10		Construction		
		∥	Invoice		
June 12, 2019	\$4,322.25		Security System		
June 20, 2019	\$4,830.75		Security System		
July 2, 2019	\$1,711,053.36		Construction		
	L		Invoice		

, <u>,</u>	\$13,093,897.78	
July 31, 2019	\$15,000	Clone Carts
		Equipment
		Unattached
July 19, 2019	\$50,913.00	Signage /

EXHIBIT "D"

This is **Exhibit "D"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

Mui

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020. **General Security Agreement**

between

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED D/B/A/ CURATIVE CANNABIS

and

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

made

April 23, 2019

.

221836/516417MT DOCS 19084746v6

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1	INTERPRETATION	1			
1.01	Interpretation				
1.02	Incorporated Definitions				
1.03	Headings				
1.04	Extended Meanings	2			
ARTICLE 2	GRANT OF SECURITY INTEREST	3			
2.01	Security Interest				
2.02	Attachment of Security Interest				
2.03	Exception for Contractual Rights				
2.04	Real Property	4			
ARTICLE 3 - REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS OF THE DEBTOR4					
3.01	Representations and Warranties	4			
3.02	Covenants	5			
ARTICLE 4 - INSURANCE					
4.01	Insurance	6			
ARTICLE 5	- DEALING WITH COLLATERAL	7			
5.01	Dealing with Collateral by the Debtor				
5.02	Rights and Duties of the Secured Party				
5.03	Registration of Securities				
5.04	Notification of Account Debtors				
5.05	Application of Funds	8			
ARTICLE 6	- DEFAULT AND REMEDIES				
6.01	Consequences of a Default				
6.02	Remedies				
6.03	Powers of the Receiver				
6.04	Liability of Secured Party				
6.05	Proceeds of Realization				
6.06	Waivers by Debtor	10			
ARTICLE 7	- GENERAL	10			
7.01	Failure of Debtor to Perform				
7.02	Appointment of Consultant				
7.03	Waivers of Legal Limitations				
7.04	Benefit of the Agreement				
7.05	Entire Agreement.	11			
7.06	Amendments and Waivers				
7.07	Assignment				
7.08	Severability				
7.09	Notices	12			

7.10	Remedies Cumulative; Additional Continuing Security	13
7.11	Further Assurances	
7.12	Power of Attorney	13
7.13	Discharge	
7.14	Governing Law	13
7.15	Copy of Documents and Consent to Filings	13
Schedule A.		1

General Security Agreement

This Agreement is made April 23, 2019

between

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED D/B/A/ CURATIVE CANNABIS, a corporation incorporated under the laws of Ontario (the "**Debtor**"),

and

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC., a corporation incorporated under the laws of British Columbia (the "Secured Party").

- A. The Debtor has issued the Promissory Note in favour of the Secured Party, pursuant to which certain loans amount have been and will be extended to the Debtor;
- B. The Debtor has agreed to grant a security interest and assignment, mortgage and charge in the Collateral to the Secured Party in order to secure the performance of its Obligations in accordance with the Debtor Security Agreements (as that term is defined in the Promissory Note);
- C. The Debtor confirms and acknowledges for avoidance of doubt that the security interest, assignment, mortgage and charge in the Collateral to the Secured Party secures the obligations of the Debtor owing to the Secured Party pursuant to the Original Promissory Note;
- D. The Debtor and the Secured Party will enter into a cannabis Supply Agreement on or around the date hereof.
- E. **NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES** that in consideration of the covenants and agreements herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - INTERPRETATION

1.1 Interpretation

In this Agreement, unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith:

"Agreement" means this agreement, including its recitals and schedules, as amended from time to time.

"Collateral" has the meaning set out in Section 2.1.

"Event of Default" means any of the events described as "Events of Default" in the Promissory Note.

"Guarantee" means the guarantee of the Debtor made as of April 23, 2019 in favour of the Secured Party, as amended from time to time.

"Finance Documents" means the Share Pledge Agreement and the Guarantee delivered to the Secured Party in connection with the Promissory Note.

"**Obligations**" means all obligations and liabilities of any kind whatsoever of the Debtor to the Secured Party in connection with or relating to the Promissory Note, including all debts and liabilities, present or future, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, matured or not, whenever, wherever and however incurred, in any currency at any time owing by the Debtor to the Secured Party or remaining unpaid by the Debtor to the Secured Party and whether the same is from time to time reduced and thereafter increased or entirely extinguished and thereafter incurred again, whether incurred by the Debtor alone or with another or others and whether as principal or surety or otherwise, including all interest, commissions, legal and other costs, charges and expenses.

"Original Promissory Note" means the promissory note dated October 1, 2018 between the Debtor and the Secured Party, as amended and restated by the Promissory Note.

"Policy" has the meaning set out in Section 4.1(2).

"**Promissory Note**" means the amended and restated promissory note made as of April 23, 2019 between the Debtor and the Secured Party as may be amended from time to time.

"Share Pledge Agreement" means the share pledge agreement made as of April 23, 2019 between David Sphilt, Scott Fitzgerald and the Secured Party.

"Supply Agreement" means the cannabis supply agreement to be entered into after the effective date of the Promissory Note, between the Debtor, Secured Party and Kolab Project Inc.

1.2 Incorporated Definitions

The terms "accessions", "accounts", "chattel paper", "documents of title", "goods", "instruments", "intangibles", "inventory", "money", "proceeds" and "securities" whenever used herein have the meanings given to those terms in the *Personal Property Security Act* currently in effect in the province referred to in Section 7.14 below.

1.3 Headings

The division of this Agreement into Articles and Sections and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and do not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement. The terms "hereof", "hereunder" and similar expressions refer to this Agreement and not to any particular Article, Section or other portion hereof. Unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith, references herein to Articles and Sections are to Articles and Sections of this Agreement.

1.4 Extended Meanings

In this Agreement words importing the singular number only include the plural and *vice versa*, words importing any gender include all genders and words importing persons include individuals, corporations, limited and unlimited liability companies, general and limited partnerships, associations, trusts, unincorporated organizations, joint ventures and governmental authorities. The term "including" means "including without limiting the generality of the foregoing".

ARTICLE 2 - GRANT OF SECURITY INTEREST-

2.1 Security Interest

As general and continuing security for the payment and performance of all Obligations, the Debtor hereby grants to the Secured Party a security interest in all of the Debtor's present and after-acquired undertaking and property, both real and personal, tangible and intangible, of every nature and kind, both present and future (collectively, the "**Collateral**"), and, as further general and continuing security for the payment and performance of the Obligations, the Debtor hereby also assigns the Collateral (other than trademarks) to the Secured Party and mortgages and charges the Collateral as and by way of a fixed and specific mortgage and charge to the Secured Party. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Collateral includes all right, title and interest that the Debtor now has or may hereafter have or acquire in any manner whatsoever (including by way of amalgamation) in all property of the following kinds:

- (a) <u>Receivables</u>: all debts, accounts, claims and choses in action for monetary amounts (collectively, the "**Receivables**");
- (b) <u>Inventory</u>: all inventory of whatever kind and wherever situated (collectively, the "**Inventory**");
- (c) <u>Equipment</u>: all machinery, equipment, fixtures, furniture, plant, vehicles and other tangible personal property that are not Inventory (collectively, the "Equipment");
- (d) <u>Chattel Paper</u>: all chattel paper;
- (e) <u>Documents of Title</u>: all warehouse receipts, bills of lading and other documents of title, whether negotiable or not;
- (f) <u>Securities</u>: all shares, bonds, debentures, and other securities (collectively, the "Securities");
- (g) <u>Intangibles</u>: all intangibles not otherwise described in this Section 2.1 including all goodwill, patents, trademarks, copyrights and other intellectual property;
- (h) <u>Instruments and Money</u>: all bills, notes, cheques and other instruments and all coins or bills or other medium of exchange adopted for use as part of the currency of Canada or of any foreign government;

- (i) <u>Books, Records, Etc.</u>: all books, invoices, documents and other records in any form evidencing or relating to the Collateral;
- (j) <u>Real Property</u>: all real and immovable property, both freehold and leasehold, together with all buildings and fixtures (collectively, the "**Real Property**"), and all rights under any lease or agreement relating to Real Property;
- (k) <u>Substitutions, Etc.</u>: all replacements of, substitutions for and increases, additions and accessions to any of the property described in this Section 2.1; and
- (I) <u>Proceeds</u>: all proceeds of any Collateral in any form derived directly or indirectly from any dealing with the Collateral or that indemnifies or compensates for the loss of or damage to the Collateral;

provided that the said grant of a security interest, assignment, mortgage and charge will not render the Secured Party liable to observe or perform any term, covenant or condition of any agreement, document or instrument to which the Debtor is a party or by which it is bound.

2.2 Attachment of Security Interest

The Debtor acknowledges that value has been given and agrees that the security interest granted hereby attaches upon the execution of this Agreement by the Debtor (or, in the case of any after-acquired property, at the time of acquisition by the Debtor of any rights therein).

2.3 Exception for Contractual Rights

The security interest granted hereby does not and will not extend to, and Collateral will not include any agreement, right, franchise, licence or permit (the "**contractual rights**") to which the Debtor is a party or of which the Debtor has the benefit, to the extent that the creation of the security interest herein would constitute a breach of the terms of or permit any person to terminate the contractual rights, but the Debtor must hold its interest therein in trust for the Secured Party and will assign such contractual rights to the Secured Party forthwith upon obtaining the consent of the other party thereto. The Debtor agrees that it will, upon the request of the Secured Party, use all commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any consent required to permit any contractual rights to be subjected to the security interest.

2.4 Real Property

(1) With respect to (and only to) Real Property, the security granted hereby is constituted by way of floating charge, but will become a fixed charge upon the earlier of (i) the Obligations becoming immediately payable, and (ii) the occurrence of any other event that by operation of law would result in such floating charge becoming a fixed charge.

(2) The assignment, mortgage and charge granted hereby will not extend to the last day of the term of any lease or agreement relating to Real Property, but the Debtor will hold such last day in trust for the Secured Party and, upon the enforcement by the Secured Party of its security, will assign such last day as directed by the Secured Party.

ARTICLE 3 - REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS OF THE DEBTOR

3.1 Representations and Warranties

The Debtor hereby represents and warrants to the Secured Party that:

- (a) the Debtor is a corporation duly incorporated, organized and subsisting under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation, with the corporate power to enter into this Agreement; this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Debtor and constitutes a valid and legally binding agreement enforceable against the Debtor in accordance with its terms; the making and performance of this Agreement will not contravene, result in a breach of ,constitute a default under or result in the creation of any lien, charge, security interest, encumbrance or any other rights of others upon any property of the Debtor pursuant to, any agreement, indenture or other instrument to which the Debtor is a party or by which the Debtor or any of its property may be bound or affected;
- (b) all financial information provided by the Debtor to the Secured Party is true, correct and complete; all financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied; there has been no material adverse change in the Debtor's financial condition since the date of the most recent financial statements provided to the Secured Party;
- (c) except as otherwise provided herein or disclosed in a schedule hereto, all of the Collateral is the sole property of the Debtor free from any liens, charges, security interests, encumbrances or any rights of others that rank prior to or *pari passu* with the security interest, assignment and mortgage and charge granted hereby;
- (d) the chief executive office and the registered office of the Debtor, and the office where the Debtor keeps its books & records relating to Receivables, are located at the addresses specified in Schedule A; and
- (e) the Inventory, Equipment and Securities of the Debtor are located10078 Longwoods Road, Chatham,Ontario specified in Schedule A, except for goods in transit or on lease or consignment.

3.2 Covenants

The Debtor covenants with the Secured Party that the Debtor will:

- (a) ensure that the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.1 and in the Promissory Note will be true and correct at all times;
- (b) maintain, use and operate the Collateral and carry on and conduct its business in a lawful and business-like manner;

- not permit the Collateral to be affixed to real or personal property so as to become a fixture or accession without the prior written consent of the Secured Party;
- (d) defend the Collateral against all claims and demands respecting the Collateral made by all persons at any time and, except as otherwise provided herein, keep the Collateral free and clear of all security interests, mortgages, charges, liens and other encumbrances or interests except for those disclosed in a schedule hereto or hereafter approved in writing by the Secured Party prior to their creation or assumption;
- (e) not change its chief executive office, the registered office or the location of the office where it keeps its records respecting the Receivables, or move any of the Inventory, Securities or Equipment from the locations specified in any schedule hereto, without the prior written consent of the Secured Party;
- (f) pay all rents, taxes, levies, assessments and government fees or dues lawfully levied, assessed or imposed in respect of the Collateral or any part thereof as and when the same become due and payable, and exhibit to the Secured Party, when required, the receipts and vouchers establishing such payment;
- (g) keep proper books of account in accordance with sound accounting practice, furnish to the Secured Party in writing such financial information and statements and all such information and statements relating to the Collateral as the Secured Party may from time to time require, permit the Secured Party or its authorized agents at any time at the expense of the Debtor to examine the books of account and other financial records and reports relating to the Collateral and to make copies thereof and take extracts therefrom;
- (h) permit the Secured Party from time to time at any reasonable time to inspect the Collateral and make copies of all information relating to the Collateral and for such purposes the Secured Party will have access to all premises occupied by the Debtor or where the Collateral may be found;
- enters into an agreement of any kind, whether binding or non-binding, to enter into a merger, acquisition, amalgamation or joint venture unless all amounts owing to the Creditor are paid in full;
- enters into an agreement of any kind, whether binding or non-binding to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any material property or assets unless all amounts owing to the Creditor are paid in full; and
- (k) pay to the Secured Party forthwith upon demand all reasonable costs, fees and expenses (including all legal, Receiver's, consulting and accounting fees and expenses) incurred by or on behalf of the Secured Party in connection with the preparation, execution, perfection, administration and discharge of this Agreement and the security granted hereby and the preservation and exercise of the rights, powers and remedies of the Secured Party, and all such costs, fees and expenses will bear interest at the highest rate borne by any of the Obligations and will form part of the Obligations.

ARTICLE 4- INSURANCE

4.1 Insurance

(1) The Debtor must obtain and maintain, at its own expense, insurance against loss or damage to the Collateral including loss by fire (including so-called extended coverage), theft, collision and such other risks as are customarily insured against for each type of Collateral, in an amount not less than the full replacement value thereof, in such form and with such insurers as are reasonably satisfactory to the Secured Party.

(2) It any policy of insurance referred to in Section 4.1(1) (a "**Policy**") contains a co-insurance clause, the Debtor will either cause any such co-insurance clause to be waived or maintain at all times a sufficient amount of insurance to meet the requirements of any such co-insurance clause so as to prevent the Debtor from becoming a co-insurer under the terms of any such policy.

(3) All Policies must name the Secured Party as an additional insured and loss payee thereof, as the Secured Party's interests may appear, and must provide that the insurer will give the Secured Party at least 15 days written notice of intended cancellation or non-renewal.

(4) At the Secured Party's request, the Debtor must furnish the Secured Party with evidence satisfactory to the Secured Party that the required insurance coverage is in effect.

(5) The Debtor must give the Secured Party notice of any damage to, or loss of, the Collateral forthwith upon the occurrence of any such damage or loss.

(6) Should the Debtor fail to make any payment or perform any other obligation provided in this Section, the Secured Party will have the right, but not the obligation, without notice or demand upon the Debtor and without releasing the Debtor from any obligation hereunder or waiving any rights to enforce this Agreement, to perform any or all of such obligations. The amount of all such payments made and all costs, fees and expenses incurred by the Secured Party in performing such obligations will be immediately due and payable by the Debtor.

ARTICLE 5 - DEALING WITH COLLATERAL

5.1 Dealing with Collateral by the Debtor

The Debtor must not sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any of the Collateral without the prior written consent of the Secured Party, except that the Debtor may, until an Event of Default occurs, deal with its money or sell items of Inventory in the ordinary course of its business so that the purchaser thereof takes title thereto free and clear of the security interest, assignment and mortgage and charge granted hereby, but all proceeds of any such sale will continue to be subject to the security granted hereby. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and the exercise by the Secured Party of any of its rights and remedies under Section 6.2, all money received by the Debtor will be held by the Debtor in trust for the Secured Party and must be held separate and apart from other money of the Debtor and paid over to the Secured Party on request.

5.2 Rights and Duties of the Secured Party

(1) The Secured Party may perform any of its rights and duties hereunder by or through agents and is entitled to retain counsel and to act in reliance upon the advice of such counsel concerning all matters pertaining to its rights and duties hereunder.

(2) In the holding of the Collateral, the Secured Party and any agent on its behalf is only bound to exercise the same degree of care as it would exercise with respect to similar property of its own of similar value held in the same place. The Secured Party and any agent on its behalf will be deemed to have exercised reasonable care with respect to the custody and preservation of the Collateral if it takes such action for that purpose as the Debtor reasonably requests in writing, but failure of the Secured Party or its agent to comply with any such request will not of itself be deemed a failure to exercise reasonable care.

5.3 Registration of Securities

The Secured Party may have any Securities registered in its name or in the name of its nominee and will be entitled but not required to exercise any of the rights that any holder of such Securities may at any time have. However, until an Event of Default has occurred and the Secured Party has exercised any of its rights and remedies under Section 6.2, the Debtor will be entitled to exercise, in a manner not prejudicial to the interests of the Secured Party or which would not violate or be inconsistent with this Agreement, all voting power from time to time exercisable in respect of the Securities. The Secured Party will not be responsible for any loss occasioned by its exercise of any of such rights or by failure to exercise the same within the time limited for the exercise thereof. The Debtor must from time to time forthwith upon the request of the Secured Party deliver to the Secured Party those Securities requested by the Secured Party duly endorsed for transfer to the Secured Party or its nominee.

5.4 Notification of Account Debtors

Before an Event of Default occurs, the Secured Party may give notice of this Agreement and the security granted hereby to any account debtor of the Debtor or to any other person liable to the Debtor and, after the occurrence of an Event of Default and the exercise by the Secured Party of any of its rights and remedies under Section 6.2, may give notice to any such account debtors or other person to make all further payments to the Secured Party. Any payment or other proceeds of Collateral received by the Debtor from account debtors or from any other person liable to the Debtor after the occurrence of such Event of Default and exercise of such rights and remedies will be held by the Debtor in trust for the Secured Party and must be held separate and apart from other money of the Debtor and paid over to the Secured Party on request.

5.5 Application of Funds

All money collected or received by the Secured Party in respect of the Collateral may be applied on account of such parts of the Obligations as the Secured Party in its sole discretion determines, or may be held unappropriated in a collateral account, or in the discretion of the Secured Party may be released to the Debtor, all without prejudice to the Secured Party's rights against the Debtor.

ARTICLE 6 - DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

6.1 Consequences of a Default

On or after the occurrence of any Event of Default that has not been either cured to the extent capable of being cured or waived, at the option of the Secured Party, any or all of the Obligations not yet payable will become immediately payable, without presentment, protest, notice of protest or notice of dishonour, all of which are expressly waived; the obligation, if any, of the Secured Party to extend further credit to the Debtor will cease; and the security granted hereby will become immediately enforceable.

6.2 Remedies

In addition to any right or remedy otherwise provided herein or by law, on or after the occurrence of any Event of Default that has not been either cured or waived, the Secured Party will have the rights and remedies set out below, all of which may be enforced successively or concurrently:

- (a) the Secured Party may take possession of the Collateral and require the Debtor to assemble the Collateral and deliver or make the Collateral available to the Secured Party at such places as may be specified by the Secured Party, and neither the Secured Party nor any Receiver will be or be deemed to be a mortgagee in possession by virtue of any such actions;
- (b) the Secured Party may take such steps as it considers desirable to maintain, preserve or protect the Collateral;
- (c) the Secured Party may carry on, or concur in the carrying on of, all or any part of the business of the Debtor;
- (d) the Secured Party may have, exercise or enforce any rights of the Debtor in respect of the Collateral;
- (e) the Secured Party may sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any portion or all of the Collateral at public auction, by private tender, by private sale or otherwise either for cash or upon credit, upon such terms and conditions as the Secured Party may determine and without notice to the Debtor unless required by law;
- (f) the Secured Party may accept all or any part of the Collateral in total or partial satisfaction of the Obligations in the manner provided by law;
- (g) the Secured Party may, for any purpose specified herein, including for the maintenance, preservation or protection of any Collateral or for carrying on any of the business or undertaking of the Debtor, borrow money on the security of the Collateral, which security will rank in priority to the security granted hereby;
- (h) the Secured Party may occupy and use all or any of the premises, buildings and plants occupied by the Debtor and use all or any of the Equipment and other property of the Debtor for such time as the Secured Party requires to facilitate the realization of the Collateral, free of charge and the Secured Party will not be liable for any rent, charges, depreciation or damages in connection with such
actions, nor will the Secured Party or any Receiver be or be deemed to be a mortgagee in possession by virtue of any such actions;

- (i) the Secured Party may appoint a receiver or receiver and manager (each herein referred to as the "Receiver") of the whole or any part of the Collateral and may remove or replace such Receiver from time to time or may institute proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a Receiver of the Collateral; and
- (j) the Secured Party may discharge any claim, lien, mortgage, charge, security interest, encumbrance or any rights of others that may exist or be threatened against the Collateral, and in every such case the amounts so paid together with costs, charges and expenses incurred in connection therewith will be added to the Obligations.

6.3 **Powers of the Receiver**

Any Receiver will have all of the rights and powers that the Secured Party is entitled to exercise pursuant to Section 6.2 but the Secured Party will not be in any way responsible for any misconduct or negligence of any such Receiver.

6.4 Liability of Secured Party

The Secured Party will not be liable or responsible for any failure to seize, collect, realize, or obtain payment with respect to the Collateral and is not bound to institute proceedings or to take other steps for the purpose of seizing, collecting, realizing or obtaining possession or payment with respect to the Collateral or for the purpose of preserving any rights of the Secured Party, the Debtor or any other person in respect of the Collateral. In the exercise of its rights and the performance of its obligations, the Secured Party will only be liable for gross negligence or wilful misconduct.

6.5 Proceeds of Realization

The Secured Party may apply any proceeds of realization of the Collateral to payment of costs, fees and expenses mentioned in Section 3.2(1)(k), including those related to the realization of the Collateral, and the Secured Party may apply any balance to payment of all other Obligations in such order as the Secured Party sees fit. If there is any surplus remaining, the Secured Party may pay it to any person entitled thereto by law of whom the Secured Party has knowledge and any balance remaining may be paid to the Debtor. If the realization of the Collateral fails to satisfy the Obligations, the Debtor will be liable to pay any deficiency to the Secured Party.

6.6 Waivers by Debtor

The Secured Party may grant extensions of time, take and perfect or abstain from taking and perfecting security, give up any security, accept compositions or compromises, grant releases and discharges, and otherwise waive rights against the Debtor, debtors of the Debtor, guarantors and others and with respect to the Collateral and other security as the Secured Party sees fit. No such action or omission will reduce the Obligations or affect the Secured Party's rights hereunder

ARTICLE 7 - GENERAL

7.1 Failure of Debtor to Perform

If the Debtor fails to perform any of its covenants or obligations under this Agreement, the Secured Party may, in its absolute discretion, but without being required to do so, perform any such covenant or obligation. If any such covenant or obligation requires the payment of monies, the Secured Party may make such payment. All sums so paid by the Secured Party will be payable by the Debtor to the Secured Party and, for greater certainty, Section 3.2(1)(k) will apply to such sums. No such performance or payment will relieve the Debtor from any default under this Agreement or any consequences of such default.

7.2 Appointment of Consultant

The Secured Party will be entitled to appoint a consultant to provide such services and advice as the Secured Party may determine in its sole discretion, with power to enter the Debtor's premises, to inspect and evaluate the Collateral, to make copies of the Debtor's records, to review the Debtor's business plans and projections, to assess the conduct and viability of the Debtor's business, to prepare reports on the Debtor's affairs and to distribute such reports to the Secured Party or to other such persons as the Secured Party may direct. Such consultant will act as an agent for the Secured Party and will owe no duty to the Debtor. The consultant is to have no managerial or advisory capacity and will have no decision making responsibility. The Debtor authorizes the Secured Party to provide confidential information to the consultant. All fees and expenses in connection with the engagement of a consultant are payable by the Debtor to the Secured Party and for greater certainty, Section 3.2(1)(k) will apply to such fees and expenses.

7.3 Waivers of Legal Limitations

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Debtor waives all of the rights, benefits and protections that is given by the provisions of any law that imposes limitations upon the powers, rights or remedies of a secured party, including any law that limits the rights of a secured party to both seize Collateral and sue for any deficiency following realization of Collateral.

7.4 Benefit of the Agreement

This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the respective successors and permitted assigns of the parties.

7.5 Entire Agreement

This Agreement has been entered into pursuant to the provisions of the Promissory Note and is subject to all the terms and conditions thereof and, if there is any conflict or inconsistency between the provisions of this Agreement and the provisions of the Promissory Note, the rights and obligations of the parties will be governed by the provisions of the Promissory Note. This Agreement cancels and supersedes any prior understandings and agreements between the parties with respect thereto. There are no representations, warranties, terms, conditions, undertakings or collateral agreements, express, implied or statutory, between the Secured Party and the Debtor with respect to the subject matter hereof except as expressly set forth herein or in the Promissory Note.

7.6 Amendments and Waivers

No amendment to this Agreement will be valid or binding unless set forth in writing and duly executed by all of the parties. No waiver of any breach of any provision of this Agreement will be effective or binding unless made in writing and signed by the party purporting to give the same and, unless otherwise provided, will be limited to the specific breach waived.

7.7 Assignment

The rights of the Secured Party under this Agreement may be assigned by the Secured Party without the prior consent of the Debtor. The Debtor may not assign its obligations under this Agreement.

7.8 <u>Severability</u>

If any provision of this Agreement is determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or unenforceable, that provision will be severed from this Agreement and the remaining provisions will continue in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to either of the parties.

7.9 Notices

Any demand, notice or other communication to be given in connection with this Agreement must be given in writing and may be given by personal delivery, by registered mail or by electronic means of communication, addressed to the recipient as follows:

To the Debtor:

2368523 Ontario Ltd. d/b/a Curative Cannabis 3513 Homewood Lane London, Ontario N6P 1K3

E-Mail: <u>david@curativecannabis.ca</u>

Attention: David Shpilt

To the Secured Party:

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. 777 Richmond St. W, Suite 002 Toronto, Ontario M6J 3N5

E-Mail: legal@auxly.com

Attention: General Counsel

or such other street address, individual or electronic communication number or address as may be designated by notice given by either party to the other. Any demand, notice or other communication given by personal delivery will be conclusively deemed to have been given on the day of actual delivery thereof and, if given by electronic communication, on the day of transmittal thereof if given during the normal business hours of the recipient and on the next business day during which such normal business hours next occur if not given during such hours on any day.

7.10 Remedies Cumulative; Additional Continuing Security

The rights and remedies of the Secured Party hereunder are cumulative and are in addition to and not in substitution for any other security now or hereafter held by the Secured Party or any other rights or remedies available at law or in equity or otherwise. No single or partial exercise by the Secured Party of any right or remedy precludes or otherwise affects the exercise of any other right or remedy to which the Secured Party may be entitled. This Agreement is a continuing agreement and security that will remain in full force and effect until discharged by the Secured Party.

7.11 Further Assurances

Each of the Debtor and the Secured Party will from time to time execute and deliver all such further documents and instruments, including financing statements and schedules, and do all acts and things as the other party may reasonably require to effectively carry out or better evidence or perfect the security granted hereby and the full intent and meaning of this Agreement.

7.12 Power of Attorney

The Debtor hereby irrevocably appoints any officer for the time being of the Secured Party the true and lawful attorney of the Debtor upon the occurrence of an Event of Default that is continuing, with full power of substitution, to do all things and execute and deliver all such documents and instruments, including financing statements and schedules, as are referred to in Section 7.11 above, with the right to use the name of the Debtor whenever and wherever the officer may deem necessary or expedient and from time to time to exercise all rights and powers and to perform all acts of ownership in respect to the Collateral in accordance with this Agreement.

7.13 Discharge

The Debtor will be entitled to a discharge of this Agreement upon written request by the Debtor and full and irrevocable payment, performance and satisfaction of the Obligations. No discharge will be effective unless in writing and executed by the Secured Party.

7.14 <u>Governing Law</u>

This Agreement is governed by and will be construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein.

7.15 Copy of Documents and Consent to Filings

The Debtor acknowledges having received a fully executed copy of this Agreement and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, waives all rights to receive from the Secured Party a copy of any financing statement, financing change statement, or verification statement, filed or issued at any time in respect of this Agreement. The Debtor confirms its consent to the filing by the Secured Party or on its behalf of any financing statement or financing change statement filed or issued at any time in respect of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement.

DEBTOR:		23 ONTARIO LTD. CURATIVE CANNABIS)	
April 23, 2019 Date of Execution	Per:	Name: David Shpilt Title: Director	c/s
	Per:	Name: Title:	
SECURED PARTY:	AUXL	Y CANNABIS GROUP INC.	
April 23, 2019 Date of Execution	Per:	Name: Jeff Tung Title: COO	c/s
	Per:	Name: Title:	

SCHEDULE A

To a General Security Agreement made as of April 23, 2019 between 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis as Debtor, and Auxly Cannabis Group Inc., as Secured Party

1. ADDRESS(ES) OF PLACE(S) OF BUSINESS, LOCATION OF BOOKS AND RECORDS RELATING TO RECEIVABLES (Section 3.01(d))

Chief executive office: 10078 Longwoods Road, Chatham, Ontario

Books & records relating to Receivables: 10078 Longwoods Road, Chatham, Ontario

2. 10078 Longwoods Road, Chatham, Ontario OF INVENTORY, EQUIPMENT AND SECURITIES (Section 3.01(e))

FIRSTLY:

PIN 00736-0250 (LT)

PART LOT 12 CONCESSION 1 CHATHAM, PART 1 24R9701; MUNICIPALITY CHATHAM-KENT

SECONDLY:

PIN 00736-0221 (LT)

PT LT 12 CON 1 CHATHAM AS IN 662017; CHATHAM-KENT

EXHIBIT "E"

This is **Exhibit "E"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

Martin

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Opires March 22, 2020.

DEMAND DEBENTURE

PRINCIPAL SUM: \$18,000,000

DATE: April 23, 2019

ARTICLE 1

PROMISE TO PAY

1.1 Promise to Pay: 2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED (d/b/a) Curative Cannabis) (the "Chargor"), for value received, hereby acknowledges itself indebted and covenants and promises to: (i) pay to AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC., its successors and assigns (the "Chargee"), at 777 Richmond Street West, Suite #002, Toronto, Ontario M6J 3N5 or at such other place in Canada as the Chargee may designate by notice in writing to the Chargor, ON DEMAND the principal amount of Eighteen Million Dollars (\$18,000,000) in lawful money of Canada and interest thereon, from and including the date hereof (or from and including the last interest payment date to which interest shall have been paid), at a rate of 10% per annum calculated semi-annually, not in advance, as well after as before maturity and both before and after demand, default and judgment, with interest on overdue interest at the same rate, and on all other amounts secured hereby; and (ii) perform the Obligations Secured (as hereinafter defined).

For the purposes of this Debenture, the term **"Obligations Secured"** means, without limitation or duplication, the Obligations and the covenants of the Chargor herein contained, and the principal, interest and other amounts payable hereunder or secured hereby.

1.2 Interpretation: In this Debenture, unless there is something in the subject matter or text that is inconsistent therewith, all capitalized terms used herein which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the amended and restated secured promissory note in the maximum principal amount of \$18,000,000 effective the date hereof granted by the Chargor in favour of the Chargee (the "**Promissory Note**"). In addition, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"Account" has the meaning set out in Section 3.9 hereof.

"Act" has the meaning set out in Section 2.1(b) hereof.

"Charged Premises" has the meaning set out in Section 2.1 hereof.

"Chargee" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 hereof.

"Chargor" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 hereof.

"Contract" has the meaning set out in Section 3.9 hereof.

"Documents" means the Promissory Note and all security documents granted by the Chargor as security for the Obligations.

"Excluded Collateral" has the meaning set out in Section 2.2 hereof.

"Leases" means all leases, subleases, licences and other occupancy or use agreements, affecting the Secured Property and all guarantees, amendments, renewals, supplements, restatements or other modifications thereof.

"**Obligations**" means all of the obligations, liabilities and indebtedness (present and future, absolute or contingent, matured or otherwise) of any kind whatsoever of the Chargor to the Chargee incurred, accruing or arising on or after the date hereof, including, without limitation, all advances of money made by the Chargee to the Chargor pursuant to the Promissory Note.

"Obligations Secured" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 hereof.

"Real Property" has the meaning set out in Section 2.1(a) hereof.

"Revenues" has the meaning set out in Section 2.1(b)(vi) hereof.

"Security Interests" has the meaning set out in Section 2.1 hereof.

"Secured Property" means the lands and premises described in Schedule A attached hereto, together with all rights and privileges appertaining thereto and all buildings, erections, improvements, fixtures and structures now or hereafter constructed or placed therein, thereunder or thereon.

ARTICLE 2

SECURITY

2.1 <u>Security</u>: As security for the due and timely payment and performance of the Obligations Secured, the Chargor:

- (a) mortgages and charges as and by way of a first fixed specific mortgage and charge to and in favour of the Chargee, all of its right, title, estate and interest, present and future, in and to: (i) the Secured Property; (ii) all easements, rightsof-way, licences and privileges appurtenant or appertaining to the Secured Property; and (iii) all interests in any of the foregoing and all benefits and rights to be derived by the Chargor in respect thereof (collectively, the "Real Property");
- (b) grants, conveys, mortgages, charges, pledges, assigns and creates a security interest in, as and by way of a fixed and specific mortgage, charge, pledge, assignment and security interest to and in favour of the Chargee of all of its right, title, estate and interest, present and future, in and to any and all personal property in which a security interest can be taken, reserved, created or granted whether under the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario) (the "Act"), any similar personal property security legislation in any jurisdiction in which any of the Charged Premises is located or otherwise under any statute or law or in equity and which is now or at any time hereafter acquires any interest of any nature whatsoever, including, without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, the interest of the Chargor in:
 - all materials, supplies, machinery, equipment, fixtures, inventory, vehicles, furniture, tools, accessories and appliances now or hereafter owned or acquired by or on behalf of the Chargor and every interest therein which the Chargor now has or hereafter acquires, wheresoever situate;
 - (ii) all present and future accounts (including, without limitation, cash collateral accounts), accounts receivable, money (including, without limitation, all money in any bank accounts), intangibles, claims, contract rights, demands, chattel papers, instruments, documents, notes and choses in action, together with any and all security therefor, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all present and future mortgage receivables, debentures, bonds, promissory notes, bills of exchange, judgments and book debts, now due or hereafter to become due to or owned by the Chargor, together with all securities, documents, computer disks, tapes, software or records now or hereafter owned by the Chargor and representing or evidencing the said debts, accounts, accounts receivable, claims, contract rights, demands and choses in action and all other rights and benefits in respect thereof;
 - (iii) all rights, agreements, licenses, permits, consents, policies, approvals, development agreements, building contracts, performance bonds, purchase orders, plans, patents, trademarks, copyrights and other industrial and intellectual property, goodwill, know-how, rights to carry on business and specifications presently owned and hereafter acquired by the Chargor;
 - (iv) all present and future computer hardware, software and programs, and all rights, agreements, licences, permits and consents in respect of or in any way relating to such computer hardware, software and programs

including, without limitation, all paper cards, magnetic tapes, discs, diskettes, drums or magnetic bubbles and whether permanently installed in hardware or crystallized in firmware;

- (v) all shares, stocks, warrants, bonds, debentures, debenture stock, partnership interests, joint venture interests or other securities investments now or hereafter owned by the Chargor;
- (vi) all rents, revenues, income, insurance proceeds, expropriation proceeds, other proceeds and other monies to which the Chargor may from time to time be entitled from all sources which pertain to or are derived from the Real Property or any part thereof including, without limitation, all income and proceeds (whether in cash or on credit) received or receivable by or on behalf of the Chargor in respect of the use, occupancy or enjoyment of any Real Property or any part thereof or for the sale of goods or the provision of services on, at or from any Real Property or from judgments, settlements or other resolutions of disputes relating to the ownership, use, construction, development, operation, maintenance or management of any Real Property (collectively, "Revenues"); and
- (vii) the benefit of any guarantees or indemnities relating to all or part of the property referred to in paragraph 2.1(b)(vi);

and with respect to paragraphs 2.1(b)(i) to (vii) inclusive, in, to and under all amendments, extensions, renewals, replacements and substitutions of any of the foregoing, all increases, additions and accessions thereto and all rights, remedies, powers, easements, privileges and claims of the Chargor thereunder (whether arising pursuant thereto or available to the Chargor at law or in equity) including without limitation, the right of the Chargor to enforce the foregoing and the obligations of the other parties thereto and to give or withhold any and all consents, requests, directions, approvals, extensions and/or waivers thereunder;

- (c) assigns, transfers and sets over unto and in favour of the Chargee, as and by way of a general assignment, all of its right, title, estate and interest present and future, in and to:
 - (i) the Leases and all benefits, powers and advantages of the Chargor to be derived therefrom and all covenants, obligations and agreements of the tenants thereunder or in any agreement collateral thereto including, without limitation, the benefit of any right, option or obligation of any tenant or other person to acquire any of the Real Property or an interest therein, to renew or extend any Lease, to lease other space and any other collateral advantage or benefit to be derived from the Leases or any of them;
 - (ii) all rents and other moneys now due and payable or hereafter to become due and payable under the Leases and each guarantee of or indemnity in respect of the obligations of the tenants thereunder with full power to demand, sue for recovery, receive and give receipts for all such rents and other moneys and otherwise to enforce the rights of the Chargor thereto in the name of the Chargor;
 - all present and future intangibles and the property and assets referred to in subsection 2.1(b) above including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all of its rights, title and interest in all present and future book debts, accounts and other accounts receivable, contract rights and choses in action;
 - (iv) any and all existing or future agreements, contracts, licences, permits, plans and specifications, bonds, letters of credit, letters of guarantee or other documents or instruments and all extensions, amendments, renewals or substitutions thereof or therefor which may hereafter be effected or

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19103021v1 entered into and all benefit, power and advantage of the Chargor to be derived therefrom;

- (v) any and all existing or future agreements of purchase and sale, options to purchase and mortgage, loan or other financing commitments and all proceeds and other moneys now due and payable or hereafter to become due and payable thereunder and all benefit, power and advantage of the Chargor to be derived therefrom; and
- (vi) the proceeds of any and all existing or future insurance policies pertaining to the Real Property or the property and assets referred to in subsections 2.1(b) and paragraphs 2.1(c)(i) to (v) inclusive and all proceeds of expropriation or similar taking of the Real Property or any part or parts thereof and all benefit, power and advantage of the Chargor to be derived therefrom; and
- (d) grants, conveys, mortgages, charges, pledges, assigns and creates a security interest in, as and by way of a fixed and specific mortgage, charge, pledge, assignment and security interest to and in favour of the Chargee, all of its right, title, estate and interest, present and future, in and to all personal property in any form (including money) derived, directly or indirectly, from any dealing with the property referred to in subsections 2.1(a) to (c) inclusive, or proceeds therefrom or that indemnifies or compensates for all or part of such property or proceeds therefrom that is destroyed and damaged;

provided that the said grants, conveyances, mortgages, charges, pledges, transfers, assignments and security interests created pursuant to this Section 2.1 (the "Security Interests") shall not: (i) extend or apply to any personal property that constitutes "consumer goods", as such term is defined in the Act; or (ii) extend to the last day of the term of any lease or any agreement therefor now held or hereafter acquired by the Chargor as lessee, but should such Security Interests become enforceable the Chargor shall thereafter stand possessed of such last day and shall hold it in trust for the Chargee for the purpose of this Debenture and assign and dispose thereof as the Chargee shall, for such purpose, direct. Upon any sale of such leasehold interest or any part thereof, the Chargee, for the purpose of vesting the aforesaid one day residue of such term or renewal thereof in any purchaser or purchasers thereof, shall be entitled by deed or writing to appoint such purchaser or purchasers or any other person or persons as new trustee or trustees of the aforesaid residue of any such term or renewal thereof in the place of the Chargor and to vest the same accordingly in the new trustee or trustees so appointed free and discharged from any obligation respecting the same.

All the undertaking, property and assets mortgaged and charged pursuant to Subsection 2.1(a) and all of the undertaking, property and assets granted, assigned, transferred, mortgaged and charged pursuant to Subsections 2.1(b) and (d) hereof being hereinafter collectively referred to as the "**Mortgaged Property**"; all the undertaking, property and assets assigned, transferred and set over pursuant to Subsections 2.1(c) being hereinafter collectively referred to as the "**Assigned Property**"; and the Mortgaged Property and Assigned Property being hereinafter collectively referred to as the "**Charged Premises**". Wherever used herein in relation to the rights and remedies of the Chargee the terms "Real Property", "Mortgaged Property", "Assigned Property" and "Charged Premises" shall, where the context permits, mean the whole or any part or parts thereof.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Charged Premises and all rights hereby conferred unto the Chargee, its successors and assigns, for the uses and purposes and with the powers and authorities and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.

2.2 <u>Excluded Collateral</u>: Notwithstanding anything contained in this Debenture, the Security Interests in respect of the Charged Premises, other than the Mortgaged Property referred to in Section 2.1(a), shall not extend or attach to the right, title, interest or benefit of the Chargor in any of the Charged Premises which by law cannot be assigned or charged or which requires the consent of any third party to such assignment or charge or which, if assigned or charged, would give rise to a default, penalty or right of termination (collectively the "**Excluded Collateral**"). The Chargor agrees that, at the reasonable request of the Chargee from time to time, it will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such consents in respect of the Excluded Collateral and

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19103021v1 to the transfer or assignment of the Excluded Collateral to any third party who may acquire an interest in the Charged Premises as a result of the exercise by the Chargee of its remedies hereunder. Upon such consent being obtained, the Security Interests shall apply to such Excluded Collateral without regard to this Section 2.2 and without the necessity of any further assurance to effect the Security Interests in respect thereto. Until such consent is obtained, the Chargor shall, to the extent that it may do so by law or under the terms of the Excluded Collateral and without giving rise to any default, penalty or right of termination, hold all right, title, benefit and interest to be derived therefrom in trust for the Chargee as additional security, as if the Security Interests applied, and shall deliver up such right, title, benefit and interest to the Chargee forthwith upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default.

2.3 <u>Delivery of Instruments, Securities, Etc.</u>: The Chargor shall, upon reasonable request from the Chargee, following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, forthwith deliver to the Chargee to be held by the Chargee hereunder all instruments, securities, letters of credit, advices of credit and negotiable documents of title in its possession or control which pertain to or form part of the Charged Premises, and shall, where appropriate, duly endorse the same for transfer in blank or as the Chargee may direct and shall make all reasonable efforts to deliver forthwith to the Chargee any and all consents or other instruments or documents necessary to comply with any restrictions on the transfer thereof in order to transfer the same to the Chargee.

2.4 <u>Registrations</u>: So long as any of the Obligations Secured shall remain unpaid and the Chargee continues to provide advances of money to the Chargor pursuant to the Promissory Note, the Chargor will, from time to time at the request of the Chargee, promptly effect all registrations, filings, recordings and all renewals thereof and all re-registrations, re-filings and re-recordings of or in respect of this Debenture and the Security Interests in such offices of public record and at such times as may be necessary or of advantage in perfecting, maintaining and protecting the validity, effectiveness and priority hereof and of the Security Interests; provided that the Chargee may effect all such registrations, filings, recordings, renewals, reregistrations, re-filings and re-recordings from time to time in its sole discretion at the expense of the Chargor.

ARTICLE 3

RIGHTS AND REMEDIES

3.1 <u>Remedies Upon Default</u>: Upon the occurrence of and during the continuance of any Event of Default, the Chargee may do any one or more of the following:

- (a) by written notice to the Chargor, declare the Obligations Secured to be immediately due and payable without the necessity of presentment for payment, or notice of non-payment and of protest (all of which are hereby expressly waived by the Chargor);
- (b) proceed to exercise any and all rights under this Debenture, the other Documents and any other document or instrument executed pursuant to this Debenture or any other rights otherwise available to it, whether under this Debenture, the other Documents or otherwise, including enforcement of this Debenture;
- (c) take any action or proceeding authorized or permitted by this Debenture, the other Documents or by law or equity, and file or cause to be filed on its behalf such proofs of claim and other documents as may be necessary or desirable to have its claims lodged in any bankruptcy, winding-up or other judicial proceeding relative to the Chargor;
- (d) take proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction for sale or foreclosure of all or any part of the Charged Premises;
- (e) immediately enter upon and take possession of, disable or remove all of the Charged Premises or any part or parts thereof with power, among other things, to exclude the Chargor, to preserve and maintain the Charged Premises and make additions and replacements thereto, to receive rents, income and profits of all kinds and pay therefrom all reasonable expenses of maintaining, completing,

repairing, preserving and protecting and operating the Charged Premises and all charges, payment of which may be necessary to preserve or protect the Charged Premises, and enjoy and exercise all powers necessary to the performance of all functions made necessary or advisable by possession, including, without limitation, power to advance its own moneys at the interest rate set forth above and enter into contracts and undertake obligations for the foregoing purposes upon the security hereof;

- (f) whether or not the Chargee has taken possession of the Charged Premises or any of it, sell, lease or otherwise dispose thereof, either as a whole or in separate parcels, at public auction, by public tender or by private sale, with only such notice as may be required by law, either for cash or upon credit, at such time and upon such terms and conditions as the Chargee may determine (including a term that a reasonable commission shall be payable to the Chargee or any related corporation in respect thereof) and enter into, rescind or vary any contract for the sale, lease or other disposition of any of the Charged Premises and sell, lease or dispose thereof again without being answerable for any loss occasioned thereby and the Chargee may execute and deliver to any purchaser of the Charged Premises or any part thereof good and sufficient deeds and documents for the same;
- (g) require the Chargor, at the Chargor's expense, to assemble the Charged Premises at a place or places designated by notice in writing given by the Chargee to the Chargor, and the Chargor agrees to so assemble the Charged Premises;
- (h) require the Chargor, by notice in writing given by the Chargee to the Chargor, to disclose to the Chargee the location or locations of the Charged Premises and the Chargor agrees to make such disclosure when so required by the Chargee;
- without legal process, enter any premises where the Charged Premises may be situated and take possession of the Charged Premises by any method permitted by law;
- (j) carry on all or any part of the business or businesses of the Chargor and, to the exclusion of all others, including the Chargor, enter upon, occupy and, subject to any requirements of law and subject to any leases or agreements then in place, use all or any of the Real Property, premises, buildings, plant, undertaking, assets and other property comprising the Charged Premises for such time and in such manner as the Chargee sees fit, free of charge and, except to the extent required by law, the Chargee shall not be liable to the Chargor for any act, omission or negligence in so doing or for any rent, charges, depreciation or damages or other amounts incurred in connection therewith or resulting therefrom;
- (k) borrow money for the purpose of carrying on the business of the Chargor or for the maintenance, preservation or protection of the Charged Premises and mortgage, charge, pledge or grant a security interest in the Charged Premises, whether or not in priority to the security interests created by this Debenture to secure repayment of any money so borrowed;
- (l) where the Chargee has taken possession of the Charged Premises, retain the Charged Premises irrevocably, to the extent not prohibited by law, by giving notice thereof to the Chargor and to any other persons required by law in the manner provided by law;
- (m) send or employ inspectors or agents to inspect, audit and report upon the value, state and condition of the Charged Premises;
- subject to applicable law, seize, collect, retain and administer the Charged Premises or any part or parts thereof in the Chargee's discretion;
- (o) pay any encumbrance, lien, claim or charge that validly exists or has been threatened against any of the Charged Premises and any amounts determined to be validly existing shall, when so paid, together with any costs, charges and expenses

incurred by the Chargee (including, without limitation, legal fees and disbursements on a solicitor-client basis), be added to the Obligations Secured and shall bear interest at the rate set forth above;

- (p) take proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce payment by the Chargor of the Obligations Secured or any deficiency remaining upon application of proceeds of realization which are actually received by the Chargee;
- (q) exercise or pursue any other remedy or proceeding authorized or permitted hereby or by the Act or any similar personal property security legislation or by any other legislation in any jurisdiction in which any of the Charged Premises is located or otherwise permitted by law or equity; and
- (r) with or without entry into possession of the Charged Premises, or any part thereof, appoint a receiver (which term shall include a receiver and manager) of the Charged Premises or any part thereof and of the rents and profits thereof pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of this Debenture and with or without security for the performance of the receiver's obligations and from time to time remove any receiver and appoint another in its stead. Upon the appointment of any such receiver or receivers from time to time, subject to applicable laws, the following provisions shall apply:
 - every such receiver shall be the irrevocable agent of the Chargor for all purposes with respect to the Charged Premises including, without limitation, for the collection of all Revenues owing or earned in respect of the Real Property or any part thereof;
 - (ii) every such receiver may, in the discretion of the Chargee, be vested with all or any of the powers and discretion of the Chargee under this Debenture, including, without limitation, the power to carry on all or any part of the business of the Chargor and to sell, lease or otherwise dispose of the Charged Premises, either as a whole or in separate parcels, at public auction, by public tender or by private sale, with only such notice as may be required by applicable laws, either for cash or on credit, at such time and upon such terms and conditions as the receiver may determine (including a term that a reasonable commission shall be payable to the receiver, or any related corporation in respect thereof) and enter into, rescind or vary any contract for the sale, lease or other disposition of any of the Charged Premises and sell, lease or dispose thereof again without being answerable for any loss occasioned thereby and the receiver may execute and deliver to any purchaser of the Charged Premises or any part thereof good and sufficient deeds and documents for the same and such receiver shall also have the power to take proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction for sale or foreclosure of all or any part of the Charged Premises;
 - the Chargee may from time to time fix the remuneration of every such receiver and every such receiver shall be entitled to deduct the same out of the income from the Charged Premises or the proceeds of disposition of the Charged Premises;
 - (iv) the appointment of every such receiver by the Chargee shall not, to the extent permitted by law, incur or create any liability on the part of the Chargee to the receiver in any respect and such appointment or anything which may be done by any such receiver or the removal of any such receiver or the termination of any such receivership shall not have the effect of constituting the Chargee a mortgagee in possession in respect of the Real Property or any part thereof;
 - (v) every such receiver shall, from time to time, have the power to lease or otherwise deal with any portion of the Real Property which may become vacant or available for lease on such terms and conditions as such receiver may deem advisable and shall have full power to complete any unfinished

construction upon the Real Property (such power of the receiver to include, without limitation, the power to borrow funds in the name of and on the credit of the Chargor for such purposes, which borrowings may be secured by the Charged Premises, or any part thereof, and which security shall have such priority as the receiver deems appropriate);

- (vi) every such receiver shall have full power to fully manage, develop, operate, lease, deal with agreements and Leases, construct, complete, repair, renovate or alter the Real Property or any part thereof on behalf of the Chargor and to take all such actions as are required in the exercise of such powers including, without limitation, entering into, amending and terminating such contracts and other agreements relating to the Charged Premises as are necessary or advisable, in the opinion of the receiver, and the entering into, renewal, amendment, supplement or termination of any agreements and Leases as the receiver may deem appropriate in its sole and absolute discretion; the aforementioned power shall include the power to borrow money in the name of and on the credit of the Charger for all such purposes (which borrowings may be secured by the Charged Premises, or any part thereof, and which security shall have such priority as the receiver deems appropriate);
- (vii) no such receiver shall be liable to the Chargor to account for monies other than monies actually received by or in respect of Charged Premises or any part thereof and out of such monies so received, every such receiver shall, subject to the further direction of the Chargee, in the following order pay:
 - (A) his remuneration aforesaid;
 - (B) all payments made or incurred by him in connection with the management, operation, construction, completion, repair or alteration of the Charged Premises or any part thereof in accordance with the provisions thereof;
 - (C) all payments of interest, principal and other money which may, from time to time, be or become charged upon the Charged Premises in priority to this Debenture or any other security granted to the Chargee as security for the Obligations Secured and all taxes, insurance premiums and every other proper expenditure made or incurred by him in respect of the Charged Premises or any part thereof and in payment of all interest, fees and other similar amounts due or falling due hereunder and the balance to be applied upon the Obligations Secured; and
 - (D) at the discretion of the receiver, interest, principal and other monies which may from time to time constitute an encumbrance on the Charged Premises subsequent or subordinate to this Debenture or any other security granted to the Chargee as security for the Obligations Secured;

and every receiver may in its discretion retain reasonable reserves to pay accruing amounts and anticipated payments in connection with any of the foregoing; and any surplus remaining in the hands of every such receiver after payments made as aforesaid shall be accountable to the Chargor and upon termination of the receivership such receiver shall pay such surplus to the Chargor or pay it into court, as the receiver may elect;

- (viii) the Chargee may at any time and from time to time terminate any such receivership by notice in writing to the Chargor and to any such receiver; and
- (ix) the receiver may carry out all actions and do all things that the Chargee may do under this Debenture as if it were the Chargee (it being agreed that

such powers are not in any way limited by the foregoing provisions of this Subsection 3.1(r)).

3.2 <u>Sale of Charged Premises</u>: The Chargor agrees that any sale referred to in Section 3.1 may be either a sale of all or any portion of the Charged Premises and may be by way of public auction, public tender, private contract or otherwise without notice, advertisement or any other formality, except as required by law, all of which the Chargor waives to the extent permitted by law. To the extent not prohibited by law, any such sale may be made with or without any special condition as to the upset price, reserve bid, title or evidence of title or other matter and from time to time as the Chargee in its sole discretion thinks fit with power to vary or rescind any such sale or buy in at any public sale and resell. The Chargee may sell the Charged Premises for a consideration payable by instalments either with or without taking security for the payment of such instalments and may make and deliver to any purchaser thereof good and sufficient deeds, assurances and conveyances of the Charged Premises and give receipts for the purchase money, and any such sale shall be a perpetual bar, both at law and in equity, against the Chargor and all those claiming an interest in the Charged Premises by, from, through or under the Chargor.

3.3 <u>References to the Chargee Include Receiver</u>: For the purposes of Sections 3.2, 3.4, 3.7, 3.8, 3.9, 3.10 and 3.11, a reference to the Chargee shall, where the context permits, include any receiver or receiver and manager or other agent on behalf of the Chargee.

3.4 <u>Chargor's Rights</u>: Until the Security Interests shall become and remain enforceable, the Chargor shall be entitled to deal with the Charged Premises and enforce, use and enjoy all of the benefits, advantages and powers thereunder as if this Debenture had not been made. Upon the Security Interests becoming and remaining enforceable, the Chargee may, but shall not be obligated to, exercise all rights, powers, authority and discretions of the Chargor in respect of the Charged Premises in its place and stead.

3.5 Judgment: Neither the taking of any judgment nor the exercise of any power of seizure or sale shall operate to extinguish the liabilities of the Chargor to make payment of the principal hereby secured or interest thereon or other moneys owing hereunder nor shall such operate as a merger of any covenant or affect the right of the Chargee to interest at the rate hereinbefore specified and any judgment shall bear interest at such rate.

3.6 <u>Interest</u>: If any amount payable to the Chargee under this Debenture is not paid when due, the Chargor will pay to the Chargee, immediately on demand, interest on such amount from the date due until paid, at an annual rate equal to the interest rate stipulated therefor in the Promissory Note. All amounts payable by the Chargor to the Chargee under this Debenture, and all interest on all such amounts will form part of the Obligations Secured and will be secured by the Security Interests.

- 3.7 <u>Charge as Security</u>:
 - (a) It is expressly acknowledged and agreed that nothing herein contained shall obligate the Chargee to assume or perform any obligation of the Chargor to any third party in respect of or arising out of any of the Charged Premises. The Chargee may, at its option, assume or perform any such obligations as the Chargee considers necessary or desirable to obtain the benefit of the Charged Premises free of any set-off, deduction or abatement and any money expended by the Chargee in this regard shall form part of and shall be deemed to form part of the Obligations Secured and bear interest at the rate stipulated in Section 3.6.
 - (b) The exercise by the Chargee of its rights under this Debenture or the assumption after any Event of Default of certain obligations of the Chargor as referred to in Subsection 3.7(a) above shall not constitute or have the effect of making the Chargee a mortgagee in possession. Care, control and management of the Charged Premises shall remain and shall be deemed to be with the Chargor in the absence of clear and unequivocal action by the Chargee depriving the Charger of such care, control and management and the assumption thereof by the Chargee.

3.8 <u>Limitations on Chargee's Liability</u>: The Chargee will not be liable to the Chargor or any other person for any failure or delay in exercising any of the rights of the Chargee under this Debenture (including any failure to take possession of, collect, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of

any Charged Premises, or to preserve rights against prior parties). Neither the Chargee, nor any receiver or agent of the Chargee is required to take, or will have any liability for any failure to take or delay in taking, any steps necessary or advisable to preserve rights against other persons under any Charged Premises in its possession. Neither the Chargee nor any receiver or agent will be liable for any, and the Chargor will bear the full risk of all, loss or damage to any and all of the Charged Premises (including any Charged Premises in the possession of the Chargee or any receiver or agent) caused for any reason other than the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of the Chargee or such receiver or agent.

Debtor Remains Liable under Accounts and Contracts: Notwithstanding any provision of 3.9 this Debenture, the Chargor will remain liable under each of the agreements, contracts, leases and other documents comprising the Charged Premises (each a "Contract") to pay and satisfy all indebtedness, liabilities and other monetary obligations and to observe and perform all the conditions and obligations which are to be paid, satisfied, observed and performed by the Chargor thereunder, all in accordance with the terms of each such Contract. The Chargee will have no obligation or liability under any account or monetary obligation (an "Account") (or any Contract giving rise thereto) or Contract by reason of or arising out of this Debenture or the receipt by the Chargee of any payment relating to such Account or Contract pursuant hereto, and in particular (but without limitation), the Chargee will not be obligated in any manner to perform any of the obligations of the Chargor under or pursuant to any Account (or any Contract giving rise thereto) or under or pursuant to any Contract, to make any payment, to make any inquiry as to the nature or the sufficiency of any payment received by it or as to the sufficiency of any performance by any party under any Account (or any Contract giving rise thereto) or under any Contract, to present or file any claim, to take any action to enforce any performance or to collect the payment of any amounts which may have been assigned to it or to which it may be entitled at any time.

3.10 <u>Dealings by Chargee</u>: The Chargee will not be obliged to exhaust its recourse against the Chargor or any other person or against any other security it may hold in respect of the Obligations Secured before realizing upon or otherwise dealing with the Charged Premises in such manner as the Chargee may consider desirable. The Chargee may grant extensions of time and other indulgences, take and give up security, accept compositions, grant releases and discharges and otherwise deal with the Chargor and any other person, and with any or all of the Charged Premises, and with other security and sureties, as the Chargee may see fit, all without prejudice to the Obligations Secured or to the rights and remedies of the Chargee under this Debenture or the other Documents. The powers conferred on the Chargee under this Debenture are solely to protect the interests of the Chargee in the Charged Premises and will not impose any duty upon the Chargee to exercise any such powers.

- 3.11 Possession of Charged Premises:
 - (a) Where any Charged Premises is in the possession of the Chargee or any receiver or agent:
 - (i) the Chargee shall only have the duty of care with respect to such Charged Premises as would a reasonable and prudent owner, including the duty to use reasonable care in the custody and preservation thereof, provided that the Chargee need not take any steps of any nature to defend or preserve the rights of the Chargor therein against the claims or demands of others or to preserve rights therein against prior parties;
 - (ii) the Chargee may, at any time following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, grant or otherwise create a security interest in such Charged Premises upon any terms provided that such terms do not impair the Chargor's right to redeem such Charged Premises; and
 - (iii) the Chargee may, at any time following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, use such Charged Premises in any manner and to such extent as it deems necessary or desirable.

3.12 <u>After Acquired Property</u>: The Chargor covenants and agrees that, if and to the extent that any of its respective rights, titles, estates and interests in any of the Charged Premises is not acquired until after delivery of this Debenture, this Debenture shall nonetheless apply thereto and

the Security Interests shall attach to such Charged Premises at the same time as the Chargor acquires rights therein, without the necessity of any further mortgage, charge, pledge, assignment or assurance and thereafter such Charged Premises shall be subject to the Security Interests in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.1 hereof.

3.13 <u>Attachment</u>: The Chargor hereby acknowledges and agrees that value has been given for the granting of the Security Interests and that there is no agreement between the Chargor and the Chargee, express or implied, to postpone the attachment of the Security Interests except in respect of after-acquired property forming part of the Charged Premises with respect to which the Security Interests shall attach at the same time as the Chargor acquires rights therein or thereto.

3.14 <u>Indemnity</u>: The Chargor agrees to indemnify the Chargee from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against the Chargee and arising by reason of any action (including any action referred to in this Debenture) or inaction or omission to do any act legally required by the Chargor. This indemnification will survive the satisfaction, release or extinguishment of the Obligations Secured and the Security Interests.

ARTICLE 4

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Remedies Cumulative and Waivers: For greater certainty, it is expressly understood and 4.1 agreed that the rights and remedies of the Chargee hereunder or under any other Document or instrument executed pursuant to or in connection with this Debenture or the Promissory Note are cumulative and are in addition to and not in substitution for any rights or remedies provided by law or by equity; and any single or partial exercise by the Chargee of any right or remedy for a default or breach of any term, covenant, condition or agreement contained in this Debenture or other Document or instrument executed pursuant to or in connection with this Debenture or the Promissory Note shall not be deemed to be a waiver of or to alter, affect or prejudice any other right or remedy or other rights or remedies to which the Chargee may be lawfully entitled for such default or breach. Any waiver by the Chargee of the strict observance, performance or compliance with any term, covenant, condition or agreement herein contained and any indulgence granted either expressly or by course of conduct by the Chargee shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which it was given and shall be deemed not to be a waiver of any rights and remedies of the Chargee under this Debenture or other Document or instrument executed pursuant to this Debenture or the Promissory Note as a result of any other default or breach hereunder or thereunder.

4.2 <u>Termination</u>: The Chargee covenants and agrees with the Chargor that, if the Chargor pay the Obligations Secured and the Chargor performs, satisfies and extinguishes all other Obligations Secured and if the Chargee has no further obligations to provide or continue to provide advances of money to the Chargor pursuant to the Promissory Note, upon the request and at the expense of the Chargor, the Chargee shall execute such instruments, discharges or re-assignments and give such notification or assurances as the Chargor may properly require to fully release, discharge and cancel this Debenture in the circumstances.

4.3 <u>Notice</u>: Subject to the last sentence of this Section 4.3, any demand, notice, consent or other communication to be made or given hereunder shall be in writing and may be made or given by delivery or by transmittal by telecopy addressed to the respective parties as follows:

(a) to the Chargor, at:

2368523 Ontario Ltd. d/b/a Curative Cannabis 3513 Homewood Lane London, Ontario N6P 1K3

E-Mail: <u>david@curativecannabis.ca</u> <u>Attention</u>: David Shpilt

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19103021v1 (b) to the Chargee, at:

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. 777 Richmond St. W, Suite 002 Toronto ON M6J 3N5

Attention:General CounselEmail:legal@auxly.com

or such other street address or email address as may be designated by notice given by either party to the other. Any demand, notice or other communication given by personal delivery will be conclusively deemed to have been given on the day of actual delivery thereof and, if given by electronic communication, on the day of transmittal thereof if given during the normal business hours of the recipient and on the next business day during which such normal business hours next occur if not given during such hours on any day.

4.4 <u>Further Assurances</u>: Each party shall, at its own expense, promptly execute and deliver to the other upon request all such other and further documents, agreements, opinions, certificates and other instruments in compliance with or accomplishment of their covenants and agreements hereunder or under any document to be delivered pursuant hereto or otherwise necessary to make any recording, file any notice or obtain any consent, all as may be reasonably necessary and appropriate in connection herewith.

4.5 <u>Continuing Security</u>: This Debenture and the rights and remedies it creates are a continuing agreement and security and shall bind the parties until discharge of this Debenture as provided in Section 4.2 hereof. No payment by the Chargor of the whole or any part of any Obligations Secured shall reduce the amount secured hereby unless specifically appropriated to and noted on this Debenture by the Chargee.

4.6 <u>Agreement Paramount</u>: In the event of any inconsistency or conflict between the terms of this Debenture and any pledge of this Debenture, the terms of such pledge shall govern.

4.7 <u>Amendment of Agreement</u>: No supplement, modification, amendment, waiver or termination of this Debenture shall be binding unless executed in writing by all parties hereto. No waiver of any provision of this Debenture shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provision of this Debenture (whether or not similar) nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise so expressed or provided.

4.8 <u>Invalidity of Provisions</u>: If any of the provisions in this Debenture should be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

4.9 <u>Time</u>: Time shall be of the essence in this Debenture.

4.10 <u>Successors and Assigns</u>: This Debenture and all its provisions shall enure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the Chargee and the Chargor and their respective permitted successors and permitted assigns.

4.11 <u>No Assignment by Chargor</u>: The Chargor may not assign its obligations under this Debenture.

4.12 <u>Attorney</u>: The Chargor hereby irrevocably nominates, constitutes and appoints the Chargee and each of its officers holding office from time to time as the true and lawful attorney of the Chargor with power of substitution in the name of the Chargor to, after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, do any and all such acts and things or execute and deliver all such agreements, documents and instruments as the Chargee reasonably considers necessary or desirable to carry out the provisions and purposes of this Debenture or to exercise any of its rights and remedies hereunder and the Chargor hereby ratifies and agrees to ratify all reasonable acts of any such attorney taken or done in accordance with this Section 4.12. Without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Chargee shall have the right to execute for and in the name of the Chargor all financing statements, financing change statements, conveyances, transfers, assignments, consents and other instruments as may be required for such

purposes. This power of attorney shall not be revoked or terminated by any act or thing other than the discharge of this Debenture in accordance with Section 4.2.

4.13 <u>Acknowledgement by Chargor</u>: The Chargor acknowledges receipt of a copy of this Debenture and hereby expressly waives the right to receive a copy of any financing statement or a copy of the statement confirming the registration of any financing statement that may be registered in connection with any security interest created under this Debenture.

4.14 <u>Applicable Laws</u>: This Debenture shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein and shall be treated in all respects as an Ontario contract.

4.15 <u>Attornment</u>: The Chargor submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any court in the Province of Ontario in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Debenture, and the Chargor irrevocably agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in any such court or in any other court of competent jurisdiction selected by the Chargee.

4.16 <u>Non-Negotiable</u>: This debenture is not a negotiable instrument.

4.17 *Land Registration Reform Act*: The implied covenants deemed to be included in a charge under Subsection 7(1) of the *Land Registration Reform Act* (Ontario) shall, to the extent same are inconsistent with the terms hereof, be and are hereby expressly excluded and replaced by the terms of this Debenture.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Chargor has duly executed this Debenture as of the date first written above.

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED

By:

Name: David Shpilt Title: Director

By:

Name: Title:

I/We have authority to bind the Corporation.

SCHEDULE A

Legal Description of the Secured Property

FIRSTLY:

PIN 00736-0250 (LT)

PART LOT 12 CONCESSION 1 CHATHAM, PART 1 24R9701; MUNICIPALITY CHATHAM-KENT

SECONDLY:

PIN 00736-0221 (LT)

PT LT 12 CON 1 CHATHAM AS IN 662017; CHATHAM-KENT

EXHIBIT "F"

This is **Exhibit "F"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

Ala

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020.

LRO # 24 Charge/Mortgage

The applicant(s) hereby applies to the Land Registrar.

yyyy mm dd Page 1 of 17

Propertie	295	
PIN	00736 - 0221 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple	
Description	PT LT 12 CON 1 CHATHAM AS IN 662017; CHATHAM-KENT	
Address	10078 LONGWOODS ROAD CHATHAM	
PIN	00736 - 0250 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple	
Description	PART LOT 12 CONCESSION 1 CHATHAM, PART 1 24R9701; MUNICIPALITY CHATHAM-KENT	
Address	RR 1 CHATHAM	

Chargor(s)

The chargor(s) hereby charges the land to the chargee(s). The chargor(s) acknowledges the receipt of the charge and the standard charge terms, if any.

Name	2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED	
Address for Service	d/b/a Curative Cannabis	
	3513 Homewood Lane	
	London, ON	
	N6P 1K3	
I, David Shpilt, Director, have the authority to bind the corporation.		
This document is not authorized under Power of Attorney by this party.		

Chargee(s) Capacity Share Name AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC. Address for Service 777 Richmond Street West Suite #002 Toronto, ON M6J 3N5 Statements

Schedule: See Schedules

Principal	\$18,000,000.00	Currency	CDN
Calculation Period			
Balance Due Date	On Demand		
Interest Rate	10%		
Payments			
Interest Adjustment Date			
Payment Date			
First Payment Date			
Last Payment Date			
Standard Charge Terms			
Insurance Amount	Full insurable value		
Guarantor			

Signed By

Nicolina Perrone

Box 48 Suite 5300, TD Bank Tower acting for Toronto Chargor(s) M5K 1E6

2019 04 24 Signed

Tel 416-362-1812

Fax 416-868-0673

I have the authority to sign and register the document on behalf of the Chargor(s).

LRO # 24 Charge/Mortgage

yyyy mm dd Page 2 of 17

Submitted By		
MCCARTHY TETRAULT LLP	Box 48 Suite 5300, TD Bank Tower Toronto M5K 1E6	2019 04 24
Tel 416-362-1812		
Fax 416-868-0673		
Fees/Taxes/Payment		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Statutory Registration Fee	\$64.40	
Total Paid	\$64.40	
File Number		<u> </u>
Chargee Client File Number :	221836-516417	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

DEMAND DEBENTURE

PRINCIPAL SUM: \$18,000,000

DATE: April 23, 2019

ARTICLE 1

PROMISE TO PAY

1.1 Promise to Pay: 2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED (d/b/a) Curative Cannabis) (the "Chargor"), for value received, hereby acknowledges itself indebted and covenants and promises to: (i) pay to AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC., its successors and assigns (the "Chargee"), at 777 Richmond Street West, Suite #002, Toronto, Ontario M6J 3N5 or at such other place in Canada as the Chargee may designate by notice in writing to the Chargor, ON DEMAND the principal amount of Eighteen Million Dollars (\$18,000,000) in lawful money of Canada and interest thereon, from and including the date hereof (or from and including the last interest payment date to which interest shall have been paid), at a rate of 10% per annum calculated semi-annually, not in advance, as well after as before maturity and both before and after demand, default and judgment, with interest on overdue interest at the same rate, and on all other amounts secured hereby; and (ii) perform the Obligations Secured (as hereinafter defined).

For the purposes of this Debenture, the term **"Obligations Secured"** means, without limitation or duplication, the Obligations and the covenants of the Chargor herein contained, and the principal, interest and other amounts payable hereunder or secured hereby.

1.2 <u>Interpretation</u>: In this Debenture, unless there is something in the subject matter or text that is inconsistent therewith, all capitalized terms used herein which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the amended and restated secured promissory note in the maximum principal amount of \$18,000,000 effective the date hereof granted by the Chargor in favour of the Chargee (the "**Promissory Note**"). In addition, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"Account" has the meaning set out in Section 3.9 hereof.

"Act" has the meaning set out in Section 2.1(b) hereof.

"Charged Premises" has the meaning set out in Section 2.1 hereof.

"Chargee" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 hereof.

"Chargor" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 hereof.

"Contract" has the meaning set out in Section 3.9 hereof.

"**Documents**" means the Promissory Note and all security documents granted by the Chargor as security for the Obligations.

"Excluded Collateral" has the meaning set out in Section 2.2 hereof.

"Leases" means all leases, subleases, licences and other occupancy or use agreements, affecting the Secured Property and all guarantees, amendments, renewals, supplements, restatements or other modifications thereof.

"**Obligations**" means all of the obligations, liabilities and indebtedness (present and future, absolute or contingent, matured or otherwise) of any kind whatsoever of the Chargor to the Chargee incurred, accruing or arising on or after the date hereof, including, without limitation, all advances of money made by the Chargee to the Chargor pursuant to the Promissory Note.

"Obligations Secured" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 hereof.

"Real Property" has the meaning set out in Section 2.1(a) hereof.

"Revenues" has the meaning set out in Section 2.1(b)(vi) hereof.

"Security Interests" has the meaning set out in Section 2.1 hereof.

"Secured Property" means the lands and premises described in Schedule A attached hereto, together with all rights and privileges appertaining thereto and all buildings, erections, improvements, fixtures and structures now or hereafter constructed or placed therein, thereunder or thereon.

ARTICLE 2

SECURITY

2.1 <u>Security</u>: As security for the due and timely payment and performance of the Obligations Secured, the Chargor:

- (a) mortgages and charges as and by way of a first fixed specific mortgage and charge to and in favour of the Chargee, all of its right, title, estate and interest, present and future, in and to: (i) the Secured Property; (ii) all easements, rightsof-way, licences and privileges appurtenant or appertaining to the Secured Property; and (iii) all interests in any of the foregoing and all benefits and rights to be derived by the Chargor in respect thereof (collectively, the "Real Property");
- (b) grants, conveys, mortgages, charges, pledges, assigns and creates a security interest in, as and by way of a fixed and specific mortgage, charge, pledge, assignment and security interest to and in favour of the Chargee of all of its right, title, estate and interest, present and future, in and to any and all personal property in which a security interest can be taken, reserved, created or granted whether under the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario) (the "Act"), any similar personal property security legislation in any jurisdiction in which any of the Charged Premises is located or otherwise under any statute or law or in equity and which is now or at any time hereafter owned by the Chargor or in which the Chargor now has or at any time hereafter acquires any interest of any nature whatsoever, including, without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, the interest of the Chargor in:
 - all materials, supplies, machinery, equipment, fixtures, inventory, vehicles, furniture, tools, accessories and appliances now or hereafter owned or acquired by or on behalf of the Chargor and every interest therein which the Chargor now has or hereafter acquires, wheresoever situate;
 - (ii) all present and future accounts (including, without limitation, cash collateral accounts), accounts receivable, money (including, without limitation, all money in any bank accounts), intangibles, claims, contract rights, demands, chattel papers, instruments, documents, notes and choses in action, together with any and all security therefor, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all present and future mortgage receivables, debentures, bonds, promissory notes, bills of exchange, judgments and book debts, now due or hereafter to become due to or owned by the Chargor, together with all securities, documents, computer disks, tapes, software or records now or hereafter owned by the Chargor and representing or evidencing the said debts, accounts, accounts receivable, claims, contract rights, demands and choses in action and all other rights and benefits in respect thereof;
 - (iii) all rights, agreements, licenses, permits, consents, policies, approvals, development agreements, building contracts, performance bonds, purchase orders, plans, patents, trademarks, copyrights and other industrial and intellectual property, goodwill, know-how, rights to carry on business and specifications presently owned and hereafter acquired by the Chargor;
 - (iv) all present and future computer hardware, software and programs, and all rights, agreements, licences, permits and consents in respect of or in any way relating to such computer hardware, software and programs

including, without limitation, all paper cards, magnetic tapes, discs, diskettes, drums or magnetic bubbles and whether permanently installed in hardware or crystallized in firmware;

- (v) all shares, stocks, warrants, bonds, debentures, debenture stock, partnership interests, joint venture interests or other securities investments now or hereafter owned by the Chargor;
- (vi) all rents, revenues, income, insurance proceeds, expropriation proceeds, other proceeds and other monies to which the Chargor may from time to time be entitled from all sources which pertain to or are derived from the Real Property or any part thereof including, without limitation, all income and proceeds (whether in cash or on credit) received or receivable by or on behalf of the Chargor in respect of the use, occupancy or enjoyment of any Real Property or any part thereof or for the sale of goods or the provision of services on, at or from any Real Property or from judgments, settlements or other resolutions of disputes relating to the ownership, use, construction, development, operation, maintenance or management of any Real Property (collectively, "Revenues"); and
- (vii) the benefit of any guarantees or indemnities relating to all or part of the property referred to in paragraph 2.1(b)(vi);

and with respect to paragraphs 2.1(b)(i) to (vii) inclusive, in, to and under all amendments, extensions, renewals, replacements and substitutions of any of the foregoing, all increases, additions and accessions thereto and all rights, remedies, powers, easements, privileges and claims of the Chargor thereunder (whether arising pursuant thereto or available to the Chargor at law or in equity) including without limitation, the right of the Chargor to enforce the foregoing and the obligations of the other parties thereto and to give or withhold any and all consents, requests, directions, approvals, extensions and/or waivers thereunder;

- (c) assigns, transfers and sets over unto and in favour of the Chargee, as and by way of a general assignment, all of its right, title, estate and interest present and future, in and to:
 - (i) the Leases and all benefits, powers and advantages of the Chargor to be derived therefrom and all covenants, obligations and agreements of the tenants thereunder or in any agreement collateral thereto including, without limitation, the benefit of any right, option or obligation of any tenant or other person to acquire any of the Real Property or an interest therein, to renew or extend any Lease, to lease other space and any other collateral advantage or benefit to be derived from the Leases or any of them;
 - (ii) all rents and other moneys now due and payable or hereafter to become due and payable under the Leases and each guarantee of or indemnity in respect of the obligations of the tenants thereunder with full power to demand, sue for recovery, receive and give receipts for all such rents and other moneys and otherwise to enforce the rights of the Chargor thereto in the name of the Chargor;
 - all present and future intangibles and the property and assets referred to in subsection 2.1(b) above including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all of its rights, title and interest in all present and future book debts, accounts and other accounts receivable, contract rights and choses in action;
 - (iv) any and all existing or future agreements, contracts, licences, permits, plans and specifications, bonds, letters of credit, letters of guarantee or other documents or instruments and all extensions, amendments, renewals or substitutions thereof or therefor which may hereafter be effected or

entered into and all benefit, power and advantage of the Chargor to be derived therefrom;

- (v) any and all existing or future agreements of purchase and sale, options to purchase and mortgage, loan or other financing commitments and all proceeds and other moneys now due and payable or hereafter to become due and payable thereunder and all benefit, power and advantage of the Chargor to be derived therefrom; and
- (vi) the proceeds of any and all existing or future insurance policies pertaining to the Real Property or the property and assets referred to in subsections 2.1(b) and paragraphs 2.1(c)(i) to (v) inclusive and all proceeds of expropriation or similar taking of the Real Property or any part or parts thereof and all benefit, power and advantage of the Chargor to be derived therefrom; and
- (d) grants, conveys, mortgages, charges, pledges, assigns and creates a security interest in, as and by way of a fixed and specific mortgage, charge, pledge, assignment and security interest to and in favour of the Chargee, all of its right, title, estate and interest, present and future, in and to all personal property in any form (including money) derived, directly or indirectly, from any dealing with the property referred to in subsections 2.1(a) to (c) inclusive, or proceeds therefrom or that indemnifies or compensates for all or part of such property or proceeds therefrom that is destroyed and damaged;

provided that the said grants, conveyances, mortgages, charges, pledges, transfers, assignments and security interests created pursuant to this Section 2.1 (the "Security Interests") shall not: (i) extend or apply to any personal property that constitutes "consumer goods", as such term is defined in the Act; or (ii) extend to the last day of the term of any lease or any agreement therefor now held or hereafter acquired by the Chargor as lessee, but should such Security Interests become enforceable the Chargor shall thereafter stand possessed of such last day and shall hold it in trust for the Chargee for the purpose of this Debenture and assign and dispose thereof as the Chargee shall, for such purpose, direct. Upon any sale of such leasehold interest or any part thereof, the Chargee, for the purpose of vesting the aforesaid one day residue of such term or renewal thereof in any purchaser or purchasers thereof, shall be entitled by deed or writing to appoint such purchaser or purchasers or any other person or persons as new trustee or trustees of the aforesaid residue of any such term or renewal thereof in the place of the Chargor and to vest the same accordingly in the new trustee or trustees so appointed free and discharged from any obligation respecting the same.

All the undertaking, property and assets mortgaged and charged pursuant to Subsection 2.1(a) and all of the undertaking, property and assets granted, assigned, transferred, mortgaged and charged pursuant to Subsections 2.1(b) and (d) hereof being hereinafter collectively referred to as the **"Mortgaged Property"**; all the undertaking, property and assets assigned, transferred and set over pursuant to Subsections 2.1(c) being hereinafter collectively referred to as the **"Assigned Property"**; and the Mortgaged Property and Assigned Property being hereinafter collectively referred to as the **"Charged Premises"**. Wherever used herein in relation to the rights and remedies of the Chargee the terms "Real Property", "Mortgaged Property", "Assigned Property" and "Charged Premises" shall, where the context permits, mean the whole or any part or parts thereof.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Charged Premises and all rights hereby conferred unto the Chargee, its successors and assigns, for the uses and purposes and with the powers and authorities and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.

2.2 <u>Excluded Collateral</u>: Notwithstanding anything contained in this Debenture, the Security Interests in respect of the Charged Premises, other than the Mortgaged Property referred to in Section 2.1(a), shall not extend or attach to the right, title, interest or benefit of the Chargor in any of the Charged Premises which by law cannot be assigned or charged or which requires the consent of any third party to such assignment or charge or which, if assigned or charged, would give rise to a default, penalty or right of termination (collectively the "**Excluded Collateral**"). The Chargor agrees that, at the reasonable request of the Chargee from time to time, it will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such consents in respect of the Excluded Collateral and

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19103021v1 to the transfer or assignment of the Excluded Collateral to any third party who may acquire an interest in the Charged Premises as a result of the exercise by the Chargee of its remedies hereunder. Upon such consent being obtained, the Security Interests shall apply to such Excluded Collateral without regard to this Section 2.2 and without the necessity of any further assurance to effect the Security Interests in respect thereto. Until such consent is obtained, the Chargor shall, to the extent that it may do so by law or under the terms of the Excluded Collateral and without giving rise to any default, penalty or right of termination, hold all right, title, benefit and interest to be derived therefrom in trust for the Chargee as additional security, as if the Security Interests applied, and shall deliver up such right, title, benefit and interest to the Chargee forthwith upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default.

2.3 <u>Delivery of Instruments, Securities, Etc.</u>: The Chargor shall, upon reasonable request from the Chargee, following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, forthwith deliver to the Chargee to be held by the Chargee hereunder all instruments, securities, letters of credit, advices of credit and negotiable documents of title in its possession or control which pertain to or form part of the Chargee Premises, and shall, where appropriate, duly endorse the same for transfer in blank or as the Chargee may direct and shall make all reasonable efforts to deliver forthwith to the Chargee any and all consents or other instruments or documents necessary to comply with any restrictions on the transfer thereof in order to transfer the same to the Chargee.

2.4 <u>Registrations</u>: So long as any of the Obligations Secured shall remain unpaid and the Chargee continues to provide advances of money to the Chargor pursuant to the Promissory Note, the Chargor will, from time to time at the request of the Chargee, promptly effect all registrations, filings, recordings and all renewals thereof and all re-registrations, re-filings and re-recordings of or in respect of this Debenture and the Security Interests in such offices of public record and at such times as may be necessary or of advantage in perfecting, maintaining and protecting the validity, effectiveness and priority hereof and of the Security Interests; provided that the Chargee may effect all such registrations, filings, recordings, renewals, re-registrations, re-filings and re-recordings from time to time in its sole discretion at the expense of the Chargor.

ARTICLE 3

RIGHTS AND REMEDIES

3.1 <u>Remedies Upon Default</u>: Upon the occurrence of and during the continuance of any Event of Default, the Chargee may do any one or more of the following:

- (a) by written notice to the Chargor, declare the Obligations Secured to be immediately due and payable without the necessity of presentment for payment, or notice of non-payment and of protest (all of which are hereby expressly waived by the Chargor);
- (b) proceed to exercise any and all rights under this Debenture, the other Documents and any other document or instrument executed pursuant to this Debenture or any other rights otherwise available to it, whether under this Debenture, the other Documents or otherwise, including enforcement of this Debenture;
- (c) take any action or proceeding authorized or permitted by this Debenture, the other Documents or by law or equity, and file or cause to be filed on its behalf such proofs of claim and other documents as may be necessary or desirable to have its claims lodged in any bankruptcy, winding-up or other judicial proceeding relative to the Chargor;
- (d) take proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction for sale or foreclosure of all or any part of the Charged Premises;
- (e) immediately enter upon and take possession of, disable or remove all of the Charged Premises or any part or parts thereof with power, among other things, to exclude the Chargor, to preserve and maintain the Charged Premises and make additions and replacements thereto, to receive rents, income and profits of all kinds and pay therefrom all reasonable expenses of maintaining, completing,

repairing, preserving and protecting and operating the Charged Premises and all charges, payment of which may be necessary to preserve or protect the Charged Premises, and enjoy and exercise all powers necessary to the performance of all functions made necessary or advisable by possession, including, without limitation, power to advance its own moneys at the interest rate set forth above and enter into contracts and undertake obligations for the foregoing purposes upon the security hereof;

- (f) whether or not the Chargee has taken possession of the Charged Premises or any of it, sell, lease or otherwise dispose thereof, either as a whole or in separate parcels, at public auction, by public tender or by private sale, with only such notice as may be required by law, either for cash or upon credit, at such time and upon such terms and conditions as the Chargee may determine (including a term that a reasonable commission shall be payable to the Chargee or any related corporation in respect thereof) and enter into, rescind or vary any contract for the sale, lease or other disposition of any of the Charged Premises and sell, lease or dispose thereof again without being answerable for any loss occasioned thereby and the Chargee may execute and deliver to any purchaser of the Charged Premises or any part thereof good and sufficient deeds and documents for the same;
- (g) require the Chargor, at the Chargor's expense, to assemble the Charged Premises at a place or places designated by notice in writing given by the Chargee to the Chargor, and the Chargor agrees to so assemble the Charged Premises;
- (h) require the Chargor, by notice in writing given by the Chargee to the Chargor, to disclose to the Chargee the location or locations of the Charged Premises and the Chargor agrees to make such disclosure when so required by the Chargee;
- (i) without legal process, enter any premises where the Charged Premises may be situated and take possession of the Charged Premises by any method permitted by law;
- (j) carry on all or any part of the business or businesses of the Chargor and, to the exclusion of all others, including the Chargor, enter upon, occupy and, subject to any requirements of law and subject to any leases or agreements then in place, use all or any of the Real Property, premises, buildings, plant, undertaking, assets and other property comprising the Charged Premises for such time and in such manner as the Chargee sees fit, free of charge and, except to the extent required by law, the Chargee shall not be liable to the Chargor for any act, omission or negligence in so doing or for any rent, charges, depreciation or damages or other amounts incurred in connection therewith or resulting therefrom;
- (k) borrow money for the purpose of carrying on the business of the Chargor or for the maintenance, preservation or protection of the Charged Premises and mortgage, charge, pledge or grant a security interest in the Charged Premises, whether or not in priority to the security interests created by this Debenture to secure repayment of any money so borrowed;
- (l) where the Chargee has taken possession of the Charged Premises, retain the Charged Premises irrevocably, to the extent not prohibited by law, by giving notice thereof to the Chargor and to any other persons required by law in the manner provided by law;
- send or employ inspectors or agents to inspect, audit and report upon the value, state and condition of the Charged Premises;
- subject to applicable law, seize, collect, retain and administer the Charged Premises or any part or parts thereof in the Chargee's discretion;
- (o) pay any encumbrance, lien, claim or charge that validly exists or has been threatened against any of the Charged Premises and any amounts determined to be validly existing shall, when so paid, together with any costs, charges and expenses

incurred by the Chargee (including, without limitation, legal fees and disbursements on a solicitor-client basis), be added to the Obligations Secured and shall bear interest at the rate set forth above;

- (p) take proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce payment by the Chargor of the Obligations Secured or any deficiency remaining upon application of proceeds of realization which are actually received by the Chargee;
- (q) exercise or pursue any other remedy or proceeding authorized or permitted hereby or by the Act or any similar personal property security legislation or by any other legislation in any jurisdiction in which any of the Charged Premises is located or otherwise permitted by law or equity; and
- (r) with or without entry into possession of the Charged Premises, or any part thereof, appoint a receiver (which term shall include a receiver and manager) of the Charged Premises or any part thereof and of the rents and profits thereof pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of this Debenture and with or without security for the performance of the receiver's obligations and from time to time remove any receiver and appoint another in its stead. Upon the appointment of any such receiver or receivers from time to time, subject to applicable laws, the following provisions shall apply:
 - every such receiver shall be the irrevocable agent of the Chargor for all purposes with respect to the Charged Premises including, without limitation, for the collection of all Revenues owing or earned in respect of the Real Property or any part thereof;
 - every such receiver may, in the discretion of the Chargee, be vested with (ii) all or any of the powers and discretion of the Chargee under this Debenture, including, without limitation, the power to carry on all or any part of the business of the Chargor and to sell, lease or otherwise dispose of the Charged Premises, either as a whole or in separate parcels, at public auction, by public tender or by private sale, with only such notice as may be required by applicable laws, either for cash or on credit, at such time and upon such terms and conditions as the receiver may determine (including a term that a reasonable commission shall be payable to the receiver, or any related corporation in respect thereof) and enter into, rescind or vary any contract for the sale, lease or other disposition of any of the Charged Premises and sell, lease or dispose thereof again without being answerable for any loss occasioned thereby and the receiver may execute and deliver to any purchaser of the Charged Premises or any part thereof good and sufficient deeds and documents for the same and such receiver shall also have the power to take proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction for sale or foreclosure of all or any part of the Charged Premises;
 - (iii) the Chargee may from time to time fix the remuneration of every such receiver and every such receiver shall be entitled to deduct the same out of the income from the Charged Premises or the proceeds of disposition of the Charged Premises;
 - (iv) the appointment of every such receiver by the Chargee shall not, to the extent permitted by law, incur or create any liability on the part of the Chargee to the receiver in any respect and such appointment or anything which may be done by any such receiver or the removal of any such receiver or the termination of any such receivership shall not have the effect of constituting the Chargee a mortgagee in possession in respect of the Real Property or any part thereof;
 - (v) every such receiver shall, from time to time, have the power to lease or otherwise deal with any portion of the Real Property which may become vacant or available for lease on such terms and conditions as such receiver may deem advisable and shall have full power to complete any unfinished

construction upon the Real Property (such power of the receiver to include, without limitation, the power to borrow funds in the name of and on the credit of the Chargor for such purposes, which borrowings may be secured by the Charged Premises, or any part thereof, and which security shall have such priority as the receiver deems appropriate);

- (vi) every such receiver shall have full power to fully manage, develop, operate, lease, deal with agreements and Leases, construct, complete, repair, renovate or alter the Real Property or any part thereof on behalf of the Chargor and to take all such actions as are required in the exercise of such powers including, without limitation, entering into, amending and terminating such contracts and other agreements relating to the Charged Premises as are necessary or advisable, in the opinion of the receiver, and the entering into, renewal, amendment, supplement or termination of any agreements and Leases as the receiver may deem appropriate in its sole and absolute discretion; the aforementioned power shall include the power to borrow money in the name of and on the credit of the Charger for all such purposes (which borrowings may be secured by the Charged Premises, or any part thereof, and which security shall have such priority as the receiver deems appropriate);
- (vii) no such receiver shall be liable to the Chargor to account for monies other than monies actually received by or in respect of Charged Premises or any part thereof and out of such monies so received, every such receiver shall, subject to the further direction of the Chargee, in the following order pay:
 - (A) his remuneration aforesaid;
 - (B) all payments made or incurred by him in connection with the management, operation, construction, completion, repair or alteration of the Charged Premises or any part thereof in accordance with the provisions thereof;
 - (C) all payments of interest, principal and other money which may, from time to time, be or become charged upon the Charged Premises in priority to this Debenture or any other security granted to the Chargee as security for the Obligations Secured and all taxes, insurance premiums and every other proper expenditure made or incurred by him in respect of the Charged Premises or any part thereof and in payment of all interest, fees and other similar amounts due or falling due hereunder and the balance to be applied upon the Obligations Secured; and
 - (D) at the discretion of the receiver, interest, principal and other monies which may from time to time constitute an encumbrance on the Charged Premises subsequent or subordinate to this Debenture or any other security granted to the Chargee as security for the Obligations Secured;

and every receiver may in its discretion retain reasonable reserves to pay accruing amounts and anticipated payments in connection with any of the foregoing; and any surplus remaining in the hands of every such receiver after payments made as aforesaid shall be accountable to the Chargor and upon termination of the receivership such receiver shall pay such surplus to the Chargor or pay it into court, as the receiver may elect;

- (viii) the Chargee may at any time and from time to time terminate any such receivership by notice in writing to the Chargor and to any such receiver; and
- (ix) the receiver may carry out all actions and do all things that the Chargee may do under this Debenture as if it were the Chargee (it being agreed that

such powers are not in any way limited by the foregoing provisions of this Subsection 3.1(r)).

3.2 <u>Sale of Charged Premises</u>: The Chargor agrees that any sale referred to in Section 3.1 may be either a sale of all or any portion of the Charged Premises and may be by way of public auction, public tender, private contract or otherwise without notice, advertisement or any other formality, except as required by law, all of which the Chargor waives to the extent permitted by law. To the extent not prohibited by law, any such sale may be made with or without any special condition as to the upset price, reserve bid, title or evidence of title or other matter and from time to time as the Chargee in its sole discretion thinks fit with power to vary or rescind any such sale or buy in at any public sale and resell. The Chargee may sell the Charged Premises for a consideration payable by instalments either with or without taking security for the payment of such instalments and may make and deliver to any purchaser thereof good and sufficient deeds, assurances and conveyances of the Charged Premises and give receipts for the purchase money, and any such sale shall be a perpetual bar, both at law and in equity, against the Chargor and all those claiming an interest in the Charged Premises by, from, through or under the Chargor.

3.3 <u>References to the Chargee Include Receiver</u>: For the purposes of Sections 3.2, 3.4, 3.7, 3.8, 3.9, 3.10 and 3.11, a reference to the Chargee shall, where the context permits, include any receiver or receiver and manager or other agent on behalf of the Chargee.

3.4 <u>Chargor's Rights</u>: Until the Security Interests shall become and remain enforceable, the Chargor shall be entitled to deal with the Charged Premises and enforce, use and enjoy all of the benefits, advantages and powers thereunder as if this Debenture had not been made. Upon the Security Interests becoming and remaining enforceable, the Chargee may, but shall not be obligated to, exercise all rights, powers, authority and discretions of the Chargor in respect of the Charged Premises in its place and stead.

3.5 Judgment: Neither the taking of any judgment nor the exercise of any power of seizure or sale shall operate to extinguish the liabilities of the Chargor to make payment of the principal hereby secured or interest thereon or other moneys owing hereunder nor shall such operate as a merger of any covenant or affect the right of the Chargee to interest at the rate hereinbefore specified and any judgment shall bear interest at such rate.

3.6 <u>Interest</u>: If any amount payable to the Chargee under this Debenture is not paid when due, the Chargor will pay to the Chargee, immediately on demand, interest on such amount from the date due until paid, at an annual rate equal to the interest rate stipulated therefor in the Promissory Note. All amounts payable by the Chargor to the Chargee under this Debenture, and all interest on all such amounts will form part of the Obligations Secured and will be secured by the Security Interests.

- 3.7 <u>Charge as Security</u>:
 - (a) It is expressly acknowledged and agreed that nothing herein contained shall obligate the Chargee to assume or perform any obligation of the Charger to any third party in respect of or arising out of any of the Charged Premises. The Chargee may, at its option, assume or perform any such obligations as the Chargee considers necessary or desirable to obtain the benefit of the Charged Premises free of any set-off, deduction or abatement and any money expended by the Chargee in this regard shall form part of and shall be deemed to form part of the Obligations Secured and bear interest at the rate stipulated in Section 3.6.
 - (b) The exercise by the Chargee of its rights under this Debenture or the assumption after any Event of Default of certain obligations of the Chargor as referred to in Subsection 3.7(a) above shall not constitute or have the effect of making the Chargee a mortgagee in possession. Care, control and management of the Charged Premises shall remain and shall be deemed to be with the Chargor in the absence of clear and unequivocal action by the Chargee depriving the Charger.

3.8 <u>Limitations on Chargee's Liability</u>: The Chargee will not be liable to the Chargor or any other person for any failure or delay in exercising any of the rights of the Chargee under this Debenture (including any failure to take possession of, collect, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of
any Charged Premises, or to preserve rights against prior parties). Neither the Chargee, nor any receiver or agent of the Chargee is required to take, or will have any liability for any failure to take or delay in taking, any steps necessary or advisable to preserve rights against other persons under any Charged Premises in its possession. Neither the Chargee nor any receiver or agent will be liable for any, and the Chargor will bear the full risk of all, loss or damage to any and all of the Charged Premises (including any Charged Premises in the possession of the Chargee or any receiver or agent) caused for any recason other than the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of the Chargee or such receiver or agent.

Debtor Remains Liable under Accounts and Contracts: Notwithstanding any provision of 3.9 this Debenture, the Chargor will remain liable under each of the agreements, contracts, leases and other documents comprising the Charged Premises (each a "Contract") to pay and satisfy all indebtedness, liabilities and other monetary obligations and to observe and perform all the conditions and obligations which are to be paid, satisfied, observed and performed by the Chargor thereunder, all in accordance with the terms of each such Contract. The Chargee will have no obligation or liability under any account or monetary obligation (an "Account") (or any Contract giving rise thereto) or Contract by reason of or arising out of this Debenture or the receipt by the Chargee of any payment relating to such Account or Contract pursuant hereto, and in particular (but without limitation), the Chargee will not be obligated in any manner to perform any of the obligations of the Chargor under or pursuant to any Account (or any Contract giving rise thereto) or under or pursuant to any Contract, to make any payment, to make any inquiry as to the nature or the sufficiency of any payment received by it or as to the sufficiency of any performance by any party under any Account (or any Contract giving rise thereto) or under any Contract, to present or file any claim, to take any action to enforce any performance or to collect the payment of any amounts which may have been assigned to it or to which it may be entitled at any time.

3.10 <u>Dealings by Chargee</u>: The Chargee will not be obliged to exhaust its recourse against the Chargor or any other person or against any other security it may hold in respect of the Obligations Secured before realizing upon or otherwise dealing with the Charged Premises in such manner as the Chargee may consider desirable. The Chargee may grant extensions of time and other indulgences, take and give up security, accept compositions, grant releases and discharges and otherwise deal with the Chargor and any other person, and with any or all of the Charged Premises, and with other security and sureties, as the Chargee may see fit, all without prejudice to the Obligations Secured or to the rights and remedies of the Chargee under this Debenture or the other Documents. The powers conferred on the Chargee under this Debenture are solely to protect the interests of the Chargee in the Charged Premises and will not impose any duty upon the Chargee to exercise any such powers.

3.11 Possession of Charged Premises:

- (a) Where any Charged Premises is in the possession of the Chargee or any receiver or agent:
 - (i) the Chargee shall only have the duty of care with respect to such Charged Premises as would a reasonable and prudent owner, including the duty to use reasonable care in the custody and preservation thereof, provided that the Chargee need not take any steps of any nature to defend or preserve the rights of the Chargor therein against the claims or demands of others or to preserve rights therein against prior parties;
 - (ii) the Chargee may, at any time following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, grant or otherwise create a security interest in such Charged Premises upon any terms provided that such terms do not impair the Chargor's right to redeem such Charged Premises; and
 - (iii) the Chargee may, at any time following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, use such Charged Premises in any manner and to such extent as it deems necessary or desirable.

3.12 <u>After Acquired Property</u>: The Chargor covenants and agrees that, if and to the extent that any of its respective rights, titles, estates and interests in any of the Charged Premises is not acquired until after delivery of this Debenture, this Debenture shall nonetheless apply thereto and

the Security Interests shall attach to such Charged Premises at the same time as the Chargor acquires rights therein, without the necessity of any further mortgage, charge, pledge, assignment or assurance and thereafter such Charged Premises shall be subject to the Security Interests in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.1 hereof.

3.13 <u>Attachment</u>: The Chargor hereby acknowledges and agrees that value has been given for the granting of the Security Interests and that there is no agreement between the Chargor and the Chargee, express or implied, to postpone the attachment of the Security Interests except in respect of after-acquired property forming part of the Charged Premises with respect to which the Security Interests shall attach at the same time as the Chargor acquires rights therein or thereto.

3.14 <u>Indemnity</u>: The Chargor agrees to indemnify the Chargee from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against the Chargee and arising by reason of any action (including any action referred to in this Debenture) or inaction or omission to do any act legally required by the Chargor. This indemnification will survive the satisfaction, release or extinguishment of the Obligations Secured and the Security Interests.

ARTICLE 4

GENERAL PROVISIONS

4.1 Remedies Cumulative and Waivers: For greater certainty, it is expressly understood and agreed that the rights and remedies of the Chargee hereunder or under any other Document or instrument executed pursuant to or in connection with this Debenture or the Promissory Note are cumulative and are in addition to and not in substitution for any rights or remedies provided by law or by equity; and any single or partial exercise by the Chargee of any right or remedy for a default or breach of any term, covenant, condition or agreement contained in this Debenture or other Document or instrument executed pursuant to or in connection with this Debenture or the Promissory Note shall not be deemed to be a waiver of or to alter, affect or prejudice any other right or remedy or other rights or remedies to which the Chargee may be lawfully entitled for such default or breach. Any waiver by the Chargee of the strict observance, performance or compliance with any term, covenant, condition or agreement herein contained and any indulgence granted either expressly or by course of conduct by the Chargee shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which it was given and shall be deemed not to be a waiver of any rights and remedies of the Chargee under this Debenture or other Document or instrument executed pursuant to this Debenture or the Promissory Note as a result of any other default or breach hereunder or thereunder.

4.2 <u>Termination</u>: The Chargee covenants and agrees with the Chargor that, if the Chargor pay the Obligations Secured and the Chargor performs, satisfies and extinguishes all other Obligations Secured and if the Chargee has no further obligations to provide or continue to provide advances of money to the Chargor pursuant to the Promissory Note, upon the request and at the expense of the Chargor, the Chargee shall execute such instruments, discharges or re-assignments and give such notification or assurances as the Chargor may properly require to fully release, discharge and cancel this Debenture in the circumstances.

4.3 <u>Notice</u>: Subject to the last sentence of this Section 4.3, any demand, notice, consent or other communication to be made or given hereunder shall be in writing and may be made or given by delivery or by transmittal by telecopy addressed to the respective parties as follows:

(a) to the Chargor, at:

2368523 Ontario Ltd. d/b/a Curative Cannabis 3513 Homewood Lane London, Ontario N6P 1K3

E-Mail: <u>david@curativecannabis.ca</u> <u>Attention</u>: David Shpilt

- 11 -

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19103021v1 (b) to the Chargee, at:

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. 777 Richmond St. W, Suite 002 Toronto ON M6J 3N5

Attention:General CounselEmail:legal@auxly.com

or such other street address or email address as may be designated by notice given by either party to the other. Any demand, notice or other communication given by personal delivery will be conclusively deemed to have been given on the day of actual delivery thereof and, if given by electronic communication, on the day of transmittal thereof if given during the normal business hours of the recipient and on the next business day during which such normal business hours next occur if not given during such hours on any day.

4.4 <u>Further Assurances</u>: Each party shall, at its own expense, promptly execute and deliver to the other upon request all such other and further documents, agreements, opinions, certificates and other instruments in compliance with or accomplishment of their covenants and agreements hereunder or under any document to be delivered pursuant hereto or otherwise necessary to make any recording, file any notice or obtain any consent, all as may be reasonably necessary and appropriate in connection herewith.

4.5 <u>Continuing Security</u>: This Debenture and the rights and remedies it creates are a continuing agreement and security and shall bind the parties until discharge of this Debenture as provided in Section 4.2 hereof. No payment by the Chargor of the whole or any part of any Obligations Secured shall reduce the amount secured hereby unless specifically appropriated to and noted on this Debenture by the Chargee.

4.6 <u>Agreement Paramount</u>: In the event of any inconsistency or conflict between the terms of this Debenture and any pledge of this Debenture, the terms of such pledge shall govern.

4.7 <u>Amendment of Agreement</u>: No supplement, modification, amendment, waiver or termination of this Debenture shall be binding unless executed in writing by all parties hereto. No waiver of any provision of this Debenture shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provision of this Debenture (whether or not similar) nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise so expressed or provided.

4.8 <u>Invalidity of Provisions</u>: If any of the provisions in this Debenture should be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

4.9 <u>Time</u>: Time shall be of the essence in this Debenture.

4.10 <u>Successors and Assigns</u>: This Debenture and all its provisions shall enure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the Chargee and the Chargor and their respective permitted successors and permitted assigns.

4.11 <u>No Assignment by Chargor</u>: The Chargor may not assign its obligations under this Debenture.

4.12 <u>Attorney</u>: The Chargor hereby irrevocably nominates, constitutes and appoints the Chargee and each of its officers holding office from time to time as the true and lawful attorney of the Chargor with power of substitution in the name of the Chargor to, after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, do any and all such acts and things or execute and deliver all such agreements, documents and instruments as the Chargee reasonably considers necessary or desirable to carry out the provisions and purposes of this Debenture or to exercise any of its rights and remedies hereunder and the Chargor hereby ratifies and agrees to ratify all reasonable acts of any such attorney taken or done in accordance with this Section 4.12. Without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Chargee shall have the right to execute for and in the name of the Chargor all financing statements, financing change statements, conveyances, transfers, assignments, consents and other instruments as may be required for such

purposes. This power of attorney shall not be revoked or terminated by any act or thing other than the discharge of this Debenture in accordance with Section 4.2.

4.13 <u>Acknowledgement by Chargor</u>: The Chargor acknowledges receipt of a copy of this Debenture and hereby expressly waives the right to receive a copy of any financing statement or a copy of the statement confirming the registration of any financing statement that may be registered in connection with any security interest created under this Debenture.

4.14 <u>Applicable Laws</u>: This Debenture shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein and shall be treated in all respects as an Ontario contract.

4.15 <u>Attornment</u>: The Chargor submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any court in the Province of Ontario in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Debenture, and the Chargor irrevocably agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in any such court or in any other court of competent jurisdiction selected by the Chargee.

4.16 <u>Non-Negotiable</u>: This debenture is not a negotiable instrument.

4.17 *Land Registration Reform Act*: The implied covenants deemed to be included in a charge under Subsection 7(1) of the *Land Registration Reform Act* (Ontario) shall, to the extent same are inconsistent with the terms hereof, be and are hereby expressly excluded and replaced by the terms of this Debenture.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Chargor has duly executed this Debenture as of the date first written above.

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED



Name: David Shpilt Title: Director

By:

Name: Title:

I/We have authority to bind the Corporation.

SCHEDULE A

Legal Description of the Secured Property

FIRSTLY:

PIN 00736-0250 (LT)

PART LOT 12 CONCESSION 1 CHATHAM, PART 1 24R9701; MUNICIPALITY CHATHAMKENT

SECONDLY:

PIN 00736-0221 (LT)

PT LT 12 CON 1 CHATHAM AS IN 662017; CHATHAM-KENT

EXHIBIT "G"

This is **Exhibit "G"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

Adai

.

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020.

Limited Recourse Guarantee

made by

SCOTT FITZGERALD

and

DAVID SHPILT

in favour of

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

as of

APRIL 23, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Page</u>

`

ARTICLE 1 -	GUARANTEE1			
1.01 1.02 1.03	Limited Recourse Guarantee1 1 1			
1.04	Obligations Absolute			
ARTICLE 2 -	DEALINGS WITH OBLIGOR AND OTHERS2			
2.01	No Release2			
2.02	3			
2.03	Prima Facie Evidence			
2.04	No Set-off			
2.05	Continuing Guarantee4			
ARTICLE 3 - DEMAND				
3.01	Demand4			
3.02	Stay of Acceleration4			
3.03	Interest4			
ARTICLE 4 - ASSIGNMENT, POSTPONEMENT AND SUBROGATION				
4.01	Postponement5			
4.02	Subrogation			
ARTICLE 5 - GENERAL				
5.01	Waiver of Notices			
5.02	Binding Effect of the Guarantee			
5.03	Taxes and Gross-Up by Guarantors			
5.04	Entire Agreement			
5.05	Financial Condition of Obligor			
5.06	Acknowledgement of Documentation			
5.07	Amendments and Waivers			
5.08	Severability			
5.09	Notices			
5.10	Discharge8			
5.11	Remedies Cumulative			
5.12	Governing Law8			
5.13	Attornment			
5.14	Headings9			
5.15	Extended Meanings9			
5.16	Interest Calculations and Payments9			
5.17	Interest Act (Canada)9			
5.18	Executed Copy9			

Limited Recourse Guarantee

This Limited Recourse Guarantee is made April 23, 2019.

- A. The undersigned (collectively, the "Guarantors") have agreed to provide Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (the "Lender") with a limited recourse guarantee of the Obligations (as hereinafter defined) of 2368523 Ontario Limited (d/b/a Curative Cannabis) (the "Obligor");
- B. In this instrument, unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith, "Guarantee" means this instrument including its recitals as amended from time to time;
- C. The Lender and the Obligor will enter into a cannabis supply agreement on or about the date hereof as amended from time to time (the "**Supply Agreement**").

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Guarantors agree with the Lender as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - GUARANTEE

1.01 Limited Recourse Guarantee

The Guarantors hereby unconditionally, irrevocably, jointly and severally, guarantee payment of all the debts and liabilities, present or future, direct or indirect, , at any time owing by the Obligor to the Lender or remaining unpaid by the Obligor to the Lender pursuant to the promissory note made as of April 23, 2019, as amended from time to time (the "**Promissory Note**"), between the Obligor and the Lender (collectively, the "**Obligations**") provided that the recourse of the Lender against the Guarantors under this Guarantee will be limited to the Lender enforcing its rights and remedies against the security granted under the pledge agreement made as of April 23, 2019, as amended from time to time, between the Lender and the Guarantors and no recourse for any such purpose may be had nor will judgment be issued or other process levied against any other assets or rights of the Guarantors. The Guarantors will not be liable for any deficiency resulting from such enforcement or otherwise. This Section applies notwithstanding any provision in this Guarantee to the contrary.

1.02

[reserved].

1.03

[reserved].

1.04 **Obligations Absolute**

The liability of the Guarantors hereunder will be for the full amount of the Obligations without apportionment, of any kind, will be continuing, absolute and unconditional and will not be affected by any law, regulation or other event, condition or circumstance or any other act, delay, abstention or omission to act of any kind by the Obligor or any other person, that might constitute a legal or equitable defence to or a discharge, limitation or reduction of the Guarantor's Obligations hereunder, other than as a result of the indefeasible payment or extinguishment in full of the Obligations, including:

- (a) the invalidity, illegality or lack of enforceability of the Obligations or any part thereof or of any agreement between the Obligor and the Lender;
- (b) any impossibility, impracticability, frustration of purpose, illegality, *force majeure* or act of government;
- (c) the bankruptcy, winding-up, liquidation, dissolution, moratorium, readjustment of debt or insolvency of the Obligor or any other person, including any discharge or bar against collection of any of the Obligations, or the amalgamation of or any change in the existence, structure, name, status, function, control, constitution or ownership of the Obligor, the Guarantors, the Lender or any other person;
- (d) any lack or limitation of power, incapacity or disability on the part of the Obligor or of the directors, partners or agents thereof or any other irregularity, defect or informality on the part of the Obligor in its obligations to the Lender;
- (e) any limitation, postponement, prohibition, subordination or other restriction on the right of the Lender to payment of the Obligations; or
- (f) any interest of the Lender in any property whether as owner thereof or as holder of a security interest therein or thereon, being invalidated, voided, declared fraudulent or preferential or otherwise set aside, or by reason of any impairment of any right or recourse to collateral,

and each of the foregoing is hereby waived by the Guarantors to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law. The foregoing provisions apply and the foregoing waivers will be effective to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law even if the effect of any action or failure to take action by the Lender is to destroy or diminish the Guarantor's subrogation rights, the Guarantor's rights to proceed against the Obligor for reimbursement, the Guarantor's rights to recover contribution from any other person or any other right or remedy of the Guarantors.

ARTICLE 2 - DEALINGS WITH OBLIGOR AND OTHERS

2.01 <u>No Release</u>

The liability of the Guarantors hereunder will not be released, discharged, limited or in any way affected by anything done, suffered, permitted or omitted to be done by the Lender in connection with any duties or liabilities of the Obligor to the Lender or any security therefor including any loss of or in respect of any security received by the Lender from the Obligor or others. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and without releasing, discharging, limiting or otherwise affecting, in whole or in part, the Guarantor's liability hereunder, the Lender may, without obtaining the consent of or giving notice to the Guarantors:

- (a) discontinue, reduce, increase or otherwise vary the credit of the Obligor in any manner whatsoever;
- (b) make any change in the time, manner or place of payment under, or in any other term of, any agreement between the Obligor and the Lender or waive, in whole or in part and with or without conditions, the failure on the part of the Obligor to carry out any of its obligations under any such agreement;
- (c) grant time, renewals, extensions, indulgences, releases and discharges to the Obligor or any other person;
- (d) release or substitute, in whole or in part, any other guarantor of the Obligations or obtain a new guarantee of any of the Obligations from any other person;
- (e) subordinate, release, take or enforce, refrain from taking or enforcing or omit to take or enforce security or collateral from the Obligor or any other person or perfect, refrain from perfecting or omit to perfect security or collateral of the Obligor or any other person, whether occasioned by the fault of the Lender or otherwise;
- (f) to the extent permitted under applicable law, give or refrain from giving to the Obligor, the Guarantors or any other person notice of any sale or other disposition of any property securing any of the Obligations or any other guarantee thereof, or any notice that may be given in connection with any sale or other disposition of any such property;
- (g) accept compromises from the Obligor or any other person;
- (h) marshal, refrain from marshalling or omit to marshal assets;
- (i) apply all money or other property at any time received from the Obligor or from its security upon such part of the Obligations as the Lender may see fit or vary any such application in whole or in part from time to time as the Lender may see fit; and
- (j) otherwise deal, delay or refrain from dealing or omit to deal with the Obligor, the Guarantors and all other persons and security as the Lender may see fit and do, delay or refrain from doing or omit to do any other act or thing that under applicable law might otherwise have the effect, directly or indirectly, of releasing, discharging, limiting or otherwise affecting in whole or in part the Guarantor's liability hereunder.

2.02

[reserved].

2.03 Prima Facie Evidence

Any account settled or stated in writing by or between the Lender and the Obligor in respect of any Obligation will be prima facie evidence that the balance or amount thereof appearing due to the Lender is so due.

2.04 No Set-off

In any claim by the Lender against the Guarantors, the Guarantors may not claim or assert any set-off, counterclaim, claim or other right that either the Guarantors or the Obligor may have against the Lender or any other person.

2.05 Continuing Guarantee

The obligations of the Guarantors hereunder will constitute and be continuing obligations and will apply to and secure any ultimate balance due or remaining due to the Lender and will not be considered as wholly or partially satisfied by the payment or liquidation at any time of any sum of money for the time being due or remaining unpaid to the Lender. This Guarantee will continue to be effective even if at any time any payment of any of the Obligations is rendered unenforceable or is rescinded or must otherwise be returned by the Lender upon the occurrence of any action or event including the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of the Obligor or the Guarantors or otherwise, all as though such payment had not been made.

ARTICLE 3 - DEMAND

3.01 **Demand**

If any Obligation is not paid for any reason whatsoever when due and payable, the Lender may treat all Obligations as due and payable and may demand forthwith from the Guarantors the total amount guaranteed hereunder whether or not such other Obligations are yet due and payable at the time of demand for payment hereunder, as well as all costs and expenses incurred by the Lender in collecting and enforcing the Obligations and enforcing this Guarantee including legal fees and disbursements on a full indemnity basis. Upon such demand the Lender may exercise its rights and remedies under the pledge agreement of even date herewith.

3.02 Stay of Acceleration

If acceleration of the time for payment of any amount payable by the Obligor in respect of the Obligations is stayed upon the insolvency, bankruptcy, arrangement or reorganization of the Obligor or any moratorium affecting the payment of the Obligations, all such amounts that would otherwise be subject to acceleration will nonetheless be payable by the Guarantors hereunder forthwith on the demand by the Lender.

3.03 Interest

Without duplication of interest accruing on the Obligations, the Guarantors will pay interest to the Lender at the rate or rates provided in the Promissory Note for such Obligations, or, in the event no such rate is provided for therein, at a rate per annum equal to the Prime Rate of the Lender, on the unpaid portion of all amounts payable by the Guarantors under this Guarantee, including all costs and expenses incurred by the Lender in collecting and enforcing the Obligations and in enforcing this Guarantee, such interest to accrue from and including the date of demand by the Lender on the Guarantors to but excluding the date of payment thereof by the Guarantors. For the purposes of this Guarantee "**Prime Rate of the Lender**" means the rate of interest per annum established from time to time by the Lender as the reference rate of interest for the determination of interest rates that the Lender charges customers of varying degrees of credit worthiness in Canada for Canadian dollar demand loans.

ARTICLE 4 - ASSIGNMENT, POSTPONEMENT AND SUBROGATION

4.01 **Postponement**

Subject to Section 1.01 and upon a demand validly issued by the Lender in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.01, all debts and liabilities, present and future, of the Obligor to the Guarantors will be postponed to the Obligations, and all money received by the Guarantors in respect thereof will be held in trust for the Lender and forthwith upon receipt will be paid over to the Lender, the whole without in any way lessening or limiting the liability of the Guarantors hereunder and this postponement is independent of the guarantee obligations contained in this Guarantee and will remain in full force and effect until all Obligations are performed and indefeasibly paid in full.

4.02 Subrogation

The Guarantors will not be entitled to subrogation until (a) the Guarantors perform or makes indefeasible payment to the Lender of all amounts owing by the Guarantors to the Lender under this Guarantee, (b) the Obligations are performed and indefeasibly paid in full and (c) the Lender has no further liability to advance money to, or incur any liability on behalf of, the Obligor. Thereafter, the Lender will, at the Guarantor's request and expense, execute and deliver to the Guarantors appropriate documents, without recourse and without representation and warranty, necessary to evidence the transfer by subrogation to the Guarantors of an interest in the Obligations and any security held therefor resulting from such performance or payment by the Guarantors.

ARTICLE 5 - GENERAL

5.01 Waiver of Notices

The Guarantors hereby waive promptness, diligence, presentment, demand of payment, notice of acceptance and any other notice with respect to this Guarantee and the Obligations guaranteed hereunder, except for the demand pursuant to Section 3.01.

5.02 Binding Effect of the Guarantee

This Guarantee will be binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators, other legal representatives and successors of the Guarantors and will enure to the benefit of the Lender and its successors and assigns.

5.03 Taxes and Gross-Up by Guarantors

All payments by the Guarantors under this Guarantee, whether in respect of principal, interest, interest on overdue and unpaid interest, fees or any other Obligations, will be made in full without any deduction or withholding (whether in respect of duties, taxes, charges

or other similar amounts) unless the Guarantors are prohibited by applicable laws from doing so, in which event the Guarantors will:

- (a) ensure that the deduction or withholding does not exceed the minimum amount legally required;
- (b) increase the sum paid by it to the Lender as necessary so that after making or allowing for all required deductions and withholdings (including deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this Section) the Lender receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions or withholdings been required;
- (c) pay to the relevant taxation or other authorities, within the period for payment required by applicable laws, the full amount of the deduction or withholding (including the full amount of any deduction or withholding applicable to any additional sums payable under this Section); and
- (d) furnish to the Lender promptly, as soon as available, an official receipt of the relevant taxation or other authorities involved for all amounts deducted or withheld as aforesaid.

5.04 Entire Agreement

This Guarantee and the Share Pledge Agreement, constitutes the entire agreement between the Guarantors and the Lender with respect to the subject matter hereof and cancels and supersedes any prior understandings and agreements between such parties with respect thereto, including any prior guarantees (whether limited recourse or otherwise) made by the Guarantors (or any one of the Guarantors) in favour of the Lender. There are no representations, warranties, terms, conditions, undertakings or collateral agreements, express, implied or statutory, between the parties except as expressly set forth herein.

5.05 Financial Condition of Obligor

The Guarantors are fully aware of the financial condition of the Obligor and acknowledges that it will receive a benefit from the Lender entering into the Promissory Note. So long as any of the Guarantor's obligations hereunder remain undischarged the Guarantors will assume sole responsibility for keeping itself informed of the financial condition of the Obligor and of all circumstances bearing upon the nature, scope and extent of the risk that the Guarantors assume or incur hereunder and the Lender will not have a duty to advise the Guarantors of information known to the Lender regarding such circumstances or risks.

5.06 Acknowledgement of Documentation

The Guarantors acknowledge receipt of a true and complete copy of Promissory Note and all of the terms and conditions thereof. So long as any of the Guarantor's obligations hereunder remain undischarged the Guarantors will assume sole responsibility for keeping itself informed, and requesting and obtaining copies from the Obligor or otherwise, of all amendments, modifications, supplements, restatements and replacements of the Promissory Note and the Lender will not have a duty to advise or provide copies to the Guarantors of any such amendments, modifications, supplements, restatements and replacements.

5.07 Amendments and Waivers

No amendment to this Guarantee will be valid or binding unless set forth in writing and duly executed by the Guarantors and the Lender. No waiver of any breach of any provision of this Guarantee will be effective or binding unless made in writing and signed by the party purporting to give the same and, unless otherwise provided in the written waiver, will be limited to the specific breach waived.

5.08 Severability

If any provision of this Guarantee is determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or unenforceable, that provision will be severed from this Guarantee and the remaining provisions will continue in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to either the Lender or the Guarantors.

5.09 Notices

Any demand, notice or other communication to be given in connection with this Guarantee must be given in writing and will be given by personal delivery, or by electronic means of communication, addressed to the Guarantors or the Lender as follows:

To the Guarantors:

Scott Fitzgerald 829 Cresthaven Crescent London, Ontario N6K 4W4

E-Mail: scott_lfd@hotmail.com Attention: Scott Fitzgerald

David Shpilt 3513 Homewood Lane London, Ontario N6P 1K3

E-Mail: david@curativecannabis.ca <u>Attention</u>: David Shpilt To the Lender:

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. 777 Richmond St. W, Suite 002 Toronto, Ontario M6J 3N5

E-Mail: legal@auxly.com

Attention: General Counsel

or such other street address, individual or electronic communication number or address as may be designated by notice given by either party to the other. Any demand, notice or other communication given by personal delivery will be conclusively deemed to have been given on the day of actual delivery thereof and, if given by electronic communication, on the day of transmittal thereof if given during the normal business hours of the recipient and on the next business day during which such normal business hours next occur if not given during such hours on any day.

5.10 Discharge

Unless all obligations of the Guarantors hereunder have been indefeasibly paid or performed, the Guarantors will not be discharged from any of their obligations hereunder except by a release or discharge signed in writing by the Lender. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the obligations of the Guarantors hereunder will be discharged upon full and final indefeasible payment of the Promissory Note and the termination of all Obligations and commitments thereunder.

5.11 Remedies Cumulative

The rights and remedies of the Lender hereunder are cumulative and are in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other rights and remedies available at law or in equity or otherwise. No single or partial exercise by the Lender of any right or remedy precludes or otherwise affects the exercise of any other right or remedy to which the Lender may be entitled.

5.12 Governing Law

This Guarantee is governed by and will be construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein.

5.13 <u>Attornment</u>

For the purpose of all legal proceedings this Guarantee will be deemed to have been performed in the Province of Ontario and the courts of the Province of Ontario will have jurisdiction to entertain any action arising under this Guarantee. The Guarantors and the Lender each hereby attorn to the jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario.

5.14 Headings

The division of this Guarantee into Articles and Sections and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and do not affect the construction or interpretation of this Guarantee. The terms "hereof", "hereunder" and similar expressions refer to this Guarantee and not to any particular Article, Section or other portion hereof and include any agreement supplemental hereto. Unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith, references herein to Articles and Sections are to Articles and Sections of this Guarantee.

5.15 **Extended Meanings**

In this Guarantee words importing the singular number only include the plural and vice versa, words importing any gender include all genders and words importing persons include individuals, corporations, limited and unlimited liability companies, general and limited partnerships, associations, trusts, unincorporated organizations, joint ventures and governmental authorities. The term "including" means "including without limiting the generality of the foregoing".

5.16 Interest Calculations and Payments

Unless otherwise stated, wherever in this Guarantee reference is made to a rate of interest "per annum" or a similar expression is used, such interest will be calculated on the basis of a calendar year of 365 days or 366 days, as the case may be, and using the nominal rate method of calculation and not the effective rate method of calculation or on any other basis that gives effect to the principle of deemed reinvestment of interest. Interest will continue to accrue after maturity and default and/or judgment, if any, until payment thereof, and interest will accrue on overdue interest, if any.

5.17 Interest Act (Canada)

For the purposes of this Guarantee, whenever interest to be paid hereunder is to be calculated on the basis of 360 days or any other period of time that is less than a calendar year, the yearly rate of interest to which the rate determined pursuant to such calculation is equivalent is the rate so determined multiplied by the actual number of days in the calendar year in which the same is to be ascertained and divided by 360 or such other number of days in such period, as the case may be.

5.18 Executed Copy

The Guarantors acknowledge receipt of a fully executed copy of this Guarantee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Guarantors have signed, sealed and delivered this

Guarantee.

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED) in the presence of:)

)) Witness

Scott Fitzgerald

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED in the presence of:

Witness

David Shpilt

))

)

3893357.3

EXHIBIT "H"

This is **Exhibit "H"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

Joekn

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020. Pledge Agreement

between

SCOTT FITZGERALD

and

DAVID SHPILT

and

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

APRIL 23, 2019

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19091866v8

3895267.1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>I age</u>
ARTICLE 1	- INTERPRETATION1
1.01	Definitions1
1.02	Headings
1.02	Extended Meanings
1.04	Statutory References
1.04	Schedules
	- GRANT OF SECURITY INTEREST AND PLEDGE
2.01	Grant and Pledge of Collateral3
2.01	Security Interest Absolute
2.02	Continuing Liability of the Pledgors
2.03	
2.04	Delivery of Collateral
2.05	Subsequently Acquired Collateral4 Attachment4
2.00	Allachment
ARTICLE 3	- REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS4
3.01	Representations and Warranties of the Pledgors4
3.02	Covenants of the Pledgors5
ARTICLE 4	- DEALING WITH COLLATERAL
4.01	Rights and Duties of the Secured Party5
4.02	Voting Rights6
4.03	Dividends and Interest Payments6
ARTICLE 5	- DEFAULT AND REMEDIES
5.01	Events of Default7
5.02	Remedies
5.03	Payment of Expenses
ARTICLE 6	9 - GENERAL
6.01	Benefit of the Agreement9
6.02	Entire Agreement
6.03	Termination and Discharge of Pledge
6.04	Amendments and Waivers
6.05	Assignment10
6.06	Severability
6.07	Notices
6.08	Additional Continuing Security11
6.09	Remedies Cumulative
6.10	Further Assurances11
6.11	Power of Attorney11
6.12	Indemnity
6.13	[reserved]
6.14	Governing Law12

.

Page

6.15	Attornment	12	
6.16	Counterparts	12	
6.17	Electronic Execution		
6.18	Executed Copy		
SCHEDULE A LIST OF STOCK			

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19091866v8 .

Pledge Agreement

This Agreement is made as April 23, 2019

between

Scott Fitzgerald and David Shpilt individuals residing in the Province of Ontario (the "Pledgors" and each a "Pledgor"),

and

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia (the "Secured Party").

- A. The Pledgors have each entered into the Guarantee in favour of the Secured Party pursuant to which the Pledgors have, jointly and severally, guaranteed the obligations of 2368523 Ontario Ltd. (d/b/a Curative Cannabis) (the "**Debtor**") pursuant to the Promissory Note and the Debtor Security Agreements;
- B. The Pledgors have agreed to grant a security interest in and pledge the Collateral to the Secured Party in order to secure the performance of its Obligations under the Guarantee;

In consideration of the premises and the covenants and agreements herein contained, the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - INTERPRETATION

1.01 **Definitions**

In this Agreement, unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith:

"Agreement" means this agreement, including its recitals and schedules, as amended from time to time.

"Collateral" has the meaning set out in Section 2.01.

"Delivery" and the corresponding term "Delivered" when used with respect to Collateral means:

- in the case of Collateral constituting Certificated Securities, transfer thereof to the Secured Party or its nominee by physical delivery of the Security Certificates to the Secured Party or its nominee, such Collateral to be accompanied by the Transfer and Power of Attorney dated April 23, 2019 as duly executed in blank by the Pledgor; and
- (ii) in each case such additional or alternative procedures as may hereafter become reasonably appropriate to grant control of, or otherwise perfect a security interest in, any Collateral in favour of the Secured Party or its nominee.

"Debtor Security Agreements" has the meaning given thereto in the Promissory Note.

"Event of Default" has the meaning set out in Section 5.01.

"Guarantee" means the limited recourse guarantee of the Pledgors made as of April 23, 2019 in favour of the Secured Party, as amended from time to time." Obligations" means all obligations and liabilities of any kind whatsoever of the Pledgors to the Secured Party in connection with or relating to the Guarantee.

"Pledged Shares" has the meaning set out in clause (i) of the definition of "Stock".

"PPSA" means the Personal Property Security Act (Ontario).

"Promissory Note" means the amended and restated promissory note made of as of April 23, 2019 between the Debtor and the Secured Party, as amended from time to time.

"Promissory Note Event of Default" means an Event of Default as that term is defined in the Promissory Note.

"Stock" means:

- (i) all Securities, including the shares in the capital stock described in Schedule A, as such Schedule may be amended, supplemented or modified from time to time (collectively, the "Pledged Shares") owned by the applicable Pledgor, all Security Certificates, if any, and other instruments evidencing or representing such Pledged Shares, and all dividends, interest, distributions, cash, instruments and other property, income, profits and proceeds from time to time received or receivable upon or otherwise distributed or distributable in respect of or in exchange for any and all of the Pledged Shares;
- (ii) all additional or substitute shares of capital stock or other equity interests of any class of any issuer from time to time issued to or otherwise acquired by the applicable Pledgor in any manner in respect of Pledged Shares, the Security Certificates, if any, and other instruments representing such additional or substitute shares, and all dividends, interests, distributions, cash, instruments and other property, income, profits and proceeds from time to time received or receivable upon or otherwise distributed or distributable in respect of or an exchange for any or all of such additional or substitute shares; and
- (iii) to the extent not otherwise included in the foregoing, all Proceeds thereof.

The terms "Certificated Security", "Proceeds", "Securities Account", "Securities Intermediary", "Security", "Security Certificate" and "Uncertificated Security" whenever used herein have the meanings given to those terms in the PPSA.

1.02 <u>Headings</u>

The division of this Agreement into Articles and Sections and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and do not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement. The terms "hereof", "hereunder" and similar expressions refer to this Agreement and not to any particular Article, Section or other portion hereof. Unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith, references herein to Articles, Sections and Schedules are to Articles and Sections of and Schedules to this Agreement.

,

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19091866v8

1.03 Extended Meanings

In this Agreement words importing the singular number only include the plural and *vice versa*, words importing any gender include all genders and words importing persons include individuals, corporations, limited and unlimited liability companies, general and limited partnerships, associations, trusts, unincorporated organizations, joint ventures and governmental authorities. The term "including" means "including without limiting the generality of the foregoing".

1.04 Statutory References

In this Agreement, unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith or unless otherwise herein provided, a reference to any statute is to that statute as now enacted or as the same may from time to time be amended, re-enacted or replaced and includes any regulation made thereunder.

1.05 Schedules

The following are the Schedules to this Agreement:

Schedule A – List of Stock

ARTICLE 2 - GRANT OF SECURITY INTEREST AND PLEDGE

2.01 Grant and Pledge of Collateral

As general and continuing collateral security for the payment and performance of the Obligations, the Pledgors hereby each grant to the Secured Party, a security interest in, and pledges to the Secured Party all right, title and interest of the Pledgors in and to, the following, whether now owned or existing or hereafter from time to time acquired, by way of amalgamation or otherwise (collectively, the "**Collateral**"):

- (a) all Stock; and
- (b) all Proceeds in respect of the foregoing and all rights and interest of the Pledgors in respect thereof or evidenced thereby, including all money received or receivable from time to time by the Pledgors in connection with the sale of any of the foregoing.

2.02 Security Interest Absolute

The security interest granted hereby and all rights of the Secured Party hereunder and all obligations of the Pledgors hereunder are unconditional and absolute and independent and separate from any other security for the Obligations, whether executed by the Pledgors or any other person.

2.03 Continuing Liability of the Pledgors

This Agreement and the security interest granted hereby is granted as collateral security only and will not subject the Secured Party to, or transfer or in any way affect or modify,

any obligation or liability of the Pledgors with respect to any of the Collateral or any transaction in connection therewith.

2.04 Delivery of Collateral

All Collateral must be Delivered immediately to the Secured Party or its nominee. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Secured Party may cause all or any of the Collateral to be registered in the name of the Secured Party or its nominee.

2.05 Subsequently Acquired Collateral

To the extent a Pledgor acquires, by way of amalgamation or otherwise, any additional Collateral at any time or from time to time after the date hereof, such Collateral will automatically (and without any further action being required to be taken by the Secured Party) be subject to the security interest and pledge created hereby. Each Pledgor will take, or cause to be taken, as promptly as practicable and, in any event within 5 days after it obtains such additional Collateral, all steps and actions as the Secured Party deems necessary to ensure that the additional Collateral is Delivered to the Secured Party.

2.06 Attachment

The Pledgors acknowledge that the security interest hereby created attaches upon the execution of this Agreement (or in the case of any after acquired property, upon the date of acquisition by the Pledgors of any rights therein), that value has been given by the Secured Party and that each Pledgor has, or in the case of after acquired property will have, rights in the Collateral or the power to transfer rights in the Collateral to the Secured Party.

ARTICLE 3 - REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

3.01 Representations and Warranties of the Pledgors

Each Pledgor, for himself and on his behalf, represents and warrants to the Secured Party that:

- (a) this Agreement constitutes a legal and valid agreement binding on the Pledgor, enforceable in accordance with its terms; the making and performance of this Agreement will not result in the breach of, constitute a default under, contravene any provision of, or result in the creation of, any lien, charge, security interest, encumbrance or any other rights of others upon any property of the Pledgor pursuant to any agreement, indenture or other instrument to which the Pledgor is a party or by which the Pledgor or any of his property may be bound or affected;
- (b) the Pledgor is the legal and beneficial owner of the Collateral, free of any security interest, other than any security interest in favour of the Secured Party with full right and authority to create the security interest and to cause Delivery of the Collateral to the Secured Party pursuant hereto;
- (c) no Collateral is in the possession or control of any person asserting a claim thereto or security interest therein, except that the Secured Party or its nominee or a Securities Intermediary acting on its behalf may have possession or control of the Collateral;

- (d) all Collateral consisting of Pledged Shares has been duly authorized and validly issued, is outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable and, except as set forth on Schedule A, constitutes 95% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the respective issuers thereof;
- (e) other than in favour of the Secured Party, there is no existing agreement, option, right or privilege capable of becoming an agreement or option pursuant to which the Pledgor could be required to sell or otherwise dispose of any of the Collateral; and
- (f) no authorization, consent, permit or approval of, or other action by, or filing with or notice to, any governmental agency or authority, regulatory body, court, tribunal or other similar entity have jurisdiction is required in connection with the execution and delivery by the Pledgor of this Agreement and the performance of his obligations hereunder, except as may be required to perfect the security interest granted hereby or in connection with the disposition of all or any Collateral by laws affecting the offering and sale of securities generally.

3.02 Covenants of the Pledgors

The Pledgors covenant with the Secured Party that the Pledgors will:

- (a) ensure that the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.01 will be true and correct at all times;
- (b) defend the Collateral against all claims and demands respecting the Collateral made by any person other than the Secured Party at any time and, except as otherwise provided herein, keep the Collateral free and clear of all security interests, mortgages, charges, liens and other encumbrances or interests except as approved in writing by the Secured Party prior to their creation or assumption;
- (c) not sell or dispose of, transfer, relinquish or otherwise deal with any of its interest in the Collateral; and
- (d) provide to the Secured Party, promptly upon request, all information and evidence the Secured Party may reasonably request concerning the Collateral to enable the Secured Party to enforce the provisions hereof.

ARTICLE 4- DEALING WITH COLLATERAL

4.01 Rights and Duties of the Secured Party

(1) The Secured Party may perform any of its rights and duties hereunder by or through agents and is entitled to retain counsel and to act in reliance upon the advice of such counsel concerning all matters pertaining to its rights and duties hereunder.

(2) In the holding of the Collateral, the Secured Party and any nominee on its behalf is only bound to exercise the same degree of care as it would exercise with respect to similar property of its own of similar value held in the same place. The Secured Party and any nominee on its behalf will be deemed to have exercised reasonable care with respect to the custody and preservation of the Collateral if it takes such action for that purpose as the Pledgors reasonably requests in writing, but failure of the Secured Party or its nominee to comply with any such request will not of itself be deemed a failure to exercise reasonable care.

4.02 Voting Rights

(1) Subject to the provisions of Section 4.02(2), the Pledgors are entitled to exercise, either directly or, if the Collateral is registered in the name of the Secured Party or its nominee, by power of attorney or proxy, all the rights and powers of a holder of such Collateral, including the right to vote from time to time exercisable in respect of the Collateral and to give proxies, consents, ratifications and waivers in respect thereof. No such action may be taken if it would be prejudicial to the interests of the Secured Party or would violate or be inconsistent with the Guarantee or this Agreement or any other agreement relating thereto or hereto or would have the effect of reducing the value of the Collateral as security for the Obligations or imposing any restriction on the transferability of any of the Collateral.

(2) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and the exercise by the Secured Party of any of its rights and remedies under Section 5.01, the Secured Party may give the Pledgors a notice prohibiting the Pledgors from exercising the rights and powers of a holder of the Collateral, including the right to vote the Collateral, at which time all such rights of the Pledgors will cease immediately and the Secured Party will have the right to exercise the rights and powers related to such Collateral, including the right to vote.

4.03 Dividends and Interest Payments

(1) Subject to the provisions of Section 4.03(2), the Pledgors are entitled to receive all dividend payments or other distributions or interest payments in respect of the Collateral. If the Collateral has been registered in the name of the Secured Party or its nominee, the Secured Party will execute and deliver (or cause to be executed and delivered) to the Pledgors all directions and other instruments as the Pledgors may request for the purpose of enabling the Pledgors to receive the dividends or other payments that the Pledgors are authorized to receive pursuant to this Section 4.03(1).

(2) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and the exercise by the Secured Party of any of its rights and remedies under Section 5.01, all rights of the Pledgors pursuant to Section 4.03(1) will cease, and all such rights will thereupon become vested in the Secured Party, and the Secured Party will have the sole and exclusive right and authority to receive and retain all payments that the Pledgors would otherwise be authorized to retain pursuant to Section 4.03(1). All money and other property received by the Secured Party pursuant to the provisions of this Section 4.03(2) may be applied on account of the Obligations or may be retained by the Secured Party as additional Collateral hereunder and be applied in accordance with the provisions of this Section 4.03(2) will be held by the Pledgors in trust for the benefit of the Secured Party, will be segregated from other property or funds of the Pledgors and will be forthwith Delivered to the Secured Party or its nominee to hold as Collateral.

ARTICLE 5 - DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

5.01 Events of Default

The Pledgors will be in default under this Agreement upon the occurrence of any of the following events (an **"Event of Default**"):

- (a) a Promissory Note Event of Default;
- (b) the Pledgors do not pay to the Secured Party any sum when due;
- (c) the Pledgors do not observe or perform any covenant or obligation of the Pledgors contained in this Agreement or in the Guarantee;
- (d) any representation or warranty made by the Pledgors herein or in any document or certificate provided at any time to the Secured Party in connection herewith is proven to be incorrect or misleading in any material respect;
- (e) the Pledgors are in default under any other agreement with the Secured Party;
- (f) the Pledgors are an insolvent person within the meaning of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* (Canada) or commits or threatens to commit any act of bankruptcy;or
- (g) the Collateral or any part thereof is seized or otherwise attached by anyone pursuant to any legal process or other means, including distress, execution or any other step or proceeding with similar effect, and the same is not released, bonded, satisfied, discharged or vacated within the shorter of a period of 15 days and 10 days less than such period as would permit such property or any part thereof to be sold pursuant thereto.

5.02 Remedies

(1) Upon and after the occurrence of an Event of Default that has not been either cured or waived in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, (i) any or all of the Obligations will, at the option of the Secured Party, become immediately due and payable or be subject to immediate performance, as the case may be, without presentment, protest or notice of dishonour, all of which are expressly waived; (ii) the obligation, if any, of the Secured Party to extend further credit to the Pledgors will cease; any or all security granted hereby will, at the option of the Secured Party, become immediately enforceable; and in addition to any right or remedy provided by law or any other agreement, the Secured Party will have the rights and remedies set out below, all of which rights and remedies will be enforceable successively, concurrently or both:

- (a) transfer any part of the Collateral into the name of the Secured Party or its nominee in accordance with Section 2.04;
- vote any of the Collateral (whether or not registered in the name of the Secured Party or its nominee) and give or withhold all consents, waivers and ratifications in respect thereof;

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19091866v8

- (c) exercise all rights of conversion, exchange or subscription, or any other rights, privileges or options pertaining to any of the Collateral, including the right to exchange at its discretion any of the Collateral upon the amalgamation, arrangement, merger, consolidation or other reorganization of the issuer of the Collateral, all without liability except to account for property actually received by the Secured Party;
- (d) from time to time realize upon, collect, sell, transfer, assign, give options to purchase or otherwise dispose of and deliver any Collateral in such manner as may seem advisable to the Secured Party. For such purposes each requirement relating thereto and prescribed by law or otherwise is hereby waived by the Pledgors to the extent permitted by law and in any offer or sale of any of the Collateral the Secured Party is authorized to comply with any limitation or restriction in connection with such offer or sale as the Secured Party may be advised by counsel is necessary in order to avoid any violation of applicable law, or in order to obtain any required approval of the sale or of the purchase by any governmental or regulatory authority or official. Such compliance will not result in such sale being considered or deemed not to have been made in a commercially reasonable manner nor will the Secured Party be liable or accountable to the Pledgors for any discount allowed by reason of the fact that such Collateral is sold in compliance with any such limitation or restriction;
- (e) purchase any of the Collateral, whether in connection with a sale made under the power of sale herein contained or pursuant to judicial proceedings or otherwise; and
- (f) accept the Collateral in satisfaction of the Obligations upon notice to the Pledgors of its intention to do so in the manner required by law.

(2) The Secured Party may (i) grant extensions of time, (ii) take and perfect or abstain from taking and perfecting security, (iii) give up securities, (iv) accept compositions or compromises, (v) grant releases and discharges, and (vi) release any part of the Collateral or otherwise deal with the Pledgors, debtors of the Pledgors, sureties and others and with the Collateral and other security as the Secured Party sees fit without prejudice to the liability of the Pledgors to the Secured Party or the Secured Party's rights hereunder.

(3) The Secured Party will not be liable or responsible for any failure to seize, collect, realize, or obtain payment with respect to the Collateral and is not bound to institute proceedings or to take other steps for the purpose of seizing, collecting, realizing or obtaining possession or payment with respect to the Collateral or for the purpose of preserving any rights of the Secured Party, the Pledgors or any other person, in respect of the Collateral.

(4) The Secured Party may apply any proceeds of realization of the Collateral to payment of expenses in connection with the preservation and realization of the Collateral as above described and the Secured Party may apply any balance of such proceeds to payment of the Obligations in such order as the Secured Party sees fit. If there is any surplus remaining, the Secured Party may pay it to any person having a claim thereto in priority to the Pledgors of whom the Secured Party has knowledge and any balance remaining must be paid to the Pledgors.

5.03 Payment of Expenses

The Secured Party may charge on its own behalf and also pay to others all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the Secured Party and others, including the fees and disbursements of any Securities Intermediary, experts or advisers (including lawyers on a solicitor and client basis) retained by the Secured Party, incurred in connection with realizing, collecting, selling, transferring, delivering or obtaining payment for the Collateral, or in connection with the administration or any amendment of this Agreement or incidental to the care, safekeeping or otherwise of any Collateral. The Secured Party may deduct the amount of such expenses from any proceeds of disposition of the Collateral.

ARTICLE 6 - GENERAL

6.01 Benefit of the Agreement

This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the respective heirs, executors, administrators, other legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns of the parties.

6.02 Entire Agreement

This Agreement has been entered into pursuant to the provisions of the Guarantee and is subject to all the terms and conditions thereof and, if there is any conflict or inconsistency between the provisions of this Agreement and the provisions of the Guarantee, the rights and obligations of the parties will be governed by the provisions of the Guarantee. This Agreement supersede any prior understandings and agreements between the parties with respect thereto. There are no representations, warranties, terms, conditions, undertakings or collateral agreements, express, implied or statutory, between the Secured Party and the Pledgors with respect to the subject matter hereof other than as expressly set forth in this Agreement or in the Guarantee.

6.03 Termination and Discharge of Pledge

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, this Agreement and the security interest created hereunder will terminate and be discharged upon full and final indefeasible payment of the Promissory Note and the termination of all obligations and commitments thereunder. Upon such termination and discharge any Collateral then in the custody of the Secured Party or its nominee must be re delivered to the Pledgors as soon as practicable. Subject to the foregoing, the Pledgors will not be discharged from any of the Obligations or from this Agreement except by a release or discharge signed in writing by the Secured Party.

6.04 Amendments and Waivers

No amendment to this Agreement will be valid or binding unless set forth in writing and duly executed by all of the parties. No waiver of any breach of any provision of this Agreement will be effective or binding unless made in writing and signed by the party purporting to give the same and, unless otherwise provided in the written waiver, will be limited to the specific breach waived.

6.05 Assignment

The rights of the Secured Party under this Agreement may be assigned by the Secured Party without the prior consent of the Pledgors. The Pledgors may not assign its obligations under this Agreement.

6.06 Severability

If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part, such invalidity or unenforceability will attach only to such provision or part thereof and the remaining part of such provision and all other provisions hereof will continue in full force and effect.

6.07 Notices

Any demand, notice or other communication to be given in connection with this Agreement must be given in writing and may be given by personal delivery, or by electronic means of communication addressed to the recipient as follows:

To the Pledgors:

Scott Fitzgerald 829 Cresthaven Crescent, London, Ontario N6K 4W4

E-Mail: <u>scott lfd@hotmail.com</u> <u>Attention</u>: Scott Fitzgerald

David Shpilt 3513 Homewood Lane, London, Ontario N6P 1K3

E-Mail: <u>david@currativecannabis.ca</u> <u>Attention:</u> David Shpilt

To the Secured Party:

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. 777 Richmond St. W, Suite 002 Toronto, Ontario M6J 3N5

E-Mail: <u>legal@auxly.com</u> <u>Attention</u>: General Counsel

or such other street address, individual or electronic communication number or address as may be designated by notice given by either party to the other. Any demand, notice or other communication given by personal delivery will be conclusively deemed to have been given on the day of actual delivery thereof and, if given by electronic communication, on the day of

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19091866v8 3895267.1

transmittal thereof if given during the normal business hours of the recipient and on the next business day during which such normal business hours next occur if not given during such hours on any day.

6.08 Additional Continuing Security

This Agreement and the security interest, assignment and mortgage and charge granted hereby are in addition to and not in substitution for any other security now or hereafter held by the Secured Party and this Agreement is a continuing agreement and security that will remain in full force and effect until discharged by the Secured Party.

6.09 Remedies Cumulative

The rights and remedies of the Secured Party hereunder are cumulative and are in addition to and not in substitution for any other security now or hereafter held by the Secured Party or any other rights or remedies available at law or in equity or otherwise. No single or partial exercise by the Secured Party of any right or remedy precludes or otherwise affects the exercise of any other right or remedy to which the Secured Party may be entitled.

6.10 Further Assurances

The Pledgors must at its expense from time to time do, execute and deliver, or cause to be done, executed and delivered, all such financing statements, further assignments, documents, agreements, acts, matters and things as may be reasonably requested by the Secured Party for the purpose of giving effect to this Agreement or for the purpose of establishing compliance with the representations, warranties and covenants herein contained.

6.11 Power of Attorney

The Pledgors hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint the Secured Party and any officer or agent thereof the true and lawful attorney of the Pledgors upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, with full power of substitution, to do, make and execute all such statements, assignments, documents, agreements, acts, matters or things with the right to use the name of the Pledgors whenever and wherever the officer or agent may deem necessary or expedient and from time to time to exercise all rights and powers and to perform all acts of ownership in respect to the Collateral in accordance with this Agreement, such power being coupled with an interest.

6.12 Indemnity

The Pledgors hereby, jointly and severally, indemnify and agree to hold harmless the Secured Party from and against any and all claims, losses and liabilities arising out of or resulting from this Agreement (including enforcement of this Agreement), save and except for those arising from the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of the Secured Party.

6.13

[reserved]

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19091866v8
6.14 Governing Law

This Agreement is governed by and will be construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein.

6.15 Attornment

For the purpose of all legal proceedings this Agreement will be deemed to have been performed in the Province of Ontario and the courts of the Province of Ontario will have jurisdiction to entertain any action arising under this Agreement. The Pledgors hereby attorn to the jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario.

6.16 Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together will be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.

6.17 <u>Electronic Execution</u>

Any party may deliver an executed signature page to this Agreement by electronic transmission and such delivery will be as effective as delivery of a manually executed copy of the Agreement by such party.

6.18 Executed Copy

The Pledgors acknowledge receipt of a fully executed copy of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement.

)

)

)

)

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED in the presence of:

water Mill Witness

en

Scott Fitzgerald

SIGNED, SEALED	AND
DELIVERED	
in the presence of:	

) David Shpilt

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

Per: Name Deft Tung Title COO c/s

221836/516417 MT DOCS 19091866v8

3895267.1

SCHEDULE A LIST OF STOCK

Pledged Share Owner	Pledged Share Issuer	Number/Class of <u>Shares Owned</u>	Number/Class of Shares Pledged	% of Shares Pledged of All <u>Outstanding</u> <u>Shares</u>
Scott Fitzgerald.	2368523 Ontario Ltd. (d/b/a Curative Cannabis)	47.5 Common Shares	47.5 Common Shares	47.5%
David Shpilt	2368523 Ontario Ltd. (d/b/a Curative Cannabis)	47.5 Common Shares	47.5 Common Shares	47.5%

.

.

EXHIBIT "I"

This is **Exhibit "I"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

(Daten

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020.



PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM (ONTARIO) ENQUIRY RESULTS

Prepared for : Reference : Docket : Search ID : Date Processed : Report Type : Search Conducted on : Search Type : ONCORP - Bennett Jones - Lorie Neilson 78222.65 A Nelms/ln 739568 8/28/2019 10:34:32 AM PPSA Electronic Response 2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED Business Debtor

DISCLAIMER :

This report has been generated using data provided by the Personal Property Registration Branch, Ministry of Government Services, Government of Ontario. No liability is undertaken regarding its correctness, completeness, or the interpretation and use that are made of it.

MINISTRY OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS SERVICES PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM ENQUIRY RESPONSE

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT A SEARCH HAS BEEN MADE IN THE RECORDS OF THE CENTRAL OFFICE OF THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY SYSTEM IN RESPECT OF THE FOLLOWING:

TYPE OF SEARCH: BUSINESS DEBTOR

CONDUCTED ON: 2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED

FILE CURRENCY: August 27, 2019

RESPONSE CONTAINS: APPROXIMATELY 1 FAMILIES and 1 PAGES.

THE SEARCH RESULTS MAY INDICATE THAT THERE ARE SOME REGISTRATIONS WHICH SET OUT A BUSINESS DEBTOR NAME WHICH IS SIMILAR TO THE NAME IN WHICH YOUR ENQUIRY WAS MADE. IF YOU DETERMINE THAT THERE ARE OTHER SIMILAR BUSINESS DEBTOR NAMES, YOU MAY REQUEST THAT ADDITIONAL ENQUIRIES BE MADE AGAINST THOSE NAMES.

THE ABOVE REPORT HAS BEEN CREATED BASED ON THE DATA PROVIDED BY THE PERSONAL PROPERTY REGISTRATION BRANCH, MINISTRY OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS SERVICES, GOVERNMENT OF ONTARIO. NO LIABILITY IS UNDERTAKEN REGARDING ITS CORRECTNESS, COMPLETENESS, OR THE INTERPRETATION AND USE THAT ARE MADE OF IT. MINISTRY OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS SERVICES PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM ENQUIRY RESPONSE

TYPE OF SEARCH: BUSINESS DEBTOR

CONDUCTED ON: 2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED

FILE CURRENCY: August 27, 2019

1C FINANCING STATEMENT / CLAIM FOR LIEN

FAMILY: 1 OF 1 ENQUIRY PAGE: 1 OF 1

SEARCH : BD : 2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED

00 FILE NUMBER : 750253968 EXPIRY DATE : 17APR 2024 STATUS : 01 CAUTION FILING : PAGE : 001 OF 1 MV SCHEDULE ATTACHED : REG NUM : 20190417 1444 9234 6199 REG TYP: P PPSA REG PERIOD: 5 02 IND DOB : IND NAME: 03 BUS NAME: 2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED OCN : 04 ADDRESS : 10078 LONGWOODS ROAD CITY : CHATHAM PROV: ON POSTAL CODE: N7M 5J1 05 IND DOB : IND NAME: 06 BUS NAME: 2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED OCN : 07 ADDRESS : 3613 HOMEWOOD LANE PROV: ON POSTAL CODE: N6P 1K3 CITY : LONDON

08 SECURED PARTY/LIEN CLAIMANT : AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC. 09 ADDRESS : 777 RICHMOND ST. W, UNIT 002 PROV: ON POSTAL CODE: M6J 0C2 CITY : TORONTO MV SCODE INVTRY. EQUIP ACCTS OTHER INCL 10 X X X X X YEAR MAKE 11 DATE OF OR NO FIXED MATURITY MAT DATE AMOUNT V.I.N. 11 12 GENERAL COLLATERAL DESCRIPTION 13 1415 16 AGENT: MCCARTHY TETRAULT LLP (V. ZED) 17 ADDRESS : 5300-TORONTO DOMINION BANK TOWER CITY : TORONTO PROV: ON POSTAL CODE: M5K 1E6 LAST SCREEN

*** FOR FURTHER INFORMATION, CONTACT THE SECURED PARTY. ***

EXHIBIT "J"

This is **Exhibit "J"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

(Dahin

¢,

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020.



Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1A4 Canada T: 416.863.1200 F: 416.863.1716

August 15, 2019

VIA COURIER AND EMAIL

2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis 3513 Homewood Lane London, ON N6P 1K3 Attention: Mr. David Shpilt

Dear Sir:

Re: Auxly - Demand for Payment

We are the solicitors for Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Promissory Note or the Security (each as defined below) as applicable, unless stated otherwise.

We reference the Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note effective April 23, 2019 by and between 2368523 Ontario Ltd. d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("**Curative**") and Auxly (as may be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced from time to time, the "**Promissory Note**").

As of August 14, 2019, Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,710,696.14** in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date.

The aforementioned indebtedness, including all "Obligations" (as defined in the Debenture) (collectively, the "Indebtedness") (plus all accruing interest, fees, costs, and expenses) is secured by certain security, including: (1) a General Security Agreement by and between Curative and Auxly made April 23, 2019; (2) a Demand Debenture dated April 23, 2019 issued by Curative to Auxly (the "Debenture"); (3) a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald") and David Shpilt ("Shpilt") in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019; (4) a Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019; and (5) a fixed specific mortgage and charge for CAD\$18,000,000 in favour of Auxly against the real properties identified as PIN 00736-0250 (LT) and PIN 00736-0221(LT) (collectively, the "Security").

The Maturity Date under the Promissory Note occurred on August 5, 2019 and Auxly has advised us that Curative failed to pay the Indebtedness on or prior to the Maturity Date. Accordingly, Curative is in default of the terms of the Promissory Note and the Security and the Indebtedness is due and immediately payable.

On behalf of Auxly, we hereby demand immediate payment of the Indebtedness (plus all accruing interest, fees, costs, and expenses).

Payment is to be made to Bennett Jones LLP, in trust, Suite 3400, One First Canadian Place, Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 to the attention of Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson.

Failing immediate payment or alternative arrangements satisfactory to Auxly to address payment of the Indebtedness, our client intends to take such steps as it considers necessary or appropriate, including proceedings to enforce the Security, to recover payment of the Indebtedness (plus all accruing interest, fees, costs, and expenses) in full without further notice.

We enclose a copy of a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security issued pursuant to subsection 244(1) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* (Canada).

As you are also aware, Auxly has made arrangements to pay third-party vendors on Curative's behalf in connection with the construction of certain of Curative's facilities and future operations (collectively "Future Construction Costs"). At this time, Auxly intends to continue to make payments in respect of Future Construction Costs as they come due. Pursuant to the terms of the Promissory Note and the Security, all payments made by Auxly in respect of Future Construction Costs and any interest accrued in connection therewith are subject to the Security and shall be added to and form part of the outstanding Indebtedness and Obligations. Notwithstanding the payment of any Future Construction Costs by Auxly, Auxly expressly reserves the right to cease making any and all payments in respect of Future Constriction Costs at any time, in its sole discretion.

Yours truly,

BENNETT JØNES LLP H. Finlayson Gavi C: Michael Shakra (Bennett Jones LLP)



NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY

TO: 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("Curative"), an insolvent person.

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

- 1. Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), a secured creditor, intends to enforce its security on all present and after-acquired undertaking and property of Curative of any nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, equipment, inventory, accounts, intangibles, documents of title, chattel paper, instruments, money, securities, documents, real property, and proceeds), all as more particularly described in the body of and schedules to the Security, as defined below.
- 2. The Security that is to be enforced is in the form of: a General Security Agreement by and between Curative and Auxly made April 23, 2019; (2) a Demand Debenture dated April 23, 2019 issued by Curative to Auxly; (3) a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald") and David Shpilt ("Shpilt") in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019; (4) a Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019; and (5) a fixed specific mortgage and charge for CAD\$18,000,000 in favour of Auxly against the real properties identified as PIN 00736-0250 (LT) and PIN 00736-0221(LT) (collectively, the "Security").
- 3. As of August 14, 2019 Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,710,696.14** in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date.
- 4. Auxly will not have the right to enforce the Security until after the expiry of the ten (10) day period after this notice is sent, unless Curative consents to an earlier enforcement.

DATED at Toronto this 15th day of August 2019

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (by its lawyers) BENNETT-JONES/LLP

BENNETT-JONES/LLP 1 First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 Attention: Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson





Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1A4 Canada T: 416.863.1200 F: 416.863.1716

August 15, 2019

VIA COURIER AND EMAIL

David Shpilt 3513 Homewood Lane London, ON N6P 1K3

Dear Sir:

Re: Auxly – Demand for Payment

We are the solicitors for Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Promissory Note or the Security (each as defined below) as applicable, unless stated otherwise.

We reference: (1) the Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note effective April 23, 2019 by and between 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("Curative") and Auxly (as amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced from time to time, the "Promissory Note"); (2) a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald") and David Shpilt ("Shpilt") in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019 (the "Guarantee"); and (3) a Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019 (the "Share Pledge").

As of August 14, 2019 Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,710,696.14** in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date (the **"Indebtedness"**).

By letter dated August 15, 2019, sent on behalf of Auxly, we have demanded payment from Curative in respect of the Indebtedness, plus all accruing interest, fees and costs, including professional costs (the "Demand Letter"). A copy of the Demand Letter is attached.

The Guarantee and the Share Pledge are held in support of all Indebtedness, plus all further principal, accruing interest, and existing and further fees and costs, including professional costs.

On behalf of Auxly, we hereby demand immediate payment of the Indebtedness (plus all accruing interest, fees, costs, and expenses).

Payment is to be made to Bennett Jones LLP, in trust, Suite 3400, One First Canadian Place, Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 to the attention of Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson.

Failing immediate payment or alternative arrangements satisfactory to Auxly to address payment of the Indebtedness, our client intends to take such steps as it considers necessary or appropriate, including proceedings to enforce the Guarantee and Share Pledge, to recover payment of the Indebtedness (plus all accruing interest and all accrued and accruing fees, costs, and expenses) in full without further notice.

We enclose a copy of a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security issued pursuant to subsection 244(1) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* (Canada).

Yours truly, ONES LLP BENNETT J Gavin H. Finlayson C: Michael Shakra (Bennett Jones LLP)



NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY

TO: David Shpilt ("Shpilt").

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

- 1. Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), a secured creditor, intends to enforce its security on the Collateral as that term is defined in the Pledge Agreement between Scott Fitzgerald "Fitzgerald"), Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019 (the "Share Pledge").
- 2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of the Share Pledge and a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Fitzgerald and Shpilt in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019 (collectively, the "Security").
- 3. As of August 14, 2019 Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,710,696.14** in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date.
- 4. Auxly will not have the right to enforce the Security until after the expiry of the ten (10) day period after this notice is sent, unless Shpilt consents to an earlier enforcement.

DATED at Toronto this 15th day of August 2019

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (by its lawyers)

BENNETT JONES/LLP 1 First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Bex/130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 Attention: Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson



ATTACHMENT CURATIVE CANNABIS DEMAND



Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1A4 Canada T: 416.863.1200 F: 416.863.1716

August 15, 2019

VIA COURIER AND EMAIL

2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis 3513 Homewood Lane London, ON N6P 1K3 Attention: Mr. David Shpilt

Dear Sir:

Re: Auxly - Demand for Payment

We are the solicitors for Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Promissory Note or the Security (each as defined below) as applicable, unless stated otherwise.

We reference the Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note effective April 23, 2019 by and between 2368523 Ontario Ltd. d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("**Curative**") and Auxly (as may be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced from time to time, the "**Promissory Note**").

As of August 14, 2019, Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of CAD\$14,710,696.14 in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date.

The aforementioned indebtedness, including all "Obligations" (as defined in the Debenture) (collectively, the "Indebtedness") (plus all accruing interest, fees, costs, and expenses) is secured by certain security, including: (1) a General Security Agreement by and between Curative and Auxly made April 23, 2019; (2) a Demand Debenture dated April 23, 2019 issued by Curative to Auxly (the "Debenture"); (3) a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald") and David Shpilt ("Shpilt") in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019; (4) a Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019; and (5) a fixed specific mortgage and charge for CAD\$18,000,000 in favour of Auxly against the real properties identified as PIN 00736-0250 (LT) and PIN 00736-0221(LT) (collectively, the "Security").

The Maturity Date under the Promissory Note occurred on August 5, 2019 and Auxly has advised us that Curative failed to pay the Indebtedness on or prior to the Maturity Date. Accordingly, Curative is in default of the terms of the Promissory Note and the Security and the Indebtedness is due and immediately payable.

On behalf of Auxly, we hereby demand immediate payment of the Indebtedness (plus all accruing interest, fees, costs, and expenses).

Payment is to be made to Bennett Jones LLP, in trust, Suite 3400, One First Canadian Place, Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 to the attention of Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson.

Failing immediate payment or alternative arrangements satisfactory to Auxly to address payment of the Indebtedness, our client intends to take such steps as it considers necessary or appropriate, including proceedings to enforce the Security, to recover payment of the Indebtedness (plus all accruing interest, fees, costs, and expenses) in full without further notice.

We enclose a copy of a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security issued pursuant to subsection 244(1) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* (Canada).

As you are also aware, Auxly has made arrangements to pay third-party vendors on Curative's behalf in connection with the construction of certain of Curative's facilities and future operations (collectively "Future Construction Costs"). At this time, Auxly intends to continue to make payments in respect of Future Construction Costs as they come due. Pursuant to the terms of the Promissory Note and the Security, all payments made by Auxly in respect of Future Construction Costs and any interest accrued in connection therewith are subject to the Security and shall be added to and form part of the outstanding Indebtedness and Obligations. Notwithstanding the payment of any Future Construction Costs by Auxly, Auxly expressly reserves the right to cease making any and all payments in respect of Future Construction Costs at any time, in its sole discretion.

Yours truly,

BENNETT JØNES LLP H. Finlayson Gavi C: Michael Shakra (Bennett Jones LLP)



NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY

TO: 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("Curative"), an insolvent person.

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

- 1. Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), a secured creditor, intends to enforce its security on all present and after-acquired undertaking and property of Curative of any nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, equipment, inventory, accounts, intangibles, documents of title, chattel paper, instruments, money, securities, documents, real property, and proceeds), all as more particularly described in the body of and schedules to the Security, as defined below.
- 2. The Security that is to be enforced is in the form of: a General Security Agreement by and between Curative and Auxly made April 23, 2019; (2) a Demand Debenture dated April 23, 2019 issued by Curative to Auxly; (3) a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald") and David Shpilt ("Shpilt") in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019; (4) a Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019; and (5) a fixed specific mortgage and charge for CAD\$18,000,000 in favour of Auxly against the real properties identified as PIN 00736-0250 (LT) and PIN 00736-0221(LT) (collectively, the "Security").
- 3. As of August 14, 2019 Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,710,696.14** in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date.
- 4. Auxly will not have the right to enforce the Security until after the expiry of the ten (10) day period after this notice is sent, unless Curative consents to an earlier enforcement.

DATED at Toronto this 15th day of August 2019

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (by its lawyers) BENNETT-JONES/LLP

1 First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 Attention: Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson





Gavin H. Finlayson Partner Direct Line: 416.777.5762 e-mail: <u>finlaysong@bennettjones.com</u> Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1A4 Canada T: 416.863.1200 F: 416.863.1716

August 15, 2019

VIA COURIER AND EMAIL

Scott Fitzgerald 829 Cresthaven Crescent London, ON N6K 4W4

Dear Sir:

Re: Auxly – Demand for Payment

We are the solicitors for Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Promissory Note or the Security (each as defined below) as applicable, unless stated otherwise.

We reference: (1) the Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note effective April 23, 2019 by and between 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("**Curative**") and Auxly (as amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced from time to time, the "**Promissory Note**"); (2) a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Scott Fitzgerald ("**Fitzgerald**") and David Shpilt ("**Shpilt**") in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019 (the "**Guarantee**"); and (3) a Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019 (the "**Share Pledge**").

As of August 14, 2019 Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of CAD\$14,710,696.14 in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date (the "Indebtedness").

By letter dated August 15, 2019, sent on behalf of Auxly, we have demanded payment from Curative in respect of the Indebtedness, plus all accruing interest, fees and costs, including professional costs (the "**Demand Letter**"). A copy of the Demand Letter is attached.

The Guarantee and the Share Pledge are held in support of all Indebtedness, plus all further principal, accruing interest, and existing and further fees and costs, including professional costs.

On behalf of Auxly, we hereby demand immediate payment of the Indebtedness (plus all accruing interest, fees, costs, and expenses).

Payment is to be made to Bennett Jones LLP, in trust, Suite 3400, One First Canadian Place, Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 to the attention of Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson.

Failing immediate payment or alternative arrangements satisfactory to Auxly to address payment of the Indebtedness, our client intends to take such steps as it considers necessary or appropriate, including proceedings to enforce the Guarantee and Share Pledge, to recover payment of the Indebtedness (plus all accruing interest and all accrued and accruing fees, costs, and expenses) in full without further notice.

We enclose a copy of a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security issued pursuant to subsection 244(1) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* (Canada).

Yours truly, BENNETT JONES LLP Gavin H. Finlayson C: Michael Shakra (Bennett Jones LLP)



NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY

TO: Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald").

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

- 1. Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), a secured creditor, intends to enforce its security on the Collateral as that term is defined in the Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, David Shpilt ("Shpilt") and Auxly dated April 23, 2019 (the "Share Pledge").
- 2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of the Share Pledge and a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Fitzgerald and Shpilt in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019 (collectively, the "Security").
- 3. As of August 14, 2019 Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,710,696.14** in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date.
- 4. Auxly will not have the right to enforce the Security until after the expiry of the ten (10) day period after this notice is sent, unless Fitzgerald consents to an earlier enforcement.

DATED at Toronto this 15th day of August 2019

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (by its lawyers)

BENNETT SONES LLP 1 First Canadian Diace Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 Attention: Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson



ATTACHMENT CURATIVE CANNABIS DEMAND



Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1A4 Canada T: 416.863.1200 F: 416.863.1716

August 15, 2019

VIA COURIER AND EMAIL

2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis 3513 Homewood Lane London, ON N6P 1K3 Attention: Mr. David Shpilt

Dear Sir:

Re: Auxly - Demand for Payment

We are the solicitors for Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Promissory Note or the Security (each as defined below) as applicable, unless stated otherwise.

We reference the Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note effective April 23, 2019 by and between 2368523 Ontario Ltd. d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("**Curative**") and Auxly (as may be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced from time to time, the "**Promissory Note**").

As of August 14, 2019, Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,710,696.14** in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date.

The aforementioned indebtedness, including all "Obligations" (as defined in the Debenture) (collectively, the "Indebtedness") (plus all accruing interest, fees, costs, and expenses) is secured by certain security, including: (1) a General Security Agreement by and between Curative and Auxly made April 23, 2019; (2) a Demand Debenture dated April 23, 2019 issued by Curative to Auxly (the "Debenture"); (3) a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald") and David Shpilt ("Shpilt") in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019; (4) a Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019; and (5) a fixed specific mortgage and charge for CAD\$18,000,000 in favour of Auxly against the real properties identified as PIN 00736-0250 (LT) and PIN 00736-0221(LT) (collectively, the "Security").

The Maturity Date under the Promissory Note occurred on August 5, 2019 and Auxly has advised us that Curative failed to pay the Indebtedness on or prior to the Maturity Date. Accordingly, Curative is in default of the terms of the Promissory Note and the Security and the Indebtedness is due and immediately payable.

On behalf of Auxly, we hereby demand immediate payment of the Indebtedness (plus all accruing interest, fees, costs, and expenses).

Payment is to be made to Bennett Jones LLP, in trust, Suite 3400, One First Canadian Place, Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 to the attention of Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson.

Failing immediate payment or alternative arrangements satisfactory to Auxly to address payment of the Indebtedness, our client intends to take such steps as it considers necessary or appropriate, including proceedings to enforce the Security, to recover payment of the Indebtedness (plus all accruing interest, fees, costs, and expenses) in full without further notice.

We enclose a copy of a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security issued pursuant to subsection 244(1) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* (Canada).

As you are also aware, Auxly has made arrangements to pay third-party vendors on Curative's behalf in connection with the construction of certain of Curative's facilities and future operations (collectively "**Future Construction Costs**"). At this time, Auxly intends to continue to make payments in respect of Future Construction Costs as they come due. Pursuant to the terms of the Promissory Note and the Security, all payments made by Auxly in respect of Future Construction Costs and any interest accrued in connection therewith are subject to the Security and shall be added to and form part of the outstanding Indebtedness and Obligations. Notwithstanding the payment of any Future Construction Costs by Auxly, Auxly expressly reserves the right to cease making any and all payments in respect of Future Construction Costs at any time, in its sole discretion.

Yours truly,

BENNETT JØNES LLP Gavin H. Finlayson C: Michael Shakra (Bennett Jones LLP)



NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY

TO: 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("Curative"), an insolvent person.

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

- 1. Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), a secured creditor, intends to enforce its security on all present and after-acquired undertaking and property of Curative of any nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, equipment, inventory, accounts, intangibles, documents of title, chattel paper, instruments, money, securities, documents, real property, and proceeds), all as more particularly described in the body of and schedules to the Security, as defined below.
- 2. The Security that is to be enforced is in the form of: a General Security Agreement by and between Curative and Auxly made April 23, 2019; (2) a Demand Debenture dated April 23, 2019 issued by Curative to Auxly; (3) a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald") and David Shpilt ("Shpilt") in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019; (4) a Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019; and (5) a fixed specific mortgage and charge for CAD\$18,000,000 in favour of Auxly against the real properties identified as PIN 00736-0250 (LT) and PIN 00736-0221(LT) (collectively, the "Security").
- 3. As of August 14, 2019 Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,710,696.14** in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date.
- 4. Auxly will not have the right to enforce the Security until after the expiry of the ten (10) day period after this notice is sent, unless Curative consents to an earlier enforcement.

DATED at Toronto this 15th day of August 2019

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (by its lawyers) BENNETT-JONES/LLP

BENNETT JONES/LLP 1 First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 Attention: Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson



EXHIBIT "K"

This is **Exhibit "K"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

Water

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020.



Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1A4 Canada T: 416.863.1200 F: 416.863.1716

Gavin H. Finlayson Partner Direct Line: 416.777.5762 e-mail: <u>finlaysong@bennettiones.com</u>

August 29, 2019

VIA EMAIL

2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis 3513 Homewood Lane London, ON N6P 1K3

Attention: David Shpilt

Dear Sir:

Re: Auxly - Notice of Foreclosure

We are the solicitors for Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly") a secured creditor of David Shpilt ("Shpilt"), Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald") and 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("Curative").

As of August 28, 2019, Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of CAD\$14,805,075 in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal, interest and costs current to that date (the "Indebtedness").

By letter dated August 15, 2019, sent on behalf of Auxly, we demanded payment from Curative in respect of the Indebtedness as of that date, plus all accruing interest, fees and costs, including professional costs.

As of the date of this letter, no payment has been made to Auxly in respect of the Indebtedness and alternative arrangements satisfactory to Auxly to address payment of the Indebtedness have not been arranged. As such, Auxly intends to foreclose on all of the common shares of 2368523 Ontario Ltd. previously pledged by Fitzgerald and Shpilt to Auxly in full satisfaction of the Indebtedness.

We enclose a copy of a Notice for Foreclosure issued pursuant to subsections 63(4) and 65(2) of the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario) in respect of Fitzgerald and Shpilt.

Yours truly, **BENNETT JONES LLP** Gavin IANFihlayson

C: Michael Shakra (Bennett Jones LLP)

WSLEGAL\078222\00065\23037944v1

NOITCE FOR FORECLSOURE

TO: 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

- 1. Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), a secured creditor of Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald"), intends to enforce its security on the Collateral (the "Collateral") as that term is defined in the Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, David Shpilt ("Shpilt") and Auxly dated April 23, 2019 (the "Share Pledge").
- 2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of the Share Pledge and a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Fitzgerald and Shpilt in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019 (collectively, the "Security").
- 3. As of August 28, 2019, 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,805,075**, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date (the "**Indebtedness**").
- 4. Auxly proposes to accept the Collateral in full satisfaction of the Indebtedness pursuant to section 65 of the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario).
- 5. The amounts required to satisfy the Indebtedness secured by the Security are, as at August 28, 2019 as follows: CAD\$14,805,075, inclusive of principal, interest and costs current to that date, plus all further principal, accruing interest, and existing and further fees and costs, including professional costs.
- 6. If you object to this proposal, you must deliver your written objection, with reasons therefor, to Auxly, such that your written objection is actually received by Auxly within the earlier of 15 days from your receipt of this notice or September 13, 2019.
- 7. This notice is being delivered to you because it appears that you may have an interest in all or part of the Collateral. The delivery of this notice is not an acknowledgment of the existence or validity of any interest you may have in all or part of the Collateral.
- 8. Auxly may require an objector to furnish proof of its interest in the Collateral. If the objector does not furnish proof within 10 days of the demand for such proof (delivered to the address set out in the objection), Auxly will proceed as if no objection has been made.



9. If no effective objection is made, Auxly will become the owner of the Collateral by operation of law, free of all subordinate interests and rights.

DATED at Toronto this 29th day of August 2019

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (by its lawyers) BENNETT JONES LLP 1 First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 Attention: Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson





Bennett Jones

Gavin H. Finlayson Partner Direct Line: 416.777.5762 e-mail: finlaysong@bennettjones.com Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1A4 Canada T: 416.863.1200 F: 416.863.1716

August 29, 2019

VIA EMAIL

David Shpilt 3513 Homewood Lane London, ON N6P 1K3

Dear Sir:

Re: Auxly - Notice of Foreclosure

We are the solicitors for Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Promissory Note (as defined below) unless stated otherwise.

We reference: (1) the Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note effective April 23, 2019 by and between 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("**Curative**") and Auxly (as amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced from time to time, the "**Promissory Note**"); (2) a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Scott Fitzgerald ("**Fitzgerald**") and David Shpilt ("**Shpilt**") in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019 (the "**Guarantee**"); and (3) a Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019 (the "**Share Pledge**").

As of August 28, 2019, Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of CAD\$14,805,075 in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal, interest and costs, current to that date (the "Indebtedness").

By letter dated August 15, 2019, sent on behalf of Auxly, we demanded payment from Curative in respect of the Indebtedness as of that date, plus all accruing interest, fees and costs, including professional costs.

The Guarantee and the Share Pledge are held in support of all Indebtedness, plus all further principal, accruing interest, and existing and further fees and costs, including professional costs. Accordingly, by letter dated August 15, 2019, demand for payment of the Indebtedness as of that date was also made on you and Fitzgerald.

As of the date of this letter, no payment has been made to Auxly in respect of the Indebtedness and alternative arrangements satisfactory to Auxly to address payment of the Indebtedness have not been arranged. As such, Auxly intends to foreclose on the Collateral (as defined in the Share Pledge) in full satisfaction of the Indebtedness. We enclose a copy of a Notice for Foreclosure issued pursuant to subsections 63(4) and 65(2) of the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario).

÷

Yours truly,

.

BENNETT JØNES LLP

Gavin H. Kinlay son

C: Michael Shakra (Bennett Jones LLP)



NOITCE FOR FORECLSOURE

TO: David Shpilt ("Shpilt").

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

- 1. Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), a secured creditor, intends to enforce its security on the Collateral (the "Collateral") as that term is defined in the Pledge Agreement between Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald"), Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019 (the "Share Pledge").
- 2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of the Share Pledge and a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Fitzgerald and Shpilt in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019 (collectively, the "Security").
- 3. As of August 28, 2019, 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis is indebted to Auxly in the amount of CAD\$\$14,805,075, inclusive of principal and interest, current to that date (the "Indebtedness").
- 4. Auxly proposes to accept the Collateral in full satisfaction of the Indebtedness pursuant to section 65 of the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario).
- 5. The amounts required to satisfy the Indebtedness secured by the Security are, as at August 28, 2019 as follows: CAD\$14,805,075, inclusive of principal and interest current to that date, plus all further principal, accruing interest, and existing and further fees and costs, including professional costs.
- 6. If you object to this proposal, you must deliver your written objection, with reasons therefor, to Auxly, such that your written objection is actually received by Auxly within the earlier of 15 days from your receipt of this notice or September 13, 2019.
- 7. This notice is being delivered to you because it appears that you may have an interest in all or part of the Collateral. The delivery of this notice is not an acknowledgment of the existence or validity of any interest you may have in all or part of the Collateral.
- 8. Auxly may require an objector to furnish proof of its interest in the Collateral. If the objector does not furnish proof within 10 days of the demand for such proof (delivered to the address set out in the objection), Auxly will proceed as if no objection has been made.



9. If no effective objection is made, Auxly will become the owner of the Collateral by operation of law, free of all subordinate interests and rights.

DATED at Toronto this 29th day of August 2019

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (by its lawyers) BENNETT JONES LLP 1 First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 Attention: Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson




Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1A4 Canada T: 416.863.1200 F: 416.863.1716

Gavin H. Finlayson Partner Direct Line: 416,777,5762 e-mail: finlaysong@bennettiones.com

August 29, 2019

VIA EMAIL

Scott Fitzgerald 829 Cresthaven Crescent London, ON N6K 4W4

Dear Sir:

Re: Auxly - Notice of Foreclosure

We are the solicitors for Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Promissory Note (as defined below) unless stated otherwise.

We reference: (1) the Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note effective April 23, 2019 by and between 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("Curative") and Auxly (as amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced from time to time, the "Promissory Note"); (2) a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald") and David Shpilt ("Shpilt") in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019 (the "Guarantee"); and (3) a Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019 (the "Share Pledge").

As of August 28, 2019, Curative is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,805,075** in respect of the Principal Amount, inclusive of principal, interest and costs, current to that date (the "Indebtedness").

By letter dated August 15, 2019, sent on behalf of Auxly, we demanded payment from Curative in respect of the Indebtedness as of that date, plus all accruing interest, fees and costs, including professional costs.

The Guarantee and the Share Pledge are held in support of all Indebtedness, plus all further principal, accruing interest, and existing and further fees and costs, including professional costs. Accordingly, by letter dated August 15, 2019, demand for payment of the Indebtedness as of that date was also made on you and Shpilt.

As of the date of this letter, no payment has been made to Auxly in respect of the Indebtedness and alternative arrangements satisfactory to Auxly to address payment of the Indebtedness have not been arranged. As such, Auxly intends to foreclose on the Collateral (as defined in the Share Pledge) in full satisfaction of the Indebtedness. We enclose a copy of a Notice for Foreclosure issued pursuant to subsections 63(4) and 65(2) of the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario).

Yours truly, BENNETA JONES LLP Gavin H. Finlayson Michael Shakra (Bennett Jones LLP) C:



NOITCE FOR FORECLSOURE

TO: Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald").

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

- 1. Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), a secured creditor, intends to enforce its security on the Collateral (the "Collateral") as that term is defined in the Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, David Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019 (the "Share Pledge").
- 2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of the Share Pledge and a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Fitzgerald and Shpilt in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019 (collectively, the "Security").
- 3. As of August 28, 2019, 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,805,075**, inclusive of principal, interest and costs, current to that date (the "**Indebtedness**").
- 4. Auxly proposes to accept the Collateral in full satisfaction of the Indebtedness pursuant to section 65 of the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario).
- 5. The amount required to satisfy the Indebtedness secured by the Security are, as at August 28, 2019 as follows: CAD\$14,805,075, inclusive of principal, interest and costs current to that date, plus all further principal, accruing interest, and existing and further fees and costs, including professional costs.
- 6. If you object to this proposal, you must deliver your written objection, with reasons therefor, to Auxly, such that your written objection is actually received by Auxly within the earlier of 15 days from your receipt of this notice or September 13, 2019.
- 7. This notice is being delivered to you because it appears that you may have an interest in all or part of the Collateral. The delivery of this notice is not an acknowledgment of the existence or validity of any interest you may have in all or part of the Collateral.
- 8. Auxly may require an objector to furnish proof of its interest in the Collateral. If the objector does not furnish proof within 10 days of the demand for such proof (delivered to the address set out in the objection), Auxly will proceed as if no objection has been made.



9. If no effective objection is made, Auxly will become the owner of the Collateral by operation of law, free of all subordinate interests and rights.

DATED at Toronto this 29th day of August 2019

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (by its lawyers)

bound for CIP

BENNETT JONES LLP 1 First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 Attention: Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson





Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1A4 Canada T: 416.863.1200 F: 416.863.1716

Gavin H. Finlayson Pattner Direct Line: 416.777,5762 e-mail: <u>finlaysong@bennettjones.com</u>

August 29, 2019

VIA COURIER

Marcos Soberano 2345 Yonge Street, Suite 302 Toronto, ON M4P 2E5

Dear Sir:

Re: Auxly - Notice of Foreclosure

We are the solicitors for Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly") a secured creditor of Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald").

As of August 28, 2019, 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("Curative") is indebted to Auxly in the amount of CAD\$14,805,075, inclusive of principal, interest and costs current to that date (the "Indebtedness").

By letter dated August 15, 2019, sent on behalf of Auxly, we demanded payment from Curative in respect of the Indebtedness as of that date, plus all accruing interest, fees and costs, including professional costs.

As of the date of this letter, no payment has been made to Auxly in respect of the Indebtedness and alternative arrangements satisfactory to Auxly to address payment of the Indebtedness have not been arranged. As such, Auxly intends to foreclose on all of the common shares of 2368523 Ontario Ltd. previously pledged by Fitzgerald to Auxly in full satisfaction of the Indebtedness.

We enclose a copy of a Notice for Foreclosure issued pursuant to subsections 63(4) and 65(2) of the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario).

Yours truly,

BENNET ONES LLP Gavit H. Mnlayson C: Michael Shakra (Bennett Jones LLP)

NOITCE FOR FORECLSOURE

TO: Marcos Soberano

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

- 1. Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), a secured creditor of Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald"), intends to enforce its security on the Collateral (the "Collateral") as that term is defined in the Pledge Agreement between Fitzgerald, David Shpilt ("Shpilt") and Auxly dated April 23, 2019 (the "Share Pledge").
- 2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of the Share Pledge and a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Fitzgerald and Shpilt in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019 (collectively, the "Security").
- 3. As of August 28, 2019, 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis is indebted to Auxly in the amount of **CAD\$14,805,075**, inclusive of principal, interest and costs current to that date (the "**Indebtedness**").
- 4. Auxly proposes to accept the Collateral in full satisfaction of the Indebtedness pursuant to section 65 of the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario).
- 5. The amounts required to satisfy the Indebtedness secured by the Security are, as at August 28, 2019 as follows: CAD\$14,805,075, inclusive of principal, interest and costs current to that date, plus all further principal, accruing interest, and existing and further fees and costs, including professional costs.
- 6. If you object to this proposal, you must deliver your written objection, with reasons therefor, to Auxly, such that your written objection is actually received by Auxly within the earlier of 15 days from your receipt of this notice or September 23, 2019.
- 7. This notice is being delivered to you because it appears that you may have an interest in all or part of the Collateral. The delivery of this notice is not an acknowledgment of the existence or validity of any interest you may have in all or part of the Collateral.
- 8. Auxly may require an objector to furnish proof of its interest in the Collateral. If the objector does not furnish proof within 10 days of the demand for such proof (delivered to the address set out in the objection), Auxly will proceed as if no objection has been made.



9. If no effective objection is made, Auxly will become the owner of the Collateral by operation of law, free of all subordinate interests and rights.

DATED at Toronto this 29th day of August 2019

Auxly Cannabis GroupInc. (by its lawyers) BENNETT JONES ALP 1 First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 Attention: Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson

Bennett Jones WSLEGAL 1078222\00065\23037853v1



Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1A4 Canada T: 416.863.1200 F: 416.863.1716

August 29, 2019

VIA COURIER

689643 Ontario Inc. 458 Melrose Ave. Toronto, ON M5M 1Z9

Dear Sir:

Re: Auxly - Notice of Foreclosure

We are the solicitors for Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), a secured creditor of David Shpilt ("Shpilt").

As of August 28, 2019, 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("Curative") is indebted to Auxly in the amount of CAD\$14,805,075, inclusive of principal, interest and costs current to that date (the "Indebtedness").

By letter dated August 15, 2019, sent on behalf of Auxly, we demanded payment from Curative in respect of the Indebtedness as of that date, plus all accruing interest, fees and costs, including professional costs.

As of the date of this letter, no payment has been made to Auxly in respect of the Indebtedness and alternative arrangements satisfactory to Auxly to address payment of the Indebtedness have not been arranged. As such, Auxly intends to foreclose on all of the common shares of 2368523 Ontario Ltd. previously pledged by Shpilt to Auxly in full satisfaction of the Indebtedness.

We enclose a copy of a Notice for Foreclosure issued pursuant to subsections 63(4) and 65(2) of the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario).

Yours truly,

BENNETT JØNES LLP H-Fin Gavi ayson C: Michael Shakra (Bennett Jones LLP)

NOITCE FOR FORECLSOURE

TO: 689643 Ontario Inc.

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

- 1. Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), a secured creditor of David Shpilt ("Shpilt"), intends to enforce its security on the Collateral (the "Collateral") as that term is defined in the Pledge Agreement between Scott Fitzgerald ("Fitzgerald"), Shpilt and Auxly dated April 23, 2019 (the "Share Pledge").
- 2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of the Share Pledge and a Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Fitzgerald and Shpilt in favour of Auxly as of April 23, 2019 (collectively, the "Security").
- 3. As of August 28, 2019, 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis is indebted to Auxly in the amount of CAD\$14,805,075, inclusive of principal, interest and costs current to that date (the "Indebtedness").
- 4. Auxly proposes to accept the Collateral in full satisfaction of the Indebtedness pursuant to section 65 of the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario).
- 5. The amounts required to satisfy the Indebtedness secured by the Security are, as at August 28, 2019 as follows: CAD\$14,805,075, inclusive of principal, interest and costs current to that date, plus all further principal, accruing interest, and existing and further fees and costs, including professional costs.
- 6. If you object to this proposal, you must deliver your written objection, with reasons therefor, to Auxly, such that your written objection is actually received by Auxly within the earlier of 15 days from your receipt of this notice or September 23, 2019.
- 7. This notice is being delivered to you because it appears that you may have an interest in all or part of the Collateral. The delivery of this notice is not an acknowledgment of the existence or validity of any interest you may have in all or part of the Collateral.
- 8. Auxly may require an objector to furnish proof of its interest in the Collateral. If the objector does not furnish proof within 10 days of the demand for such proof (delivered to the address set out in the objection), Auxly will proceed as if no objection has been made.



9. If no effective objection is made, Auxly will become the owner of the Collateral by operation of law, free of all subordinate interests and rights.

DATED at Toronto this 29th day of August 2019

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (by its lawyers)

BENNETT JONESALP 1 First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 180 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 Attention: Mr. Gavin H. Finlayson



EXHIBIT "L"

This is **Exhibit "L"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

Martin

. . .

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil'Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020.



YAAKOV EIZICOVICS DIRECT/FAX: 416.962.3002 E-MAIL: YAAKOV@GROPPERLAW.COM

BY COURIER

September 9, 2019

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. c/o Bennett Jones LLP 666 Burrard Street Suite 2500 Vancouver BC V6C 2X8

Dear Sirs:

Re: Objection to Foreclosure

We confirm receipt of your Notice for Foreclosure dated August 29, 2019 (the "Notice").

We act for 689643 Ontario Inc. and Marcos Soberano in their capacity as secured creditors of David Shpilt and Scott Fitzgerald, which security interests relate to the following registrations under the PPSA:

- File 744002433 (Registered September 21, 2018)
- File 744487443 (Registered October 4, 2018)
- File 747687186 (Registered January 18, 2019)

We understand that your security relates to the following registration:

• File 751077018 (Registered May 10, 2019)

We hereby object to the proposal set out in the Notice.

Firstly, our search shows that the registration in respect of which the Notice was delivered is dated subsequent to the registrations made by or on behalf of our clients. Accordingly, our clients would be prejudiced by the proposed foreclosure.

Additionally, and even in the event that your interest had priority to that of our clients, foreclosure would prejudice our clients if and to the extent that your enforcement via means other than foreclosure would yield proceed in excess of the indebtedness which you claim in the Notice.

If you are in possession of any information or documentation which would speak to the value of the collateral, we would ask that you provide this to us. Should you require us and/or clients to execute a non disclosure agreement in connection with the provision of such materials, please advise.

Yours very truly,

Gaakov Eiricovics

Yaakov Eizicovics YE*jc

c. Gavin Finlayson (Bennett Jones)

EXHIBIT "M"

This is **Exhibit "M"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

ali

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020.



Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1A4 Canada T: 416.863.1200 F: 416.863.1716

September 10, 2019

VIA EMAIL

Yaakov Eizicovics Gropper Law 2345 Yonge Street Suite 302 Toronto, Ontario

Dear Sir:

Re: Auxly and Foreclosure in Respect of Curative Cannabis

We confirm receipt of the Objection to Foreclosure dated September 9, 2019, issued on behalf of 689643 Ontario Inc. and Marcos Soberano (collectively, the "**Objectors**") in respect of the foreclosure process commenced by Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly") for certain shares of 2368523 Ontario Limited. d/b/a Curative Cannabis ("Curative") owned by David Shpilt and Scott Fitzgerald (the "Shares").

Pursuant to subsection 65(4) of the Ontario *Personal Property Security Act* (the "**PPSA**"), Auxly requires that the Objectors furnish proof of their interest in the Shares within 10 days of the issuance of this letter, failing which Auxly will proceed with the foreclosure process in respect of the Shares. With respect to any prior-in-time registrations filed against Mr. Shpilt and Mr. Fitzgerald, we note that Auxly has physical possession of the certificates for Shares and, pursuant to the relevant provisions of the PPSA and Ontario *Securities Transfer Act, 2006*, asserts priority in respect of the Shares over all other secured creditors with valid registrations against Mr. Shpilt and Mr. Fitzgerald.

Yours truly,

BENNETT ONES LLP Galvin I Finlayson C: Michael Shakra (Bennett Jones LLP)

EXHIBIT "N"

This is **Exhibit "N"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

Madin

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020. 680 Waterloo Street, London, ON N6A 3V8

SISKINDS LAW FIRM

EMAIL james.judson@siskinds.com

FILE NO. 865080/JJ/jj

September 11, 2019

Delivered by Email; and Delivered by Courier

Bennett Jones LLP 3400 One First Canadian Place, PO Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4

Attention: Gavin Finlayson

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. 777 Richmond Street West, Suite 002 Toronto, Ontario M6J 0C2

Attention: General Counsel

Dear Sirs:

Re: Objection to Notice of Foreclosure dated August 29, 2019

We are the lawyers for 2368523 Ontario Limited (d/b/a Curative Cannabis), David Shpilt ("Mr. Shpilt"), and Scott FitzGerald ("Mr. FitzGerald").

We have received a Notice of Foreclosure dated August 29, 2019 (the "Notice of Foreclosure") in respect of a) the Pledge Agreement between Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly"), Mr. Shpilt, and Mr. Fitzgerald dated April 23, 2019; and b) the Limited Recourse Guarantee made by Mr. Shpilt and Mr. Fitzgerald in favour of Auxly dated April 23, 2019.

Pursuant to section 65(3) of the *Personal Property Security Act* (Ontario) ("*PPSA*"), you are hereby given notice that Mr. Shpilt and Mr. Fitzgerald object to the Notice of Foreclosure. The basis for the objection is that the fair market value of the Collateral (as that term is defined in the Notice of Foreclosure) is greater than the Indebtedness (as that term is defined in the Notice of Foreclosure).

Mr. Shpilt and Mr. FitzGerald reserve all rights under section 66 of the PPSA and otherwise.

HEAD OFFICE TELEPHONE (519) 672-2121

4008397.3

SISKINDS LAW

680 Waterloo Street, London, ON N6A 3V8

We trust that you are aware of your rights under section 65(5) of the PPSA.

Yours truly,

Siskinds LLP

Ty Julion

Per: Jay Judson Lawyer

JJ/jj

EXHIBIT "O"

2

This is **Exhibit "O"** referred to in the Affidavit of **RONALD FICHTER**, sworn before me this 12th day of September, 2019.

1 Starin

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Ontario

Andrew Neil Sahai, a Commissioner, etc., Province of Ontario, while a Student-at-Law. Expires March 22, 2020.

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

Applicant

- and -

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS

Respondent

APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 243(1) OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED, SECTION 67(1)(e) OF THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT, R.S.O. 1990 c. P-10, AS AMENDED AND SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

CONSENT TO ACT

A. Farber & Partners Inc. hereby consents to act as receiver, without security, of all of the assets, undertaking and properties of 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis.

A. Farber & Partners Inc. Per: September 11, 2019

Allan Nackan Partner

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC - and - 2368523 ONTARIO INC. D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS

Court File No. [•]

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

Proceeding commenced at TORONTO

AFFIDAVIT OF RONALD FICHTER (Sworn September 12, 2019)

BENNETT JONES LLP

One First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4

Gavin Finlayson (LSO #44126D) Tel.: (416) 777-5762 Fax: (416) 863-1716

Mike Shakra (LSO #64604K) Tel.: (416) 777-6236 Fax: (416) 863-1716

Lawyers for the Applicant, Auxly Cannabis Group Inc.

TAB 3

Court File No.

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

)

)

)

THE HONOURABLE

[●], THE [●]

DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2019

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

Applicant

- and -

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS

Respondent

ORDER (appointing Receiver)

THIS APPLICATION made by Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (the "Applicant") for an Order pursuant to section 243(1) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the "**BIA**"), section 101 of the *Courts of Justice Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, as amended (the "**CJA**") and section 67(1)(e) of the *Personal Property Security* Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.P.10, as amended (the "PPSA"), appointing A. Farber & Partners Inc. ("**Farber**") as receiver and manager (in such capacities, the "**Receiver**") without security, of all of the assets, undertakings and properties of 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis (the "**Debtor**") acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on by the Debtor, was heard this day at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the Notice of Application, the Affidavit of Ron Fichter sworn September 12, 2019 and the Exhibits thereto and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the Applicant,

the Receiver, counsel for the Debtor and no one else appearing although duly served as appears from the affidavit of service of Michael S. Shakra sworn September 12, 2019, and on reading the consent of Farber to act as the Receiver,

SERVICE

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and the Application is hereby abridged and validated so that this motion is properly returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

APPOINTMENT

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to section 243(1) of the BIA, section 101 of the CJA and section 67(1)(e) of the PPSA, Farber is hereby appointed Receiver, without security, of all of the assets, undertakings and properties of the Debtor acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on by the Debtor, including all proceeds thereof (the "**Property**").

RECEIVER'S POWERS

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is hereby empowered and authorized, but not obligated, to act at once in respect of the Property and, without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Receiver is hereby expressly empowered and authorized to do any of the following where the Receiver considers it necessary or desirable:

- (a) to take possession of and exercise control over all proceeds, receipts and disbursements arising out of or from the Property;
- (b) to receive, preserve, and protect the Property, or any part or parts thereof, including, but not limited to, the changing of locks and security codes, the relocating of Property to safeguard it, the engaging of independent security personnel, the taking of physical inventories and the placement of such insurance coverage as may be necessary or desirable;

- (c) to oversee and monitor the business of the Debtor, including the powers to enter into any agreements, incur any obligations in the ordinary course of business and cease to perform any contracts of the Debtor;
- (d) to engage consultants, appraisers, agents, experts, auditors, accountants, managers, counsel and such other persons from time to time and on whatever basis, including on a temporary basis, to assist with the exercise of the Receiver's powers and duties, including without limitation those conferred by this Order;
- (e) to receive, monitor and collect all monies and accounts now owed or hereafter owing to the Debtor and to exercise all remedies of the Debtor in collecting such monies, including, without limitation, to enforce any security held by the Debtor, including, without limitation, to apply for any tax refunds owing;
- (f) to settle, extend or compromise any indebtedness owing to the Debtor;
- (g) to execute, assign, issue and endorse documents of whatever nature in respect of any of the Property, whether in the Receiver's name or in the name and on behalf of the Debtor, for any purpose pursuant to this Order;
- (h) to initiate, prosecute and continue the prosecution of any and all proceedings and to defend all proceedings now pending or hereafter instituted with respect to the Debtor, the Property or the Receiver, and to settle or compromise any such proceedings. The authority hereby conveyed shall extend to such appeals or applications for judicial review in respect of any order or judgment pronounced in any such proceeding;
- to market any or all of the Property, including advertising and soliciting offers in respect of the Property or any part or parts thereof and negotiating such terms and conditions of sale as the Receiver in its discretion may deem appropriate;

- (k) to sell, convey, transfer, lease or assign the Property or any part or parts thereof out of the ordinary course of business:
 - (i) without the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction not exceeding \$500,000, provided that the aggregate consideration for all such transactions does not exceed \$1,000,000; and
 - (ii) with the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction in which the purchase price or the aggregate purchase price exceeds the applicable amount set out in the preceding clause;

and in each such case notice under subsection 63(4) of the Ontario *Personal Property Security Act* (the "**PPSA**"), or section 31 of the Ontario *Mortgages Act*, as the case may be, shall not be required;

- (j) to apply for any vesting order or other orders necessary to convey, transfer or assign the Property or any part or parts thereof to a purchaser or purchasers, free and clear of any liens or encumbrances affecting such Property;
- (k) to report to, meet with and discuss with such affected Persons (as defined below) as the Receiver deems appropriate on all matters relating to the Property and the receivership, and to share information, subject to such terms as to confidentiality as the Receiver deems advisable;
- to register a copy of this Order and any other Orders in respect of the Property against title to any of the Property;
- (m) to maintain the Property by arranging for repairs and maintenance and continued construction if and as necessary;
- (n) to secure the Property to protect it from vandalism or damage;
- to submit financial and progress reports to all parties and the Court as appropriate;

- (p) to facilitate and assist with any application for, transfer of, and/or conveyance or assignment of permits, licences, approvals or permissions as may be required by any governmental authority, including but not limited to any such permits, licenses, approvals, permissions, and any renewals thereof required under the:
 - (i) *Cannabis Act*, S.C. 2018, c. C.16;
 - (ii) *Cannabis Control Act*, 2017, S.O, 2017, c. 26;
 - (iii) Ontario Cannabis Retail Corporation Act, 2017, S.O. 2017, c. 26; or
 - (iv) *Cannabis License Act*, 2018, S.O., 2018, c. 12,

and any regulations in connection therewith, for and on behalf of and, if thought desirable by the Receiver, in the name of the Debtor, and to meet with and discuss with such governmental authority and execute any agreements required in connection with or as a result of such including to act as the agent as mandatary of the Debtor as may be necessary or applicable;

- (q) to enter into agreements with any trustee in bankruptcy appointed in respect of the Debtor, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing;
- (r) to exercise any shareholder, partnership, joint venture or other rights which the Debtor may have; and
- (s) to take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers or the performance of any statutory obligations.

and in each case where the Receiver takes any such actions or steps, it shall be exclusively authorized and empowered to do so, to the exclusion of all other Persons (as defined below), including the Debtor, and without interference from any other Person. For greater certainty, the Receiver is not required to take possession and control of the operations or Property.

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE RECEIVER

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that: (i) the Debtor, (ii) all of its current and former directors, officers, employees, agents, accountants, legal counsel and shareholders, and all other persons acting on its instructions or behalf, and (iii) all other individuals, firms, corporations, governmental bodies or agencies, or other entities having notice of this Order (all of the foregoing, collectively, being "**Persons**" and each being a "**Person**") shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the existence of any Property in such Person's possession or control, shall grant immediate and continued access to the Property to the Receiver, and shall deliver all such Property to the Receiver upon the Receiver's request.

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the existence of any books, documents, securities, contracts, orders, corporate and accounting records, and any other papers, records and information of any kind related to the business or affairs of the Debtor, and any computer programs, computer tapes, computer disks, or other data storage media containing any such information (the foregoing, collectively, the "**Records**") in that Person's possession or control, and shall provide to the Receiver or permit the Receiver to make, retain and take away copies thereof and grant to the Receiver unfettered access to and use of accounting, computer, software and physical facilities relating thereto, provided however that nothing in this paragraph 5 or in paragraph 6 of this Order shall require the delivery of Records, or the granting of access to Records, which may not be disclosed or provided to the Receiver due to the privilege attaching to solicitor-client communication or due to statutory provisions prohibiting such disclosure.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Records are stored or otherwise contained on a computer or other electronic system of information storage, whether by independent service provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall forthwith give unfettered access to the Receiver for the purpose of allowing the Receiver to recover and fully copy all of the information contained therein whether by way of printing the information onto paper or making copies of computer disks or such other manner of retrieving and copying the

information as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedient, and shall not alter, erase or destroy any Records without the prior written consent of the Receiver. Further, for the purposes of this paragraph, all Persons shall provide the Receiver with all such assistance in gaining immediate access to the information in the Records as the Receiver may in its discretion require including providing the Receiver with instructions on the use of any computer or other system and providing the Receiver with any and all access codes, account names and account numbers that may be required to gain access to the information.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE RECEIVER

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that no proceeding or enforcement process in any court or tribunal (each, a "**Proceeding**"), shall be commenced or continued against the Receiver except with the written consent of the Receiver or with leave of this Court.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE DEBTOR OR THE PROPERTY

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Proceeding against or in respect of the Debtor or the Property shall be commenced or continued except with the written consent of the Receiver or with leave of this Court and any and all Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the Debtor or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that all rights and remedies against the Debtor, the Receiver, or affecting the Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the written consent of the Receiver or leave of this Court, provided however that this stay and suspension does not apply in respect of any "eligible financial contract" as defined in the BIA, and further provided that nothing in this paragraph shall (i) empower the Receiver or the Debtor to carry on any business which the Debtor is not lawfully entitled to carry on, (ii) exempt the Receiver or the Debtor from compliance with statutory or regulatory provisions relating to health, safety or the environment, (iii) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent the registration of a claim for lien.

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything contained in paragraphs 8 and 9 herein, the PPSA foreclosure process commenced by the Applicant in respect of certain shares of

the Debtors (the "**Shares**") pursuant to Notices of Foreclosure dated August 29, 2019, shall not be stayed or suspended by operation of this Order and, subject to further Order of the Court, leave of the Court or consent of the Receiver shall not be required by the Applicant in order to foreclose on the Shares.

NO INTERFERENCE WITH THE RECEIVER

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, contract, agreement, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Debtor, without written consent of the Receiver or leave of this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons having oral or written agreements with the Debtor or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or services, including without limitation, all computer software, communication and other data services, centralized banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services, utility or other services to the Debtor are hereby restrained until further Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as may be required by the Receiver, and that the Receiver shall be entitled to the continued use of the Debtor's current telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain names, provided in each case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services received after the date of this Order are paid by the Receiver in accordance with normal payment practices of the Debtor or such other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and the Receiver, or as may be ordered by this Court.

RECEIVER TO HOLD FUNDS

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that all funds, monies, cheques, instruments, and other forms of payments received or collected by the Receiver from and after the making of this Order from any source whatsoever, including without limitation the sale of all or any of the Property and the collection of any accounts receivable in whole or in part, whether in existence on the date of this Order or hereafter coming into existence, shall be deposited into one or more new accounts to be opened by the Receiver (the "**Post Receivership Accounts**") and the monies standing to the

credit of such Post Receivership Accounts from time to time, net of any disbursements provided for herein, shall be held by the Receiver to be paid in accordance with the terms of this Order or any further Order of this Court.

EMPLOYEES

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that all employees of the Debtor shall remain the employees of the Debtor until such time as the Receiver, on the Debtor's behalf, may terminate the employment of such employees. The Receiver shall not be liable for any employee-related liabilities, including any successor employer liabilities as provided for in section 14.06(1.2) of the BIA, other than such amounts as the Receiver may specifically agree in writing to pay, or in respect of its obligations under sections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the *Wage Earner Protection Program Act*.

LIMITATION ON ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Receiver to occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or collectively, "Possession") of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated, might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination including, without limitation, the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Water Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations thereunder (the "Environmental Legislation"), provided however that nothing herein shall exempt the Receiver from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by applicable Environmental Legislation. The Receiver shall not, as a result of this Order or anything done in pursuance of the Receiver's duties and powers under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of any of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental Legislation, unless it is actually in possession.

LIMITATION ON THE RECEIVER'S LIABILITY

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall incur no liability or obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out the provisions of this Order, save and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part, or in respect of its obligations under sections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the *Wage Earner Protection Program Act*. Nothing in this Order shall derogate from the protections afforded the Receiver by section 14.06 of the BIA or by any other applicable legislation.

RECEIVER'S ACCOUNTS

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be paid their reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges unless otherwise ordered by the Court on the passing of accounts, and that the Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be entitled to and are hereby granted a charge (the "**Receiver's Charge**") on the Property, as security for such fees and disbursements, both before and after the making of this Order in respect of these proceedings, and that the Receiver's Charge shall form a first charge on the Property in priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in favour of any Person, but subject to sections 14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and its legal counsel shall pass its accounts from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Receiver and its legal counsel are hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that prior to the passing of its accounts, the Receiver shall be at liberty from time to time to apply reasonable amounts, out of the monies in its hands, against its fees and disbursements, including legal fees and disbursements, incurred at the standard rates and charges of the Receiver or its counsel, and such amounts shall constitute advances against its remuneration and disbursements when and as approved by this Court.

FUNDING OF THE RECEIVERSHIP

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and it is hereby empowered to borrow by way of a revolving credit or otherwise, such monies from time to time as it may
consider necessary or desirable, provided that the outstanding principal amount does not exceed \$4,000,000 (or such greater amount as this Court may by further Order authorize) at any time, at such rate or rates of interest as it deems advisable for such period or periods of time as it may arrange, for the purpose of funding the exercise of the powers and duties conferred upon the Receiver by this Order, including interim expenditures. The whole of the Property shall be and is hereby charged by way of a fixed and specific charge (the "**Receiver's Borrowings Charge**") as security for the payment of the monies borrowed, together with interest and charges thereon, in priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in favour of any Person, but subordinate in priority to the Receiver's Charge and the charges as set out in sections 14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that neither the Receiver's Borrowings Charge nor any other security granted by the Receiver in connection with its borrowings under this Order shall be enforced without leave of this Court.

22. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is at liberty and authorized to issue certificates substantially in the form annexed as Schedule "A" hereto (the "**Receiver's Certificates**") for any amount borrowed by it pursuant to this Order.

23. THIS COURT ORDERS that the monies from time to time borrowed by the Receiver pursuant to this Order or any further order of this Court and any and all Receiver's Certificates evidencing the same or any part thereof shall rank on a *pari passu* basis, unless otherwise agreed to by the holders of any prior issued Receiver's Certificates.

SERVICE AND NOTICE

24. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the "**Protocol**") is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List website at <u>http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/e-service-protocol/</u>) shall be valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 this Order shall constitute an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Subject to Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission. This Court further

orders that a Case Website shall be established in accordance with the Protocol with the following URL '<•>'.

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in accordance with the Protocol is not practicable, the Receiver is at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, any other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or other correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission to the Debtor's creditors or other interested parties at their respective addresses as last shown on the records of the Debtor and that any such service or distribution by courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be received on the next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by ordinary mail, on the third business day after mailing.

RETENTION OF LAWYERS

26. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may retain solicitors to represent and advise the Receiver in connection with the exercise of the Receiver's powers and duties, including without limitation, those conferred by this Order. Such solicitors may include Bennett Jones LLP, solicitors for the Applicant herein, in respect of any matter where there is no conflict of interest. The Receiver shall, however, retain independent solicitors in respect of any legal advice or services where a conflict exists, or may arise.

GENERAL

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may from time to time apply to this Court for advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder.

28. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Receiver from acting as a trustee in bankruptcy of the Debtor.

29. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United States to give effect to this Order and to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Receiver, as an officer of this

Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order.

30. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and is hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the terms of this Order, and that the Receiver is authorized and empowered to act as a representative in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside Canada.

31. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall have its costs of this motion, up to and including entry and service of this Order, provided for by the terms of the Plaintiff's security or, if not so provided by the Plaintiff's security, then on a full indemnity basis to be paid by the Receiver from the Debtor's estate with such priority and at such time as this Court may determine.

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days' notice to the Receiver and to any other party likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may order.

SCHEDULE "A"

RECEIVER CERTIFICATE

CERTIFICATE NO. _____

AMOUNT \$_____

1. THIS IS TO CERTIFY that A. Farber & Partners, the receiver (the "**Receiver**") of the assets, undertakings and properties of 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis (the "**Debtor**") acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on by the Debtor, including all proceeds thereof (collectively, the "**Property**") appointed by Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "**Court**") dated the ____ day of September, 2019 (the "**Order**") made in an action having Court file number __-CL-____, has received as such Receiver from the holder of this certificate (the "Lender") the principal sum of \$_____, being part of the total principal sum of \$______ which the Receiver is authorized to borrow under and pursuant to the Order.

2. The principal sum evidenced by this certificate is payable on demand by the Lender with interest thereon calculated and compounded [daily][monthly not in advance on the _____ day of each month] after the date hereof at a notional rate per annum equal to the rate of _____ per cent above the prime commercial lending rate of Bank of _____ from time to time.

3. Such principal sum with interest thereon is, by the terms of the Order, together with the principal sums and interest thereon of all other certificates issued by the Receiver pursuant to the Order or to any further order of the Court, a charge upon the whole of the Property, in priority to the security interests of any other person, but subject to the priority of the charges set out in the Order and in the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act*, and the right of the Receiver to indemnify itself out of such Property in respect of its remuneration and expenses.

4. All sums payable in respect of principal and interest under this certificate are payable at the main office of the Lender at Toronto, Ontario.

5. Until all liability in respect of this certificate has been terminated, no certificates creating charges ranking or purporting to rank in priority to this certificate shall be issued by the Receiver

to any person other than the holder of this certificate without the prior written consent of the holder of this certificate.

6. The charge securing this certificate shall operate so as to permit the Receiver to deal with the Property as authorized by the Order and as authorized by any further or other order of the Court.

7. The Receiver does not undertake, and it is not under any personal liability, to pay any sum in respect of which it may issue certificates under the terms of the Order.

DATED the _____ day of _____, 20__.

A. Farber & Partners Inc., solely in its capacity as Receiver of the Property, and not in its personal capacity

Per:

Name: Title:

TAB 4

Revised: January 21, 2014 s.243(1) BIA (National Receiver) and s. 101 CJA (Ontario) Receiver

Court File No. ——[•]

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

))

)

THE HONOURABLE

JUSTICE

WEEKDAY[●], THE # [●] DAY OF MONTHSEPTEMBER, 20YR2019

PLAINTIFF⁴

Plaintiff

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC.

Applicant

- and -

DEFENDANT

Defendant

2368523 ONTARIO LIMITED D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS

Respondent

ORDER

(appointing Receiver)

THIS MOTIONAPPLICATION made by the Plaintiff²Auxly Cannabis Group Inc.

(the "Applicant") for an Order pursuant to section 243(1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act,

¹ The Model Order Subcommittee notes that a receivership proceeding may be commenced by action or by application. This model order is drafted on the basis that the receivership proceeding is commenced by way of an action.

² Section 243(1) of the BIA provides that the Court may appoint a receiver "on application by a secured creditor".

R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the "BIA") and, section 101 of the *Courts of Justice Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, as amended (the "CJA") appointing [RECEIVER'S NAME] as receiver [and section 67(1)(e) of the *Personal Property Security* Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.P.10, as amended (the "PPSA"), appointing A. Farber & Partners Inc. ("Farber") as receiver and manager] (in such capacities, the "Receiver") without security, of all of the assets, undertakings and properties of [DEBTOR'S NAME]2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis (the "Debtor") acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on by the Debtor, was heard this day at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the affidavit of [NAME] sworn [DATE]Notice of Application, the Affidavit of Ron Fichter sworn September 12, 2019 and the Exhibits thereto and on hearing the submissions of counsel for [NAMES], the Applicant, the Receiver, counsel for the Debtor and no one else appearing for [NAME] although duly served as appears from the affidavit of service of [NAME]Michael S. Shakra sworn [DATE]September 12, 2019, and on reading the consent of [RECEIVER'S NAME]Farber to act as the Receiver,

SERVICE

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of MotionApplication and the MotionApplication is hereby abridged and validated³ so that this motion is properly returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

APPOINTMENT

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to section 243(1) of the BIA-and_a section 101 of the CJA, [RECEIVER'S NAME] and section 67(1)(e) of the PPSA, Farber is hereby appointed Receiver, without security, of all of the assets, undertakings and properties of the Debtor acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on by the Debtor, including all proceeds thereof (the "Property").

³ If service is effected in a manner other than as authorized by the Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure, an order validating irregular service is required pursuant to Rule 16.08 of the Rules of Civil Procedure and may be granted in appropriate circumstances.

RECEIVER²S **POWERS**

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is hereby empowered and authorized, but not obligated, to act at once in respect of the Property and, without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Receiver is hereby expressly empowered and authorized to do any of the following where the Receiver considers it necessary or desirable:

- (a) to take possession of and exercise control over the Property and any and all proceeds, receipts and disbursements arising out of or from the Property;
- (b) to receive, preserve, and protect the Property, or any part or parts thereof, including, but not limited to, the changing of locks and security codes, the relocating of Property to safeguard it, the engaging of independent security personnel, the taking of physical inventories and the placement of such insurance coverage as may be necessary or desirable;
- (c) to manage, operate, oversee and carry on monitor the business of the Debtor, including the powers to enter into any agreements, incur any obligations in the ordinary course of business, cease to carry on all or any part of the business, or and cease to perform any contracts of the Debtor;
- (d) to engage consultants, appraisers, agents, experts, auditors, accountants, managers, counsel and such other persons from time to time and on whatever basis, including on a temporary basis, to assist with the exercise of the Receiver's powers and duties, including without limitation those conferred by this Order;
- (e) to purchase or lease such machinery, equipment, inventories, supplies, premises or other assets to continue the business of the Debtor or any part or parts thereof;
- (e) (f) to receive, <u>monitor</u> and collect all monies and accounts now owed or hereafter owing to the Debtor and to exercise all remedies of the Debtor in

collecting such monies, including, without limitation, to enforce any security held by the Debtor, including, without limitation, to apply for any tax refunds owing;

- (f) (g) to settle, extend or compromise any indebtedness owing to the Debtor;
- (g) (h) to execute, assign, issue and endorse documents of whatever nature in respect of any of the Property, whether in the Receiver's name or in the name and on behalf of the Debtor, for any purpose pursuant to this Order;
- (h) (i) to initiate, prosecute and continue the prosecution of any and all proceedings and to defend all proceedings now pending or hereafter instituted with respect to the Debtor, the Property or the Receiver, and to settle or compromise any such proceedings.⁴ The authority hereby conveyed shall extend to such appeals or applications for judicial review in respect of any order or judgment pronounced in any such proceeding;
- (i) (j) to market any or all of the Property, including advertising and soliciting offers in respect of the Property or any part or parts thereof and negotiating such terms and conditions of sale as the Receiver in its discretion may deem appropriate;
- (k) (k) to sell, convey, transfer, lease or assign the Property or any part or parts thereof out of the ordinary course of business;:

⁴ This model order does not include specific authority permitting the Receiver to either file an assignment inbankruptcy on behalf of the Debtor, or to consent to the making of a bankruptcy order against the Debtor. Abankruptcy may have the effect of altering the priorities among creditors, and therefore the specific authority of the Court should be sought if the Receiver wishes to take one of these steps.

 (ii) with the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction in which the purchase price or the aggregate purchase price exceeds the applicable amount set out in the preceding clause;

and in each such case notice under subsection 63(4) of the Ontario *Personal Property Security Act* (the "PPSA"), [or section 31 of the Ontario *Mortgages Act*, as the case may be,]⁵ shall not be required, and in each case the Ontario *Bulk Sales Act* shall not apply.;

- (i) to apply for any vesting order or other orders necessary to convey, transfer or assign the Property or any part or parts thereof to a purchaser or purchasers thereof, free and clear of any liens or encumbrances affecting such Property;
- (k) (m) to report to, meet with and discuss with such affected Persons (as defined below) as the Receiver deems appropriate on all matters relating to the Property and the receivership, and to share information, subject to such terms as to confidentiality as the Receiver deems advisable;
- (n)-to register a copy of this Order and any other Orders in respect of the Property against title to any of the Property;
- (m) (o) to apply for anymaintain the Property by arranging for repairs and maintenance and continued construction if and as necessary;
- (n) to secure the Property to protect it from vandalism or damage;
- (0) to submit financial and progress reports to all parties and the Court as appropriate:
- (p) to facilitate and assist with any application for, transfer of, and/or conveyance or assignment of permits, licences, approvals or permissions

⁵ If the Receiver will be dealing with assets in other provinces, consider adding references to applicable statutes in other provinces. If this is done, those statutes must be reviewed to ensure that the Receiver is exempt from or can be exempted from such notice periods, and further that the Ontario Court has the jurisdiction to grant such an exemption.

as may be required by any governmental authority, including but not limited to any such permits, licenses, approvals, permissions, and any renewals thereof required under the:

- (i) <u>Cannabis Act</u>, S.C. 2018, c. C.16;
- (ii) <u>Cannabis Control Act</u>, 2017, S.O, 2017, c. 26;
- (iii) Ontario Cannabis Retail Corporation Act, 2017, S.O. 2017, c. 26; or
- (iv) <u>Cannabis License Act</u>, 2018, S.O., 2018, c. 12,

and any regulations in connection therewith, for and on behalf of and, if thought desirable by the Receiver, in the name of the Debtor, and to meet with and discuss with such governmental authority and execute any agreements required in connection with or as a result of such including to act as the agent as mandatary of the Debtor as may be necessary or applicable;

- (q) (p) to enter into agreements with any trustee in bankruptcy appointed in respect of the Debtor, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the ability to enter into occupation agreements for any property owned or leased by the Debtor; ;
- (r) (q) to exercise any shareholder, partnership, joint venture or other rights which the Debtor may have; and
- (s) (r)-to take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers or the performance of any statutory obligations.

and in each case where the Receiver takes any such actions or steps, it shall be exclusively authorized and empowered to do so, to the exclusion of all other Persons (as defined below), including the Debtor, and without interference from any other Person. For greater certainty, the Receiver is not required to take possession and control of the operations or Property.

WSLEGAL\078222\00065\23066758v5

- 7-

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE RECEIVER

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that: (i) the Debtor, (ii) all of its current and former directors, officers, employees, agents, accountants, legal counsel and shareholders, and all other persons acting on its instructions or behalf, and (iii) all other individuals, firms, corporations, governmental bodies or agencies, or other entities having notice of this Order (all of the foregoing, collectively, being "**Persons**" and each being a "**Person**") shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the existence of any Property in such Person's possession or control, shall grant immediate and continued access to the Property to the Receiver, and shall deliver all such Property to the Receiver upon the Receiver's request.

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the existence of any books, documents, securities, contracts, orders, corporate and accounting records, and any other papers, records and information of any kind related to the business or affairs of the Debtor, and any computer programs, computer tapes, computer disks, or other data storage media containing any such information (the foregoing, collectively, the "**Records**") in that Person's possession or control, and shall provide to the Receiver or permit the Receiver to make, retain and take away copies thereof and grant to the Receiver unfettered access to and use of accounting, computer, software and physical facilities relating thereto, provided however that nothing in this paragraph 5 or in paragraph 6 of this Order shall require the delivery of Records, or the granting of access to Records, which may not be disclosed or provided to the Receiver due to the privilege attaching to solicitor-client communication or due to statutory provisions prohibiting such disclosure.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Records are stored or otherwise contained on a computer or other electronic system of information storage, whether by independent service provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall forthwith give unfettered access to the Receiver for the purpose of allowing the Receiver to recover and fully copy all of the information contained therein whether by way of printing the information onto paper or making copies of computer disks or such other manner of retrieving and copying the information as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedient, and shall not alter, erase or destroy any Records without the prior written consent of the Receiver. Further, for the purposes of this paragraph, all Persons shall provide the Receiver with all such assistance in gaining immediate

access to the information in the Records as the Receiver may in its discretion require including providing the Receiver with instructions on the use of any computer or other system and providing the Receiver with any and all access codes, account names and account numbers that may be required to gain access to the information.

7. — THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall provide each of the relevant landlords with notice of the Receiver's intention to remove any fixtures from any leased premises at least seven (7) days prior to the date of the intended removal. The relevant landlord shall be entitled to have a representative present in the leased premises to observe such removal and, if the landlord disputes the Receiver's entitlement to remove any such fixture under the provisions of the lease, such fixture shall remain on the premises and shall be dealt with as agreed between any applicable secured creditors, such landlord and the Receiver, or by further Order of this Court upon application by the Receiver on at least two (2) days notice to such landlord and any such secured creditors.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE RECEIVER

<u>7.</u> 8. THIS COURT ORDERS that no proceeding or enforcement process in any court or tribunal (each, a "**Proceeding**"), shall be commenced or continued against the Receiver except with the written consent of the Receiver or with leave of this Court.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE DEBTOR OR THE PROPERTY

8. 9.-THIS COURT ORDERS that no Proceeding against or in respect of the Debtor or the Property shall be commenced or continued except with the written consent of the Receiver or with leave of this Court and any and all Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the Debtor or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

9. 10. THIS COURT ORDERS that all rights and remedies against the Debtor, the Receiver, or affecting the Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the written consent of the Receiver or leave of this Court, provided however that this stay and suspension does not apply in respect of any "eligible financial contract" as defined in the BIA, and further provided that nothing in this paragraph shall (i) empower the Receiver or the Debtor to carry on any business

- 9 -

which the Debtor is not lawfully entitled to carry on, (ii) exempt the Receiver or the Debtor from compliance with statutory or regulatory provisions relating to health, safety or the environment, (iii) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent the registration of a claim for lien.

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything contained in paragraphs 8 and 9 herein, the PPSA foreclosure process commenced by the Applicant in respect of certain shares of the Debtors (the "Shares") pursuant to Notices of Foreclosure dated August 29, 2019, shall not be stayed or suspended by operation of this Order and, subject to further Order of the Court, leave of the Court or consent of the Receiver shall not be required by the Applicant in order to foreclose on the Shares.

NO INTERFERENCE WITH THE RECEIVER

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, contract, agreement, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Debtor, without written consent of the Receiver or leave of this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons having oral or written agreements with the Debtor or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or services, including without limitation, all computer software, communication and other data services, centralized banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services, utility or other services to the Debtor are hereby restrained until further Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as may be required by the Receiver, and that the Receiver shall be entitled to the continued use of the Debtor's current telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain names, provided in each case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services received after the date of this Order are paid by the Receiver in accordance with normal payment practices of the Debtor or such other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and the Receiver, or as may be ordered by this Court.

WSLEGAL\078222\00065\23066758v5

RECEIVER TO HOLD FUNDS

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that all funds, monies, cheques, instruments, and other forms of payments received or collected by the Receiver from and after the making of this Order from any source whatsoever, including without limitation the sale of all or any of the Property and the collection of any accounts receivable in whole or in part, whether in existence on the date of this Order or hereafter coming into existence, shall be deposited into one or more new accounts to be opened by the Receiver (the "**Post Receivership Accounts**") and the monies standing to the credit of such Post Receivership Accounts from time to time, net of any disbursements provided for herein, shall be held by the Receiver to be paid in accordance with the terms of this Order or any further Order of this Court.

EMPLOYEES

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that all employees of the Debtor shall remain the employees of the Debtor until such time as the Receiver, on the Debtor's behalf, may terminate the employment of such employees. The Receiver shall not be liable for any employee-related liabilities, including any successor employer liabilities as provided for in section 14.06(1.2) of the BIA, other than such amounts as the Receiver may specifically agree in writing to pay, or in respect of its obligations under sections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the *Wage Earner Protection Program Act*.

PIPEDA

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that, pursuant to clause 7(3)(c) of the Canada Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, the Receiver shall disclose personal information of identifiable individuals to prospective purchasers or bidders for the Property and to their advisors, but only to the extent desirable or required to negotiate and attempt to complete one or more sales of the Property (each, a "Sale"). Each prospective purchaser or bidder to whom such personal information is disclosed shall maintain and protect the privacy of such information and limit the use of such information to its evaluation of the Sale, and if it does not complete a Sale, shall return all such information to the Receiver, or in the alternative destroy all such information. The purchaser of any Property shall be entitled to continue to use the personal information provided to it, and related to the Property purchased, in a manner which is in all

material respects identical to the prior use of such information by the Debtor, and shall return all other personal information to the Receiver, or ensure that all other personal information is destroyed.

LIMITATION ON ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES

15. 16. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Receiver to occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or collectively, "**Possession**") of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated, might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination including, without limitation, the *Canadian Environmental Protection Act*, the Ontario *Environmental Protection Act*, the *Ontario Water Resources Act*, or the Ontario *Occupational Health and Safety Act* and regulations thereunder (the "**Environmental Legislation**"), provided however that nothing herein shall exempt the Receiver from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by applicable Environmental Legislation. The Receiver shall not, as a result of this Order or anything done in pursuance of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental Legislation, unless it is actually in possession.

LIMITATION ON THE RECEIVER²'S LIABILITY

16. 17.-THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall incur no liability or obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out the provisions of this Order, save and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part, or in respect of its obligations under sections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the *Wage Earner Protection Program Act*. Nothing in this Order shall derogate from the protections afforded the Receiver by section 14.06 of the BIA or by any other applicable legislation.

RECEIVER'S ACCOUNTS

17. 18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be paid their reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges unless otherwise ordered by the Court on the passing of accounts, and that the Receiver and counsel to

the Receiver shall be entitled to and are hereby granted a charge (the "**Receiver's Charge**") on the Property, as security for such fees and disbursements, both before and after the making of this Order in respect of these proceedings, and that the Receiver's Charge shall form a first charge on the Property in priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in favour of any Person, but subject to sections 14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.⁶

18. 19. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and its legal counsel shall pass its accounts from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Receiver and its legal counsel are hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

19. 20.-THIS COURT ORDERS that prior to the passing of its accounts, the Receiver shall be at liberty from time to time to apply reasonable amounts, out of the monies in its hands, against its fees and disbursements, including legal fees and disbursements, incurred at the standard rates and charges of the Receiver or its counsel, and such amounts shall constitute advances against its remuneration and disbursements when and as approved by this Court.

FUNDING OF THE RECEIVERSHIP

20. 21. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and it is hereby empowered to borrow by way of a revolving credit or otherwise, such monies from time to time as it may consider necessary or desirable, provided that the outstanding principal amount does not exceed \$_____4.000.000 (or such greater amount as this Court may by further Order authorize) at any time, at such rate or rates of interest as it deems advisable for such period or periods of time as it may arrange, for the purpose of funding the exercise of the powers and duties conferred upon the Receiver by this Order, including interim expenditures. The whole of the Property shall be and is hereby charged by way of a fixed and specific charge (the "Receiver's Borrowings Charge") as security for the payment of the monies borrowed, together with interest and charges thereon, in priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in favour of any Person, but subordinate in priority to the Receiver²'s Charge and the charges as set out in sections 14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

⁶ Note that subsection 243(6) of the BIA provides that the Court may not make such an order "unless it is satisfied that the secured creditors who would be materially affected by the order were given reasonable notice and an opportunity to make representations".

21. 22. THIS COURT ORDERS that neither the Receiver's Borrowings Charge nor any other security granted by the Receiver in connection with its borrowings under this Order shall be enforced without leave of this Court.

22. 23.-THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is at liberty and authorized to issue certificates substantially in the form annexed as Schedule "A" hereto (the "Receiver2's Certificates") for any amount borrowed by it pursuant to this Order.

23. 24. THIS COURT ORDERS that the monies from time to time borrowed by the Receiver pursuant to this Order or any further order of this Court and any and all Receiver²'s Certificates evidencing the same or any part thereof shall rank on a *pari passu* basis, unless otherwise agreed to by the holders of any prior issued Receiver's Certificates.

SERVICE AND NOTICE

24. 25. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the ""Protocol"") is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List website at

http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/e-service-protocol/) shall be valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 this Order shall constitute an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Subject to Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission. This Court further orders that a Case Website shall be established in accordance with the Protocol with the following URL $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$.

25. 26. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in accordance with the Protocol is not practicable, the Receiver is at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, any other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or other correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission to the Debtor's creditors or other interested parties at their respective addresses as last shown on the records of the Debtor and that any such service or

distribution by courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be received on the next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by ordinary mail, on the third business day after mailing.

RETENTION OF LAWYERS

26. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may retain solicitors to represent and advise the Receiver in connection with the exercise of the Receiver's powers and duties, including without limitation, those conferred by this Order. Such solicitors may include Bennett Jones LLP, solicitors for the Applicant herein, in respect of any matter where there is no conflict of interest. The Receiver shall, however, retain independent solicitors in respect of any legal advice or services where a conflict exists, or may arise.

GENERAL

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may from time to time apply to this Court for advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder.

28. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Receiver from acting as a trustee in bankruptcy of the Debtor.

29. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United States to give effect to this Order and to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Receiver, as an officer of this Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order.

30. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and is hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the terms of this Order, and that the Receiver is authorized and empowered to act as a representative in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside Canada.

31. THIS COURT ORDERS that the **PlaintiffApplicant** shall have its costs of this motion, up to and including entry and service of this Order, provided for by the terms of the Plaintiff²'s security or, if not so provided by the Plaintiff's security, then on a substantialfull indemnity basis to be paid by the Receiver from the Debtor's estate with such priority and at such time as this Court may determine.

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days' notice to the Receiver and to any other party likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may order.

WSLEGAL\078222\00065\23066758v5

DOCSTOR: 1771742\8

SCHEDULE "A"

RECEIVER CERTIFICATE

CERTIFICATE NO. _____

AMOUNT \$

1. THIS IS TO CERTIFY that [RECEIVER'S NAME]A. Farber & Partners, the receiver (the "Receiver") of the assets, undertakings and properties [DEBTOR'S NAME]of 2368523 Ontario Limited d/b/a Curative Cannabis (the "Debtor") acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on by the Debtor, including all proceeds thereof (collectively, the ""Property"") appointed by Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "Court") dated the ____ day of _____, 20__September, 2019 (the "Order") made in an action having Court file number __-CL-____, has received as such Receiver from the holder of this certificate (the "Lender") the principal sum of \$_____, being part of the total principal sum of \$______ which the Receiver is authorized to borrow under and pursuant to the Order.

2. The principal sum evidenced by this certificate is payable on demand by the Lender with interest thereon calculated and compounded [daily][monthly not in advance on the _____ day of each month] after the date hereof at a notional rate per annum equal to the rate of _____ per cent above the prime commercial lending rate of Bank of _____ from time to time.

3. Such principal sum with interest thereon is, by the terms of the Order, together with the principal sums and interest thereon of all other certificates issued by the Receiver pursuant to the Order or to any further order of the Court, a charge upon the whole of the Property, in priority to the security interests of any other person, but subject to the priority of the charges set out in the Order and in the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act*, and the right of the Receiver to indemnify itself out of such Property in respect of its remuneration and expenses.

4. All sums payable in respect of principal and interest under this certificate are payable at the main office of the Lender at Toronto, Ontario.

5. Until all liability in respect of this certificate has been terminated, no certificates creating charges ranking or purporting to rank in priority to this certificate shall be issued by the Receiver to any person other than the holder of this certificate without the prior written consent of the holder of this certificate.

6. The charge securing this certificate shall operate so as to permit the Receiver to deal with the Property as authorized by the Order and as authorized by any further or other order of the Court.

7. The Receiver does not undertake, and it is not under any personal liability, to pay any sum in respect of which it may issue certificates under the terms of the Order.

DATED the _____ day of _____, 20_.

[RECEIVER'S NAME]A. Farber & Partners Inc., solely in its capacity as Receiver of the Property, and not in its personal capacity

Per:

Name: Title:

Document comparison by Workshare 9.5 on Thursday, September 12, 2019 2:08:13 PM

Input:	
Document 1 ID	interwovenSite://BJWORK.LEGAL.BJLOCAL/WSLegal/23 066751/1
Description	#23066751v1 <wslegal> - Model Receivership Order</wslegal>
Document 2 ID	interwovenSite://BJWORK.LEGAL.BJLOCAL/WSLegal/23 066758/5
Description	#23066758v5 <wslegal> - Curative Receivership Order</wslegal>
Rendering set	Standard

Legend:		
Insertion		
Deletion-		
Moved from		
Moved to		
Style change		
Format change		
Moved deletion		
Inserted cell		
Deleted cell		
Moved cell		
Split/Merged cell		
Padding cell		

Statistics:		
	Count	
Insertions	112	
Deletions	106	
Moved from	0	
Moved to	0	
Style change	0	
Format changed	0	
Total changes	218	

AUXLY CANNABIS GROUP INC. Applicant

-and-

2368523 ONTARIO INC. D/B/A CURATIVE CANNABIS Respondent

Court File No.:

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT TORONTO

APPLICATION RECORD

BENNETT JONES LLP

One First Canadian Place Suite 3400, P.O. Box 130 Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4

Gavin Finlayson (LSO #44126D) Tel.: (416) 777-5762 Fax: (416) 863-1716

Mike Shakra (LSO #64604K)Tel.:(416) 777-6236Fax:(416) 863-1716

Lawyers for the Applicant, Auxly Cannabis Group Inc.